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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-K

X ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended D ber 31, 2023 D ber 31, 2024

OR

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission file number 1-12911
Granite Construction Incorporated
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
Delaware 77-0239383
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

585 West Beach Street
Watsonville, California 95076

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (831) 724-1011

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbol Name of each exchange on which registered

Common stock, $0.01 par value GVA New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes 0 No x
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes o No x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such
shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions

of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. Large accelerated filer x Accelerated filer o Non-

accelerated filer o Smaller reporting company o Emerging growth company o

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards

provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section

404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report. x

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the correction of an error to

previously issued financial statements. o

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the registrant’s executive officers
during the relevant recovery period pursuant to § 240.10D-1(b). o
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes o No x

The aggregate market value of voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant was $1.7 $2.7 billion as of June 30, 2023 June 30, 2024, based upon the price at which the
registrant’'s common stock was last sold as reported on the New York Stock Exchange on such date.

At February 16, 2024 February 7, 2025, 43,972,294 43,434,583 shares of common stock, par value $0.01, of the registrant were outstanding.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Certain information called for by Part Ill is incorporated by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement for the 2024 2025 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Granite Construction Incorporated, which will
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later than 120 days after December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024.
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DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

From time to time, Granite makes certain comments and disclosures in reports and statements, including in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and its officers or directors make
statements that are not based on historical facts, including statements regarding future events, occurrences, circumstances, strategy, activities, performance, outlook, outcomes,
targets, guidance, capital expenditures, committed and awarded projects, and results, that may constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements are identified by words such as “future,” “outlook,” “assumes,” “believes,” “expects,” “estimates,” “anticipates,”

"

‘appears,

"

'may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “continue,” “target,” and the negatives thereof or other comparable terminology or by the context in which they
are made. In addition, other written or oral statements that constitute forward-looking statements have been made and may in the future be made by or on behalf of Granite. These

“intends,” “plans,

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 4/181

©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

forward-looking statements are estimates reflecting the best judgment of senior management and reflect our current expectations regarding future events, occurrences,
circumstances, strategy, activities, performance, outlook, outcomes, targets, guidance, capital expenditures, committed and awarded projects, and results. These expectations may
or may not be realized. Some of these expectations may be based on beliefs, assumptions or estimates that may prove to be incorrect. In addition, our business and operations
involve numerous risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control, which could result in our expectations not being realized or otherwise materially affect our
business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity. Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those more specifically described in this
report under “Item 1A. Risk Factors.” Due to the inherent risks and uncertainties associated with our forward-looking statements, the reader is cautioned not to place undue reliance
on them. The reader is also cautioned that the forward-looking statements contained herein speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and, except as required
by law, we undertake no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements for any reason.

PART |
Item 1. BUSINESS
Introduction

Granite Construction Company was incorporated in 1922. In 1990, Granite Construction Incorporated was formed as the holding company for Granite Construction Company and its
wholly-owned and consolidated subsidiaries and was incorporated in Delaware. Unless otherwise indicated, the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” “Company” and “Granite” refer to Granite
Construction Incorporated and its wholly-owned and consolidated subsidiaries.

We deliver infrastructure solutions for public and private clients primarily in the United States. We are one of the largest diversified, construction vertically integrated civil contractors
and construction materials companies producers in the United States. Within the public sector, we primarily concentrate on infrastructure projects, including the construction of
streets, roads, highways, mass transit facilities, airport infrastructure, bridges, dams, power-related facilities, utilities, tunnels, water well drilling and other infrastructure-related
projects. Within the private sector, we perform various services such as site preparation, mining services and infrastructure services for commercial and industrial sites, railways,
residential development, energy development, as well as provide construction management professional services. We own and lease aggregate reserves, and we own processing
plants that are vertically integrated into our construction operations. We also produce construction materials for sale to third parties.

We have vertically integrated operations across Alaska, Arizona, California, Mississippi, Nevada, Oregon, Tennessee, Utah and Washington in addition to regional civil construction
home markets in lllinois, Florida and Texas. Our Construction segment also operates national businesses within the Tunnel division, the Rail division, the Federal division, which
performs civil construction across the continental United States and Guam, the Industrial & Energy division, which primarily focuses on commercial solar construction projects, and
the Layne division, which performs water well drilling, rehabilitation services and mineral exploration services.

Operating Structure

Our reportable segments are the same as our operating segments and correspond with how our chief operating decision maker, or decision-making group (our “CODM"), regularly
reviews financial information to allocate resources and assess performance. We identified our CODM as our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Operating Officer. Our reportable
segments are: Construction and Materials. The Construction segment focuses on construction and rehabilitation of roads, pavement preservation, bridges, rail lines, airports, marine
ports, dams, reservoirs, aqueducts, infrastructure and site development for use by the general public and water-related construction for municipal agencies, commercial water
suppliers, industrial facilities and energy companies. It also provides construction of various complex projects including infrastructure and site development, mining, public safety,
tunnel, solar, battery storage and other power-related projects. The Materials segment focuses on production of aggregates, asphalt concrete, liquid asphalt and recycled materials
for internal use in our construction projects and for sale to third parties. See Note 21 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for additional information about our
reportable segments.

In addition During the first quarter of 2024, we reorganized our operational structure to more closely align with our two reportable segments, Construction and Materials. Previously,
leaders within our three former operating groups of California, Central and Mountain managed both Construction and Materials operations within each group. This change allows us
to better leverage our expertise within each reportable segment with leadership having direct oversight of their respective segment operations. As a result of the reorganization, we
also review our business will no longer disclose financial information by operating groups. In alphabetical order, group. There were no material impacts to our operating groups are
as follows:

* California, which is comprised of vertically integrated businesses in home markets across the state;

« Central, which includes the vertically integrated Arizona region consolidated financial statements and regional civil construction businesses in lllinois, Florida and Texas. The
Central group also includes the Federal division which performs civil construction across the continental United States and Guam, and the Tunnel division; and

¢ Mountain, which is comprised of vertically integrated regional businesses in Alaska, Washington, Oregon, Utah and Nevada. The Mountain Group also includes national
businesses in the Industrial & Energy division, which primarily focuses on commercial solar construction projects, Water Resources, which performs water well drilling and
rehabilitation services and Mineral Services, which performs mineral exploration services for mining clients.no changes to our reportable segments.

Customers

Customers in our Construction segment are predominantly in the public sector and include certain federal agencies, state departments of transportation, local transit authorities,
county and city public works departments, school districts and developers, utilities and private owners of industrial, commercial and residential sites. Customers of our Materials
segment include internal usage by our own construction projects, as well as third-party customers. Our third-party Materials segment customers include, but are not limited to,
contractors, landscapers, manufacturers of products requiring aggregate materials, retailers, homeowners, farmers and brokers. The majority of both our public and private
customers are located in the United States.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022, our largest volume customer, including both prime and subcontractor arrangements,
was the California Department of Transportation (“Caltrans”). Revenue recognized from contracts with Caltrans during the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024,
2023 and 2022 and 2021 represented $458.2 $567.6 million (14.2% of total revenue), $458.2 million (13.1% of total revenue), and $348.0 million (10.5% of total revenue) and
$337.1 million (9.6% of total revenue), respectively, which was primarily in the Construction segment. Other than Caltrans, none of our customers, including both prime and
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subcontractor arrangements, had revenue that individually exceeded 10% of total revenue during the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022. None of our
customers had revenue that individually exceeded 10% of total revenue during the year ended December 31, 2021.

December 31, 2024, 2023 or 2022.

Business Strategy

As America's Infrastructure Company (TM), Granite exists to satisfy satisfies society’s needs for mobility, power, water and other essential services that sustain living conditions and
improve quality of life. Across our footprint of regional offices, we provide horizontal civil infrastructure construction services and construction materials products to a diverse base of
public, industrial and commercial clients. These clients benefit from our home market strategy which includes local relationships, market intelligence and the resources and expertise
of one of the oldest and most respected U.S. contractors and materials producers.

Local market knowledge, relationships, and project management expertise, supported by the financial strength of a publicly traded company with a strong balance sheet, provide a
sustainable competitive advantage. By diversifying our revenue channels across geographies and clients, and by taking measured risks within our construction capabilities, we
simultaneously grow our business and mitigate risk. Supported by proven operating processes, functional support systems and financial governance processes, our growing
network of regional businesses focus on local market conditions, client relationships, employee development, workforce capabilities and investment opportunities to drive growth
and efficiency within their home markets.

Additionally, the following continue to be key objectives in our strategic plan:

Selective Bidding: We focus our resources on bidding jobs that meet our bidding criteria, which include analyzing the risk of a potential job relative to: (1) available personnel to
estimate and prepare the proposal as well as to effectively manage and build the project; (2) project procurement methodology; (3) the competitive environment; (4) our experience
with the type of work and the owner; (5) local resources and partnerships; (6) equipment resources; and (7) the size, duration, complexity and expected profitability of the job.

Risk-Balanced Growth: We intend to grow our business by strategically adding to our client base within our current geographic markets and expanding into new geographic areas
both organically and through acquisitions. Growth opportunities are evaluated relative to their incremental impact to the execution risk and profitability profile of our operating
portfolio.

Vertical Integration: We own and lease aggregate reserves and own processing plants that are vertically integrated into our construction operations. By ensuring the availability of
these resources through strategic expansion and providing quality products, we believe we have a competitive advantage in many of our markets, as well as a source of revenue
and earnings from the sale of construction materials to third parties. We also look for additional vertical integration opportunities that complement our existing construction and
materials businesses. In 2023, we strengthened and We expanded our vertically integrated home markets with acquisitions the 2024 acquisition of the Brunswick Canyon quarry and
asphalt plant in Nevada; Coast Mountain Resources (2020) Ltd. Dickerson & Bowen, Inc. ("CMR" D&B"), a construction aggregate producer in British Columbia, Canada; and
Lehman-Roberts Company and Memphis Stone & Gravel Company (collectively, "LRC/MSG"), asphalt paving and an aggregates, asphalt and aggregate producers highway
construction company serving central and suppliers operating in the Memphis metropolitan market. southern Mississippi.

Diversification: To mitigate the risks inherent in the construction business as the result of general economic factors, we pursue projects: (1) in both the public and private sectors; (2)
in diverse end markets such as federal, rail, power water and renewable energy; water; (3) for a wide range of clients from the federal government to small municipalities and from
large corporations to small private customers; (4) in diverse geographic markets; (5) with procurement methods that include construction management/general contractor
(“CMIGC"), construction management at-risk (‘CMAR”), progressive design-build, bid-build and design-build; (6) that are executed according to a fixed price, time and materials,
cost reimbursable and fixed unit price; and (7) of various size, duration and complexity.

Performance-Based Incentives: Our incentive compensation plans align with the key objectives outlined in our strategic plan. Managers are incentivized with cash compensation
and equity awards payable upon the attainment of pre-established annual financial and non-financial metrics, including capital efficiency and cash flow generation. metrics.

Code of Conduct and Core Values: We strive to maintain high ethical standards through an established Code of Conduct and a company-wide compliance program, while always
being guided by our core values which are integrity, safety, excellence, sustainability and inclusion.

Human Capital Resources

Employees: We believe our employees are our most valuable resource and are the primary factor in the successful implementation of our business strategies. Significant resources
are employed to attract, develop and retain extraordinary and diverse talent and optimize each employee’s capabilities. Our focus on an inclusive diversity, work environment, talent
development, talent acquisition, and succession planning has allowed us to build a bench of talented employees. Our

managerial and supervisory personnel have an average tenure of 12 years with Granite, which demonstrates our workforce's strong dedication to, and great pride in, our company.

On December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we employed approximately 2,100 2,300 salaried employees who work in project, functional and business unit management, estimating
and administrative capacities, plus approximately 2,000 2,100 hourly employees. These totals do not include employees of unconsolidated joint ventures or employees of the newly
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acquired LRC/MSG businesses (see Note 2 of the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”). ventures. The total number of hourly personnel fluctuates with the volume of
construction work in progress and is seasonal. During 2023, 2024, the number of hourly employees ranged from approximately 1,800 2,100 to 4,000. 4,300. The majority of both our
salaried and hourly personnel were located in the United States during 2023.2024. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, three of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Granite
Construction Company, Layne Christensen Company and Granite Industrial, Inc., were parties to craft collective bargaining agreements in many areas in which they operate (see
Note 16 of the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”).

Inclusive Diversity: Our culture is underpinned by our core values, including an unwavering commitment to inclusive diversity as exemplified by strategies that address our guiding
belief that diverse backgrounds, perspectives, and experiences enhance creativity and innovation. We have established employee resource groups that serve employees from a
variety of backgrounds, and we have designated October as Inclusion month throughout our Company. We periodically conduct pay equity analyses to support our commitment to
pay equity for similar job functions, regardless of race, gender, ethnicity or sexual orientation.

We continued to execute on our inclusive diversity five-year strategic plan, which was established in 2020, with the following key goals:

* increase representation of women throughout the organization by 2025;

* increase women in leadership by 2025;

* increase representation of minorities in leadership throughout the organization by 2025; and
» increase diversity and inclusion index survey results from 71% in 2020 to 80% by 2025.

In 2023, we continued to make progress towards our 2025 goals through broadening the diversity of our pool of potential qualified applicants and identifying and addressing any
impediments to employment opportunity that may exist. Representation of women throughout the organization was maintained and representation of women and minorities in
leadership increased in 2023. Our 2022 diversity and inclusion index survey result was 74%. Survey results represent employee responses to questions regarding our diversity and
inclusion practices. Our next survey will be completed in 2024.

We were also successful with our targeted talent acquisition plan to increase the participation of diverse colleges and universities. In 2023, we employed 238 interns from 105
colleges and universities.

We remain fully committed to fairness and nondiscrimination in our employment practices by ensuring that the decision on who to hire and promote are based purely on merit and
made without consideration of race, gender or other protected characteristic.

Health and Safety: Employee safety is our greatest priority and safety is ultimately about people, not statistics. Safety is one of our core values and we strive to continuously improve
our safety program to better protect our people. We instill our culture of safety through relationship-based safety training, shared knowledge, and engagement at every level of our
organization. A core part of our mission will always be to provide a safe and healthy work environment for all our employees.

Inclusion: Our culture is underpinned by our core values, including an unwavering commitment to inclusion as exemplified by strategies that address our guiding belief that diverse
backgrounds, perspectives and experiences enhance creativity and innovation. We have established employee resource groups that serve employees from a variety of backgrounds
and we periodically conduct pay analyses to support our commitment to legally-compliant pay practices for similar job functions.

We continued to execute on our five-year strategic plan regarding inclusion, which was established in 2020, working toward increased representation of women and minorities
throughout the organization (including in leadership) to be reflective of the communities in which we operate.

In 2024, we continued to make progress through broadening the diversity of our pool of potential qualified applicants and identifying and addressing any impediments to employment
opportunity that may exist.

We also increased the number of colleges and universities we are targeting for our pool of qualified applicants. In 2024, we employed 241 interns from 108 colleges and universities.

We remain fully committed to fairness and nondiscrimination in our employment practices by ensuring that the decision on who to hire and promote are based purely on merit and
made without consideration of race, gender or other protected characteristic.

Employee Development and Training: The development of our employees is critical to our success and is a key factor in our ability to attract and retain talent. Our people are the
foundation of our success, and we encourage every employee to actively participate in their own career growth and development. We offer a wide variety of training opportunities to
ensure our employees are supplementing their on-the-job learning with in-person and online courses needed to promote performance and growth.

In 2023, 2024, our employees completed over 35,000 30,000 training courses and more than 300 employees ranging from emerging leaders to senior leaders graduated from our
multi-level leadership development program.

We have a robust talent and succession planning process and have established specialized programs to accelerate the development of our talent pipeline for critical roles in general

management, engineering, project management and operations. On an annual basis, we conduct succession planning reviews with senior leaders focusing on our high performing
and high potential talent diverse talent and succession for critical roles.

Employee Engagement: We routinely engage independent third parties to conduct cultural and employee engagement surveys. These include corporate culture assessments, as
well as real-time feedback on employee engagement and on employee well-being which includes physical, emotional, social and financial health. In 2023, we conducted a company-
wide employee engagement survey and the results reflect improved engagement.

Compensation and Benefits: Our compensation programs are designed to align the compensation of our employees with our financial and safety performance and their individual
performance to provide proper incentives to attract, retain and motivate employees to achieve superior results. The structure of our compensation programs balances guaranteed
base pay with incentive compensation opportunities. Additionally, all employees are eligible for health insurance, physical, mental and financial wellness programs, paid and unpaid
leave, a retirement plan, life insurance and disability/accident coverage. We also offer a variety of voluntary benefits that allow employees to select the options that meet their needs.

Environmental, Social and Governance Matters Sustainability
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Sustainability is one of our core values and we are committed to contributing to the development of a more sustainable future. We are a participating member of the United Nations
Global Compact. Our sustainability objectives encompass

corporate social responsibility, environmental stewardship, dependable governance and the creation of enduring economic value. We envision Granite as the leading provider of
sustainable infrastructure solutions, differentiated by our pursuit of social, environmental and financial excellence.

To attain our objectives, we have a Sustainability department that develops, coordinates and communicates our environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) initiatives across the
Company. Our Board of Directors oversees our sustainability program, including how we manage sustainability and ESG-related sustainability-related risks in conjunction with our
overall Enterprise Risk Management process.

We utilize the Global Reporting Initiative and Sustainability Accounting Standards Board standards as frameworks to support performance, tracking and reporting, and responsible
business behavior. For climate-related issues, we also utilize the recommendations from the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures. Within these frameworks, we have
selected industry-specific metrics that align with stakeholder expectations, are relevant to our business, and will have the most significant impact. We publish annual Sustainability
Reports, which update stakeholders on our ESG performance.

We are committed to addressing the effects of climate change and currently have a priority target to reduce scope 1 greenhouse gas emissions by 25% by 2030 from a 2020
baseline. However, achievement of our sustainability commitments and targets is subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are outside of our control. See “Item 1A. Risk
Factors” for additional information.

Our annual sustainability reports, along with additional information about our sustainability program, can be found on our website at
https://www.graniteconstruction.com/company/building-better-future-today. The information on our website and Granite's Sustainability Report are not incorporated into, and are not
part of, this report.

Committed and Awarded Projects

Committed and Awarded Projects ("CAP") consists of two components: (1) unearned revenue and (2) other awards. Unearned revenue includes the revenue we expect to record in
the future on executed contracts, including 100% of our consolidated joint venture contracts and our proportionate share of unconsolidated joint venture contracts. We generally
include a project in unearned revenue at the time a contract is awarded, the contract has been executed and to the extent we believe funding is probable. Contract options and task
orders are included in unearned revenue when exercised or issued, respectively. Certain government contracts where funding is appropriated on a periodic basis are included in
unearned revenue at the time of the award when it is probable the contract value will be funded and executed.

Other awards include the general construction portion of CM/GC contracts and awarded contracts with unexercised contract options or unissued task orders. The general
construction portion of CM/GC contracts are included in other awards to the extent contract execution and funding is probable. Contracts with unexercised contract options or
unissued task orders are also included in other awards to the extent option exercise or task order issuance is probable, respectively. All CAP is in the Construction segment.

Substantially all of the contracts in CAP may be canceled or modified at the election of the customer; however, we have not been materially adversely affected by contract
cancellations or modifications in the past (see “Contract Provisions and Subcontracting”). Many projects are added to CAP and completed within the same fiscal year and, therefore,
may not be reflected in our beginning or year-end CAP. Our CAP was $5.5 $5.3 billion and $4.5 billion $5.5 billion as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023,
respectively. Approximately $2.3 $2.6 billion of the December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 unearned revenue is expected to be completed during 2024.2025.

Competition and Market Trends

In both our Construction and Materials segments, we have competitors within the individual markets and geographic areas in which we operate, ranging from small, local companies
to larger regional, national and international companies. Although the construction business is highly competitive, there are few, if any, companies which compete in all of our market
areas. The degree and type of competition is influenced by the type and scope of construction projects within the

individual markets. One of our significant competitive advantages is that we own and lease aggregate reserves and own processing plants that are vertically integrated into our
construction operations. The construction materials produced by our Materials segment are used in nearly all types of public and private construction. Significant barriers to entry
exist in most markets due to stringent zoning and permitting regulations.

Factors influencing competitiveness in both of our segments include price, knowledge of local markets and conditions, financial strength, reputation for quality, aggregate materials
availability and machinery and equipment. Factors that also influence competitiveness in our Construction segment are estimating abilities and project management.

Many of our Construction segment competitors have the ability to perform work in either the private or public sectors. When opportunities for work in one sector are reduced,
competitors tend to look for opportunities in the other sector. This migration has the potential to reduce revenue growth and/or increase pressure on gross profit margins.

Capital requirements have not historically had a significant impact on our ability to compete in the marketplace. However, because smaller projects within our Construction segment
have not historically required large amounts of capital, the entry by companies possessing acceptable qualifications into this market may be relatively easy. By contrast, larger
projects typically require larger amounts of capital that may make entry into the market by future competitors more difficult. Also,

aggregate mining and asphalt production require significant capital investment to purchase and maintain the necessary property and equipment which presents a significant barrier
to entry into the construction materials market.
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See “Current Economic Environment and Outlook” under “Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for further information
on current market trends.

Government Regulations

Our business is impacted by environmental, health and safety, government procurement, anti-bribery and other government regulations and requirements. Below is a summary of
some of the significant regulations that impact our business.

Environmental: Our operations are subject to various federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations relating to the environment, including those relating to: (i) the discharge of
materials into the air, such as equipment-related emissions and crystalline silica dust at our aggregate processing facilities; (ii) the discharge of materials into water and land; (iii) the
handling and disposal of solid and hazardous waste; (iv) the handling of underground storage tanks; and (v) the cleanup of properties affected by hazardous substances. Certain
environmental laws impose substantial penalties for non-compliance and others, such as the federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act,
impose strict, retroactive, joint and several liability upon persons responsible for releases of hazardous substances. We continually evaluate whether we must take additional steps
at our locations to ensure compliance with environmental laws and whether we can operate in a more sustainable manner. While compliance with applicable regulatory requirements
has not materially adversely affected our operations in the past, there can be no assurance that these requirements will not change, and that compliance will not adversely affect our
operations in the future.

Government Procurement: Approximately 70% 75% of our Construction Segment revenue in 2028 2024 was derived from contracts funded by federal, state and local government
agencies and authorities. Government contracts are subject to specific procurement regulations, contract provisions and a variety of socioeconomic requirements relating to their
formation, administration, performance and accounting and often include express or implied certifications of compliance.

Our operations are subject to various statutes and certain executive orders, including the Davis-Bacon Act (which regulates wages and benefits), the Walsh-Healy Act (which
prescribes a minimum wage and regulates overtime and working conditions), Executive Order 11246 (which establishes equal employment opportunity and affirmative action
requirements), Executive Order 14063 (which requires project labor agreements on federal construction projects over $35 million), the Drug-Free Workplace Act, the Federal
Acquisition Regulation and the Federal Civil False Claims Act. We are also subject to as well as the rules and regulations promulgated by OSHA the Occupational Safety and Health
Administration and the Mine Safety and Health Administration. In addition, certain of our contracts with government agencies contain minimum Disadvantaged Business Enterprise
(“DBE") participation clauses.

These laws and regulations affect how we transact business and, in some instances, impose additional costs on our business operations, which may adversely affect our business,
results of operations and financial condition. As further described in “Item 1A. Risk Factors,” violation of specific laws and regulations could lead to fines, contract termination,
debarment of contractors and/or suspension of future contracts. Our government customers can also terminate, renegotiate or modify any of their contracts with us at their
convenience.

Anti-corruption and Bribery: We are subject to the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”). The FCPA prohibits U.S. and other business entities from making improper payments to
foreign government officials, political parties or political party officials. We are also subject to the applicable anti-corruption laws in the jurisdictions in which we operate, thus
potentially exposing us to liability and potential penalties in multiple jurisdictions. The anti-corruption provisions of the FCPA are enforced by the Department of Justice while other
state or federal agencies may seek recourse against us for issues related

to the FCPA. In addition, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) requires strict compliance with certain accounting and internal control standards set forth under the
FCPA. Failure to comply with the FCPA and other laws can expose us and/or individual employees to potentially severe criminal and civil penalties. Such penalties may have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. We devote resources to the development, maintenance, communication and enforcement of
our Code of Conduct, our anti-bribery compliance policies, our internal control processes and compliance related policies. We strive to conduct timely internal investigations of
potential violations and take appropriate action depending upon the outcome of the investigation.

Contract Provisions and Subcontracting

Contracts with our customers are primarily “fixed unit price” or “fixed price.” Under fixed unit price contracts, we are committed to providing materials or services at fixed unit prices
(for example, dollars per cubic yard of concrete placed or cubic yard of earth excavated). The percentage of fixed unit price contracts in our unearned revenue was 59.1% and
63.5% at December 31, 2024 and 72.7% at December 31, 2023 and 2022, 2023, respectively. While the fixed unit price contract shifts the risk of estimating the quantity of units
required for a particular project to the customer, any increase in our unit cost over the expected unit cost in the bid, whether due to inflation, inefficiency, incorrect estimates or
assumptions or other factors, is borne by us unless otherwise provided in the contract. Fixed price contracts are priced on a lump-sum basis under which we bear the risk that we
may not be able to perform the work for the specified contract amount and any increase in our cost over budget, whether due to inflation, inefficiency, incorrect estimates or
assumptions or other factors, will reduce our profit on the project. The

percentage of fixed price contracts in our unearned revenue was 33.2% and 30.5% at December 31, 2024 and 23.5% at December 31, 2023 and 2022, 2023, respectively. All other
contract types represented 6.0% 7.7% and 3.8% 6.0% of our unearned revenue at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, respectively.

Within our Construction segment, we utilize several methods of project delivery including, but not limited to, bid-build, design-build, CM/GC, construction management at-risk
(“CMAR”) CMAR and progressive design-build. Unlike traditional bid-build projects where owners first hire a design firm or design a project themselves and then put the project out
to bid for construction, the design portion of design-build projects is typically only partially complete when going out to bid. This project delivery method expedites the bidding
process for the owner and provides the owner with a single point of responsibility and a single contact for both final design and construction. Under the CM/GC and CMAR delivery
methods, we contract with owners to assist the owner during the design phase of the contract with construction efficiencies and risk mitigation, with the understanding that we will
negotiate a contract on the construction phase when the collective design nears completion. The progressive design-build delivery method is similar to CM/GC and CMAR; however,
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we are responsible for the design of the project and will subcontract with a design firm, with the understanding that we will negotiate a contract that includes both the design and
construction prices when the collective design nears completion.

With the exception of contract change orders and affirmative claims, our construction contracts are primarily obtained through competitive bidding in response to solicitations by both
public agencies and private parties and on a negotiated basis as a result of solicitations from private parties. Project owners use a variety of methods to make contractors aware of
new projects, including posting bidding opportunities on agency websites, disclosing long-term infrastructure plans, advertising and other general solicitations. Our bidding activity is
affected by such factors as the nature and volume of advertising and other solicitations, current CAP, available personnel, current utilization of equipment and other resources and
competitive considerations. Our contract review process includes identifying risks and opportunities during the bidding process and managing these risks through mitigation efforts
such as contract negotiation, bid/no bid decisions, insurance and pricing. Contracts fitting certain criteria of size, duration and complexity are reviewed by various levels of
management and, in some cases, by our Board of Directors or a committee thereof. Bidding activity, CAP and revenue resulting from the award of new contracts may vary
significantly from period to period.

There are a number of factors that can create variability in contract performance as compared to the original bid. Such factors can positively or negatively impact costs and
profitability and can create additional liability to the contractor. The most significant of these include:

» changes in costs of labor and/or materials;

* subcontractor costs, availability and/or performance issues;

« extended overhead and other costs due to owner, weather and other delays;

« changes in productivity expectations;

« changes from original design on design-build projects;

« our ability to fully and promptly recover on affirmative claims and back charges for additional contract costs;
« achange in the availability and proximity of equipment and materials;

e complexity in original design;

* length of time to complete the project;

« the availability and skill level of workers in the geographic location of the project;

« site conditions that differ from those assumed in the original bid;
* costs associated with scope changes; and
« the customer’s ability to properly administer the contract.

The ability to realize improvements on project profitability at times is more limited than the risk of lower profitability. For example, design-build contracts carry additional risks such as
those associated with design errors and estimating quantities and prices before the project design is completed. We manage this additional risk by including contingencies in our bid
amounts, obtaining errors and omissions insurance and obtaining indemnifications from our design consultants where possible. However, there is no guarantee that these risk
management strategies will be successful.

Most of our contracts, including those with the government, provide for termination at the convenience of the contract owner, with provisions to pay us for work performed through
the date of termination. We have not been materially adversely affected by these provisions in the past. Many of our contracts contain provisions that require us to pay liquidated
damages if specified completion schedule requirements are not met, and these amounts could be significant.

We act as prime contractor on most of our construction projects. We complete the majority of our projects with our own resources and subcontract specialized activities such as
electrical and mechanical work. As prime contractor, we are responsible for the performance of the entire contract, including subcontract work. Thus, we may be subject to increased
costs associated with the failure of one or more subcontractors to perform as anticipated. Based on our analysis of their construction and financial capabilities, among other criteria,
we may require the subcontractor to furnish a bond or other

type of security to guarantee their performance and/or we retain payments, or some portion thereof, in accordance with contract terms until their performance is complete. DBE
regulations may require us to use our good faith efforts to subcontract a specified portion of contract work done for governmental agencies to certain types of disadvantaged
contractors or suppliers. As with all of our subcontractors, some may not be able to obtain surety bonds or other types of performance security.

Joint Ventures

We participate in various construction joint ventures with other construction companies of which we are a partner or limited member (“joint ventures”) typically for large, technically
complex projects, including design-build projects, where it is necessary or desirable to share expertise, risk and resources. Joint venture partners typically provide independently
prepared estimates, shared equipment, and often bring local knowledge and expertise. Generally, each construction joint venture is formed as a partnership or limited liability
company to accomplish a specific project and is jointly controlled by the joint venture partners. We select our joint venture partners (“partner(s)”) based on our analysis of their
construction and financial capabilities, expertise in the type of work to be performed and past working relationships, among other criteria.

Under each joint venture agreement, one partner is designated as the sponsor. The sponsoring partner typically provides all administrative, accounting and most of the project
management support for the project and generally receives a fee from the joint venture for these services. We have been designated as the sponsoring partner in certain of our
current joint venture projects and are a non-sponsoring partner in others. In alignment with our strategic plan and project bidding criteria, when entering into new joint venture
agreements, we generally insist on being the sponsoring partner.

We consolidate joint ventures if we determine that, through our participation, we have a variable interest and are the primary beneficiary as defined by Financial Accounting
Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 810, Consolidation, and related standards. If we have determined that we are not the primary
beneficiary of a joint venture but do exercise significant influence, we account for our share of the operations of unconsolidated construction joint ventures on a pro rata basis in
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revenue and cost of revenue in the consolidated statements of operations. We record the corresponding investment balance in equity in construction joint ventures in the
consolidated balance sheets except when a project is in a loss position, the investment balance is recorded as a deficit in unconsolidated construction joint ventures and is included
in accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. We account for non-construction unconsolidated joint ventures under the equity method of
accounting in accordance with ASC Topic 323, Investments - Equity Method and Joint Ventures and include our share of the operations in equity in income of affiliates in the
consolidated statements of operations and in investment in affiliates in the consolidated balance sheets.

We also participate in “line-item” joint venture agreements under which each partner is responsible for performing certain discrete items of the total scope of contracted work. The
revenue for each line-item joint venture partners’ discrete items of work is defined in the contract with the project owner and each joint venture partner bears the profitability risk
associated only with its own work. There is not a single set of books and records for a line-item joint venture. Each partner accounts for its items of work individually as it would for
any self-performed contract. We account for our portion of these contracts as revenue and cost of revenue in the consolidated statements of operations and in relevant balances in
the consolidated balance sheets.

The agreements with our partner(s) for both construction joint ventures and line-item joint ventures define each partner’'s management role and financial responsibility in the project.
The joint venture agreements typically provide that our interests in any profits and assets, and our respective share in any losses and liabilities, that may result from the performance
of the contracts are limited to our stated percentage interest in the project. However, due to the joint and several nature of the performance obligations under the related owner
contracts, if any of the partners fail to perform, we and the remaining partners, if any, would be responsible for performance of the outstanding work (i.e., we provide a performance
guarantee). We estimate our liability for performance guarantees for our unconsolidated and line-item joint ventures using estimated partner bond rates, which are Level 2 inputs,
and include them in accrued expenses and other current liabilities with a corresponding increase in equity in construction joint ventures in the consolidated balance sheets. We
reassess our liability when and if changes in circumstances occur. The liability and corresponding asset are removed from the consolidated balance sheets upon completion and
customer acceptance of the project. Circumstances that could lead to a loss under these agreements beyond our stated ownership interest include the failure of a partner to
contribute additional funds to the venture in the event the project incurs a loss or additional costs that we could incur should a partner fail to provide the services and resources that
it had committed to provide in the agreement. We are not able to estimate amounts that may be required beyond the remaining cost of the work to be performed. These costs could
be offset by billings to the customer or by proceeds from our partners’ corporate and/or other guarantees.

At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, there was $195.6 million $100.6 million of remaining contract value on unconsolidated and line item construction joint venture contracts,
of which $93.1 million $35.6 million represented our share and is included in our CAP and the remaining $102.5 million $65.0

million represented our partners’ share. See Note 9 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for more information.
Insurance and Bonding

We maintain insurance coverage and limits consistent with industry practice and in alignment with our overall risk management strategy. Policies include general and excess liability,
property, pollution, professional, cybersecurity, executive risk, workers’ compensation and employer’s liability. Further, our policies are placed with insurers that we believe are
financially stable, often in a layered or quota share arrangement which reduces the likelihood of an interruption or impact to operations.

In connection with our business, we generally are required to provide various types of surety bonds that provide an additional measure of security for our performance under certain
public and private sector contracts. Our ability to obtain surety bonds depends upon our capitalization, working capital, past performance, management expertise and external
factors, including the capacity of the overall surety market. Surety companies consider such factors in light of the amount of our CAP that we have currently bonded and their current
underwriting standards, which may change from time to time. The capacity of the surety market is subject to market-based fluctuations driven primarily by the level of surety industry
losses and the degree of surety market consolidation. When the surety market capacity shrinks, it results in higher premiums and increased difficulty obtaining bonding, in particular
for larger, more complex, multi-year projects throughout the market. To help mitigate this risk, we employ a co-surety structure involving three sureties. Although we do not believe
that fluctuations in surety market capacity have affected our ability to grow our business, there is no assurance that it will not significantly affect our ability to obtain new contracts in
the future (see “ltem 1A. Risk Factors”).

Raw Materials

We purchase raw materials, including but not limited to, aggregate products, cement, diesel and gasoline fuel, liquid asphalt, natural gas, propane, resin and steel from numerous
sources. Our owned and leased aggregate reserves supply a portion of the raw materials needed in our construction projects. The price and availability of raw materials may vary
from year to year due to market conditions and production capacities. In recent years, inflation, supply chain and labor constraints have had a significant impact on the global
economy including the construction industry in the United States. While it is impossible to fully eliminate the impact of these factors, where practicable, we have applied proactive
measures such as fixed forward purchase contracts of oil related inputs, energy surcharges, and adjustment of project schedules for constraints related to construction materials
such as concrete.

Equipment

At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, we owned the following number of construction equipment and vehicles:

December 31, 2023 2022
Heavy construction equipment 2,457 2,471
Trucks, truck-tractors, trailers and vehicles 4,686 5,059
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December 31, 2024 2023

Heavy construction equipment 2,645 2,457
Trucks, truck-tractors, trailers and vehicles 4,725 4,686

Our portfolio of equipment includes backhoes, barges, bulldozers, cranes, excavators, loaders, motor graders, pavers, rollers, scrapers, trucks, drilling rigs and tunnel boring
machines that are used in both of our segments. We pool certain equipment to maximize utilization. We continually monitor and adjust our fleet size so that it is consistent with the
size of our business, considering both existing and expected future work. We lease or rent equipment to supplement our portfolio of equipment in response to construction activity
cycles. The December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 equipment count includes 202 189 pieces of heavy construction equipment and 111 206 vehicles from the LRC/MSG D&B
acquisition. In 2023 2024 and 2022, 2023, we purchased $71.9 million $59.2 million and $73.9 million $71.9 million, respectively, of construction equipment and vehicles.

Seasonality

Our operations are typically affected more by weather conditions during the first and fourth quarters of our fiscal year which may alter our construction schedules and can create
variability in our revenues, profitability and the required number of employees.

Website Access

Our website address is www.graniteconstruction.com. On our website we make available, free of charge, our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,
Current Reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. The
information on our website is not incorporated into, and is not part of, this report. These reports, and any amendments to them, are also available on the SEC’s website,
WWW.S€EC.goV.

Information About Executive Officers

Information regarding our executive officers as of February 1, 2024 February 1, 2025 is set forth below.

Name Age Position

Kyle T. Larkin 5253 President and Chief Executive Officer

Elizabeth L. Curtis Staci M. Woolsey 5748 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
James A. Radich 6566 Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer
Brian A. Dowd 6061 Senior Vice President, Construction

Bradly J. Estes 4546 Senior Vice President, Construction Materials
Michael G. Tatusko 5960 Senior Vice President, Construction

Bradley J. Williams 6364 Senior Vice President, Construction

Staci M. Woolsey 47 Chief Accounting Officer

Mr. Larkin joined Granite in 1996, has served as President since September 2020 and as Chief Executive Officer since June 2021. He also served as Executive Vice President and
Chief Operating Officer from February 2020 to September 2020, Senior Vice President and Manager of Construction and Materials Operations from 2019 to 2020, Senior Vice
President and Group Manager from 2017 to 2019, Vice President and Regional Manager in Nevada from 2014 to 2017 and President of Granite’s wholly-owned subsidiary,
Intermountain Slurry Seal, Inc. from 2011 to 2014. He served as Manager of Construction at the Reno area office from 2008 to 2011, Chief Estimator from 2004 to 2008 and Project
Manager, Project Engineer and Estimator at Granite’s Nevada Branch between 1996 and 2003. Mr. Larkin has also served as a director of our Board of Directors since June 2021
and has a term expiring at the 2026 annual meeting. Mr. Larkin holds a B.S. in Construction Management from California Polytechnic State University, San Luis Obispo and an
M.B.A. from the University of Massachusetts, Amherst.

Ms. Curtis Woolsey joined Granite in 2018 June 2021 and has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since January 2021. She September 2024. Ms.
Woolsey also served as Chief Accounting Officer from October 2020 January 2022 to January 2021, September 2024 and served in a non-officer role with accounting responsibilities
since joining the Company in June 2021. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Woolsey was the Vice President of Investor Relations and Corporate Controller from 2019 December
2018 to October August 2020 and Vice President, and Integration Management Officer from 2018 to 2019. Before joining Granite, Ms. Curtis served as Vice President Corporate
Controller and Chief Accounting Officer for Layne Christensen Company (“Layne”) from August 2020 to June 2021 of MDC Holdings, Inc. From February 2016 to 2018. Prior to
joining Layne, December 2018, Ms. Curtis worked for Cameron from 2009 to 2016 serving in positions Woolsey was the Vice President and Controller of increasing responsibility the
Energy, Infrastructure and ultimately as their Controller, in charge Industrial Construction division of external reporting, accounting policies, and internal controls from 2015 to

2016. AECOM. Ms. Curtis began her career in public accounting with Deloitte and graduated from Texas A&M University with Woolsey received a B.S. degrees degree in Accounting
and Finance from the University of Idaho and is a Certified Public Accountant.

Mr. Radich first joined Granite in 1980 and rejoined the Company in 2011. He has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer since December 2020. He also
served as Senior Vice President and Group Manager from January 2020 to December 2020, as Vice President and Coastal Region Manager from 2014 to 2019 and Vice President
of the Northern California Region from 2011 to 2014. From 1993 to 2011, Mr. Radich was employed by Oldcastle Materials. Mr. Radich served Granite as Project Engineer from
1980 to 1983, Project Manager from 1985 to 1990 for the Heavy Civil and

Vertical Divisions and Chief Estimator from 1990 to 1993 in the Vertical Division. He received a B.S.C.E. from Santa Clara University and is a Registered Civil Engineer.
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Mr. Dowd joined Granite in 1986 and has served as Senior Vice President, Construction since January 2024. He also served as Senior Vice President and California Group
Manager from January 2021 to January 2024, Vice President and Regional Manager in Nevada from October 2017 to December 2020 and Vice President and Large Projects
Business Development Manager from 2013 to 2017. He served as California Group Business Development Manager from 2012 to 2013, Sacramento Valley Region Manager from
2007 to 2012, Vice President and Director of Human Resources from 2005 to 2007, Director of Employee Development from 2000 to 2005, San Diego Area Manager from 1994 to
2000, and Project Manager, Estimator and Project Engineer at Granite's Indio and Sacramento Branches between 1986 and 1994. Mr. Dowd holds a B.S. in Civil Engineering from
the University of California, Berkeley and is a Registered Engineer in the states of California and Nevada.

Mr. Estes joined Granite in 2003 and has served as Senior Vice President, Construction Materials since June 2023, as Vice President of Construction Materials from January 2018
to June 2023, as Group Materials Manager from January 2017 to December 2017, as Materials Manager in Washington from January 2012 to December 2016, as Plants Manager
in Washington from November 2008 to December 2011, as Portable Plant Manager in Northern California from June 2005 to October 2008, and as Branch Division Plant Engineer
from June 2003 to May 2005. Mr. Estes holds a B.S.degree in Mining Engineering from Montana Technological University.

Mr. Tatusko joined Granite in 1991 and has served as Senior Vice President, Construction since January 2024. He also served as Senior Vice President and Group Manager from
January 2020 to January 2024, Vice President and Valley Region Manager from 2014 to 2019, Northern California Area Manager from 2012 to 2014, Design Build Project Executive
from

2010 to 2012, Group Construction Manager from 2007 to 2010, Arizona Operations Manager from 2005 to 2007, Arizona Construction Manager from 2001 to 2005, Plants Manager
from 1999 to 2001, Estimator/Project Manager from 1995 to 1999 and Project Engineer from 1993 to 1995. Prior to joining Granite, he was employed at Oldcastle Tilcon from 1984
to 1991. Mr. Tatusko received a Construction Management degree from Southern Maine Tech.

Mr. Williams joined Granite in 1987 and has served as Senior Vice President, Construction since January 2024. He also served as Senior Vice President and Group Manager from
June 2022 to January 2024, Regional Vice President from January 2015 to June 2022, as Large Project Executive from 2010 to 2015, as Operations Manager in Southern California
from 2009 to 2010, as Manager of Construction in Southern California from 2007 to 2009, as Construction Manager in Sacramento from 2000 to 2007, as Senior Project Manager in
Utah from 1998 to 2000, as Environmental Construction Manager in California from 1994 to 1998, as Estimator/Project Manager in Santa Barbara from 1989 to 1994, and as Large
Project Engineer from 1987 to 1989. Mr. Williams holds a B.S. in Civil Engineering from Ohio Northern University.

Ms. Woolsey joined Granite in June 2021 and was appointed Chief Accounting Officer on January 1, 2022. Prior to this appointment and since joining the
Company in June 2021, Ms. Woolsey served in a non-officer role with accounting responsibilities and reported directly to Ms. Curtis. Prior to joining the
Company, Ms. Woolsey was the Vice President and Corporate Controller from December 2018 to August 2020 and Vice President, Corporate Controller and
Chief Accounting Officer from August 2020 to June 2021 of MDC Holdings, Inc. From February 2016 to December 2018, Ms. Woolsey was the Vice President
and Controller of the Energy, Infrastructure and Industrial Construction division of AECOM. Ms. Woolsey received a B.S. degree in Accounting from the
University of Idaho and is a Certified Public Accountant.

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

Set forth below and elsewhere in this report and in other documents we file with the SEC are various risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially
from the results contemplated by the forward-looking statements contained in this report or otherwise adversely affect our business.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS

* Unfavorable economic conditions may have an adverse impact on our business. Volatility in the global financial system, deterioration in general economic activity,
inflation, rising or high interest rates, tariffs, supply chain issues, the War in Ukraine, the Israel-Hamas War, wars or other geopolitical tensions, other political, social or
economic uncertainties, and fiscal, monetary and other policies that federal, state and local governments may enact, including infrastructure spending or deficit reduction
measures, may have an adverse impact on our business, financial position, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity. In particular, low tax revenues, budget deficits,
financing constraints, including timing of long-term federal, state and local funding releases, and competing priorities could negatively impact the ability of government
agencies to fund existing or new infrastructure projects in the public sector. These factors could have a material adverse effect on the financial market and economic
conditions in the United States as well as throughout the world, which may limit our ability and the ability of our customers to obtain financing and/or could impair our ability
to execute our strategy. In addition, levels of new commercial and residential construction

projects could be adversely affected by oversupply of existing inventories of commercial and residential properties, low property values and a restrictive financing
environment.

* We work in a highly competitive marketplace. We have multiple competitors in all the areas in which we work, and some of our competitors are larger than we are and
may have greater resources than we do. Government funding for public works projects is limited, contributing to competition. An increase in competition may result in a
decrease in new awards, a decrease in profit margins, or both. In addition, should downturns in residential and commercial construction activity occur, the competition for
available public sector work would intensify, which could impact our revenue, CAP and profit margins.

« Fixed price and fixed unit price contracts subject us to the risk of increased project cost. As more fully described in “Contract Provisions and Subcontracting” under
“Item 1. Business,” the profitability of our fixed price and fixed unit price contracts can be adversely affected by a number of factors, including, among others, inflation, tariffs,
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inefficiency and incorrect estimates or assumptions, that can cause our actual costs to materially exceed the costs estimated at the time of our original bid. This could result
in reduced profits or a loss for that project and there could be a material adverse impact to our business, results of operations and financial condition.

« We derive a substantial amount of our revenue from federal, state and local government agencies, and any disruption in government funding or in our
relationship with those agencies could adversely affect our business. For the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, approximately 70% 75% of our
construction revenue was funded by federal, state and local government agencies and authorities. A significant amount of this revenue is derived under multi-year contracts,
many of which are appropriated on an annual basis. As a result, at the beginning of a project, the related contract may be only partially funded, and additional funding is
normally committed only as appropriations are made in each subsequent year. The success and further development of our business depends, in large part, upon the
continued funding of these government programs, and upon our ability to obtain contracts and perform well under these programs. A significant reduction in government
spending, the absence of a bipartisan agreement on the federal government budget, a partial or full federal government shutdown or a change in budgetary priorities could
reduce demand for our services, cancel or delay projects and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

There are several additional factors that could cause government agencies or authorities to delay or cancel programs, to reduce their orders under existing contracts, to
exercise their rights to terminate contracts or not to exercise contract options for renewals or extensions. Such factors, which include the following, could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations or the timing of contract payments from government agencies or authorities:

< the failure of the U.S. government to complete its budget and appropriations process before its fiscal year-end;
« changes in and delays or cancellations of government programs, procurements, requirements or appropriations;
* budget constraints or policy changes resulting in delay or curtailment of expenditures related to the services we provide;

* re-competes of government contracts;

« the timing and amount of tax revenue received by federal, state and local governments, and the overall level of government expenditures;

« curtailment in the use of government contracting firms;

« delays associated with insufficient numbers of government staff to oversee contracts;

« the increasing preference by government agencies for contracting with small and disadvantaged businesses;

« competing political priorities and changes in the political climate regarding the funding or operation of the services we provide;

« the adoption of new laws or regulations affecting our contracting relationships with the federal, state or local governments;

« unsatisfactory performance on government contracts by us or one of our subcontractors, negative government audits or other events that may impair our
relationship with federal, state or local governments;

« adispute with or improper activity by any of our subcontractors; and

« general economic or political conditions.

* Our U.S. federal government contracts may give government agencies the right to modify, delay, curtail, renegotiate or terminate existing contracts at their
convenience at any time prior to their completion, which

could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. U.S. federal government projects in which we participate as a
contractor or subcontractor may extend for several years. Generally, government contracts include the right to modify, delay, curtail, renegotiate or terminate contracts and
subcontracts at the government’s convenience any time prior to their completion. Any decision by a U.S. federal government client to modify, delay, curtail, renegotiate or
terminate our contracts at their convenience could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

«  Our failure to win new contracts and renew existing contracts with private and public sector clients could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Our business depends on our ability to win new contracts and renew existing contracts with private and public sector
clients. Contract proposals and negotiations are complex and frequently involve a lengthy bidding and selection process, which is affected by a number of factors. These
factors include market conditions, financing arrangements and required governmental approvals. If negative market conditions arise, or if we fail to secure adequate
financial arrangements or the required government approval, we may not be able to pursue certain projects, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

« The U.S. government may adopt new contract rules and regulations or revise its procurement practices in a manner adverse to us at any time. From time to time,
new laws and regulations are enacted, and government agencies adopt new interpretations and enforcement priorities relative to laws and regulations already in effect.
Legislation, regulations and initiatives dealing with procurement reform as well as any resulting shifts in the buying practices of U.S. government agencies could have
adverse effects on government contractors, including us.

* The timing of new contracts and termination of existing contracts may result in unpredictable fluctuations in our cash flows and financial results. A substantial
portion of our revenues are derived from project-based work that is awarded through a competitive bid process. It is generally difficult to predict the timing and geographic
distribution of the projects that we will be awarded. The selection of, timing of, or failure to obtain projects, delays in awards of projects, the re-bidding or termination of
projects due to budget overruns, cancellations of projects or delays in completion of contracts could result in the under-utilization of our assets, including our fleet of
construction equipment, which could lower our overall profitability and reduce our cash flows. Even if we are awarded contracts, we face additional risks that could affect
when, or whether, work will begin. This can present difficulty in matching workforce size and equipment location with contract needs. In some cases, we may be required to
bear the cost of a ready workforce and equipment that is larger than necessary, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
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of operations. If an expected contract award or the related work release is delayed or not received, we could incur substantial costs without receipt of any corresponding
revenues. Moreover, construction projects for which our services are contracted may require significant expenditures by us prior to receipt of relevant payments from the
customer. Finally, the winding down or completion of work on significant projects that were active in

previous periods will reduce our revenue and earnings if such significant projects have not been replaced in the current period.

Many of our contracts may be canceled upon short notice, typically 30 to 90 days, even if we are not in default under the contract, and we may be unsuccessful in replacing
contracts, resulting in a decrease in our revenue, net income and liquidity. Certain of our customers assign work to us on a project-by-project basis under master service
agreements. Under these agreements, our customers often have no obligation to assign a specific amount of work to us. Our operations could decline significantly if the
anticipated volume of work is not assigned to us or is canceled. Many of our contracts, including our master service agreements, are open to competitive bidding at the
expiration of their terms. There can be no assurance that we will be the successful bidder on our existing contracts that come up for re-bid.

« Design-build contracts subject us to the risk of design errors and omissions. Design-build is a common method of project delivery as it provides the owner with a
single point of responsibility for both design and construction. We generally subcontract design responsibility to architectural and engineering firms. However, in the event of
a design error or omission causing damages, there is risk that the subcontractor or their errors and omissions insurance would not be able to absorb the liability. In this case,
we may be responsible, resulting in a potentially material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

* Many of our contracts have penalties for late completion. In some instances, including many of our fixed price contracts, we guarantee that we will complete a project
by a certain date. If we subsequently fail to complete the project as scheduled, we may be held responsible for costs resulting from the delay, generally in the form of
contractually agreed-upon liquidated damages. To the extent these events occur, the total cost of the project could exceed our original estimate and we could experience
reduced profits or a loss on that project and there could be a material adverse impact to our business, results of operations and financial condition.

* Our failure to adequately recover on affirmative claims brought by us against project owners or other project participants (e.g., back charges against
subcontractors) for additional contract costs could have a negative impact on our liquidity and future operations. In certain circumstances, we assert affirmative
claims to which we believe we are entitled against project owners, engineers, consultants, subcontractors or others involved in a project for additional costs exceeding the
contract price or for amounts not included in the original contract price.

These types of affirmative claims occur due to matters such as delays or changes from the initial project scope, both of which may result in additional costs. Often, these
affirmative claims can be the subject of lengthy arbitration or litigation proceedings, and it is difficult to accurately predict when and on what terms they will be fully resolved.
For additional information, see "—Accounting for our revenues and costs involve significant estimates" risk factor below. The potential gross profit impact of recoveries for
affirmative claims may be material in future periods when they, or a portion of them, become probable and estimable or are settled. When these types of events occur, we
use working capital to cover cost overruns pending the resolution of the relevant affirmative claims and may incur additional costs when pursuing such potential recoveries.
A failure to recover on these types of affirmative claims promptly and fully could have a negative impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition. In
addition, while clients and subcontractors may be obligated to indemnify us against certain liabilities, such third parties may refuse or be unable to pay us.

* Our financial position could be impacted by worse than anticipated results in our Central operating group. In 2020, we completed a strategic review of our former
Heavy Civil operating group, which is now part of our Central operating group, and have taken actions that we believe will be beneficial to us and our stockholders. However,
the results of our planned actions, and the timing of expected benefits, remain uncertain. Underperformance in our Central operating group could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

* Unavailability of insurance coverage could have a negative effect on our operations and results. We maintain insurance coverage as part of our overall risk
management strategy and pursuant to requirements to maintain specific coverage that are contained in our financing agreements and in most of our construction contracts.
Although we have been able to obtain reasonably priced insurance coverage to meet our requirements in the past, there is no assurance that we will be able to do so in the
future, and our inability to obtain such coverage could have an adverse impact on our ability to procure new work, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

* An inability to obtain bonding could have a negative impact on our operations and results. As more fully described in “Insurance and Bonding” under “ltem 1.
Business,” we generally are required to provide surety bonds securing our performance under the majority of our public and private sector contracts. Our inability to obtain
reasonably priced surety bonds in the future and, while we monitor the financial health of our insurers and the insurance market, catastrophic events could reduce available
limits or the breadth of coverage, both of which could significantly affect our ability to be awarded new

contracts and could, therefore, have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. If we are not able to maintain a sufficient level of
bonding capacity in the future, it could preclude our ability to bid for certain contracts or successfully contract with some customers. Additionally, even if we continue to be
able to access bonding capacity to sufficiently bond future work, we may be required to post collateral to secure bonds, which would decrease the liquidity we would have
available for other purposes.
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* We use certain commodity products that are subject to significant price fluctuations. We are exposed to various commodity price risks, including, but not limited to,
diesel fuel, natural gas, propane, steel, cement and liquid asphalt arising from transactions that are entered into in the normal course of business. We use petroleum-based
products, such as fuels, lubricants and liquid asphalt, to power or lubricate our equipment, operate our plants, and as a significant ingredient in the asphaltic concrete we
manufacture for sale to third parties and use in our asphalt paving construction projects. Although we are partially protected by asphalt or fuel price escalation clauses in
some of our contracts, many contracts provide no such protection. We also use steel and other commodities in our construction projects that can be subject to significant
price fluctuations. fluctuations due to a number of factors, including inflation and tariffs. In order to manage or reduce commodity price risk, we monitor the costs of these
commodities at the time of bid and price them into our contracts accordingly. Additionally, some of our contracts may include commaodity price escalation clauses which
partially protect us from increasing prices. At times we enter into supply agreements or pre-purchase commodities to secure pricing and use financial contracts to further
manage a portion of the price risk. Significant price fluctuations could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

« Weather can significantly affect our revenues and profitability. Our ability to perform work is significantly affected by weather conditions such as precipitation and
temperature. Changes in weather conditions can cause delays and otherwise significantly affect our project costs. The impact of weather conditions can result in variability
in our quarterly revenues and profitability, particularly in the first and fourth quarters of the year.

« Force majeure events, including natural disasters and terrorists' actions, could negatively impact our business, which may affect our financial condition, results
of operations or cash flows. Force majeure or extraordinary events beyond the control of the contracting parties, such as natural and man-made disasters, as well as
terrorist actions, could negatively impact the economies in which we operate. We typically negotiate contract language where we are allowed certain relief from force
majeure events in private client contracts and review and attempt to mitigate force majeure events in both public and private client contracts. We remain obligated to perform
our services after most extraordinary events subject to relief that may be available pursuant to a force majeure clause.

If we are not able to react quickly to force majeure events, our operations may be affected, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations
and financial condition.

* Public health events, including health epidemics or pandemics or other contagious outbreaks, could negatively impact our business, financial condition and
results of operations. Our ability to perform work may be significantly affected by public health events. If a public health epidemic or pandemic or other contagious
outbreak, including COVID-19, interferes with our ability, or that of our employees, contractors, suppliers, customers and other business partners to perform our and their
respective responsibilities and obligations relative to the conduct of our business, our operations may be affected, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

* Our CAP is subject to unexpected adjustments and cancellations and could be an uncertain indicator of our future earnings. We cannot guarantee that the
revenues projected in our CAP will be realized or, if realized, will be profitable. Projects reflected in our CAP may be affected by project cancellations, scope adjustments,
time extensions or other changes. Such changes may adversely affect the revenue and profit we ultimately realize on these projects.

* Rising Economic factors, including inflation, rising and/or high inflation and/or interest rates and tariffs could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Economic factors, including inflation and rising and/or high interest rates, could have a negative impact on our business. Our costs
were and may continue to be subject to significant inflationary pressures and may be subject to tariff-related price increases, and we may not be able to fully offset such
higher costs through price increases. Our inability or failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, cash flows and
liquidity. In addition, increases in or sustained higher interest rates will result in higher interest expense related to borrowings under our Fourth Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement, as

amended (the “Credit Agreement”), which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

« As part of our growth strategy, we have made and may make future acquisitions, and acquisitions involve many risks and uncertainties. These risks and
uncertainties include:

e our ability to complete acquisitions in accordance with our expected plans, on terms and conditions acceptable to us or our anticipated time frame, or at all;

« difficulties identifying all significant risks during our due diligence activities;

« that acquisitions involve significant costs and require the time and attention of our management, which may divert management’s attention from ongoing
operations;

< potential difficulties and increased costs associated with completion of any assumed construction projects;

« our ability to successfully manage or achieve the results we expect to experience from the acquisitions and that we may lose key employees or customers of the
acquired companies;

« assumption of liabilities of an acquired business, including liabilities that were unknown at the time the acquisition was negotiated;

- difficulties related to integrating the operations and internal controls, assimilating personnel, services, and systems of an acquired business and to assimilating
marketing and other operational capabilities;

« increased burdens on our staff and on our administrative, internal control and operating systems, which may hinder our legal and regulatory compliance
activities;

- if we issue additional equity securities, such issuances could have the effect of diluting our earnings per share as well as our existing shareholders’ individual
ownership percentages in the Company;
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« the recording of goodwill or other non-amortizable intangible assets that will be subject to subsequent impairment testing and potential impairment charges, as
well as amortization expenses related to certain other intangible assets; and

« while we often obtain indemnification rights from the sellers of acquired businesses, such rights may be difficult to enforce and the indemnitors may not have the
ability to financially support the indemnity.

Failure to successfully manage and integrate acquisitions could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
As part of our strategy, we may make divestitures, and divestitures involve many risks and uncertainties. These risks and uncertainties include:

< our ability to locate suitable acquirers for our divestitures;

« our ability to complete the divestitures in accordance with our expected plans or anticipated time frame, or at all;

« our ability to complete the divestitures on terms and conditions acceptable to us;

« difficulties separating the assets and personnel related to businesses that we expect to divest from the businesses we expect to retain;

« that divestitures involve significant costs and require the time and attention of our management, which may divert management'’s attention from ongoing
operations;

< our ability to successfully cause a buyer of a divested business to assume the liabilities of that business, or even if such liabilities are assumed, we may have
difficulties enforcing our rights, contractual or otherwise against the buyer;

« the need to obtain regulatory approvals and other third-party consents, which potentially could disrupt customer and vendor relationships;

« potential additional tax obligations or the loss of tax benefits;

« the divestiture could negatively impact our profitability because of losses that may result from a sale, the loss of revenue or a decrease in cash flows; and

» following the completion of a divestiture, we may have less diversity in our business and in the markets we serve as well as our client base.

Failure to successfully manage divestitures may generate fewer benefits than expected and could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

In connection with acquisitions or divestitures, we may become subject to liabilities. In connection with any acquisitions, we may acquire liabilities or defects such as
legal claims, including but not limited to,

third party liability and other tort claims; claims for breach of contract; employment-related claims; environmental, health and safety liabilities, conditions or damage;
permitting, regulatory or other compliance with law issues; or tax liabilities. If we acquire any of these liabilities, and they are not adequately covered by insurance or an
enforceable indemnity or similar agreement from a creditworthy counterparty, we may be responsible for significant out-of-pocket expenditures. In connection with any
divestitures, we may incur liabilities for breaches of representations and warranties or failure to comply with operating covenants under any agreement for a divestiture. We
may also retain exposure on financial or performance guarantees, contractual, employment, pension and severance obligations or other liabilities of the divested business
and potential liabilities that may arise under law because of the disposition or the subsequent failure of an acquiror. As a result, performance by the divested businesses or
other conditions outside of our control could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, we may indemnify a
counterparty in a divestiture for certain liabilities of the divested business or operations subject to the divestiture transaction. These liabilities, if they materialize, could have
a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR HUMAN CAPITAL, JOINT VENTURES AND SUBCONTRACTORS

Our success depends on attracting and retaining qualified personnel, joint venture partners and subcontractors in a competitive environment. The success of
our business is dependent on our ability to attract, develop and retain qualified personnel, joint venture partners, advisors and subcontractors. Changes in general or local
economic conditions and the resulting impact on the labor market and on our joint venture partners may make it difficult to attract or retain qualified individuals in the
geographic areas where we perform our work. If we are unable to provide competitive compensation packages, high-quality training programs and attractive work
environments or to establish and maintain successful partnerships, our reputation, relationships and/or ability to profitably execute our work could be adversely impacted.

Failure to maintain safe work sites could result in significant losses. Construction, mining and maintenance sites are potentially dangerous workplaces and often put
our employees and others in close proximity with mechanized equipment, moving vehicles, chemical and manufacturing processes, and highly regulated materials. On
many sites, we are responsible for safety and, accordingly, must implement safety procedures. If we fail to implement these procedures or if the procedures we implement
are ineffective, we may suffer the loss of or injury to our employees, as well as expose ourselves to possible litigation. Our failure to maintain adequate safety standards
through our safety programs could result in reduced profitability or the loss of projects or clients, and could have a material adverse impact on our financial position, results
of operations, cash flows and liquidity.

Strikes or work stoppages could have a negative impact on our operations and results. We are party to collective bargaining agreements covering a portion of our
craft workforce. Although strikes or work stoppages have not had

a significant impact on our operations or results in the past, such labor actions could have a significant impact on our operations and results if they occur in the future.
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e Failure of our subcontractors to perform as anticipated could have a negative impact on our results. As further described in “Contract Provisions and
Subcontracting” under “Item 1. Business,” we subcontract portions of many of our contracts to specialty subcontractors, but we are ultimately responsible for the successful
completion of their work. Although we seek to require bonding or other forms of guarantees, we are not always successful in obtaining those bonds or guarantees from our
higher-risk subcontractors. We may be responsible for the failures on the part of our subcontractors to perform as anticipated, resulting in a potentially adverse impact on
our cash flows and liquidity. In addition, the total costs of a project could exceed our original estimates and we could experience reduced profits or a loss for that project,
which could have an adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity.

« Our joint venture contracts subject us to risks and uncertainties, some of which are outside of our control. As further described in Note 1 of “Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements” and in “Joint Ventures” under “Item 1. Business,” we perform certain construction contracts as a limited or minority member of joint
ventures. Participating in these arrangements exposes us to risks and uncertainties, including the risk that if our partners fail to perform under joint and several liability
contracts, we could be liable for completion of the entire contract. In addition, if our partners are not able or willing to provide their share of capital investment to fund the
operations of the venture, there could be

unanticipated costs to complete the projects, financial penalties or liquidated damages. These situations could have a material adverse effect on our financial position,
results of operations, cash flows and liquidity.

To the extent we are not the controlling partner, we have limited control over many of the decisions made with respect to the related construction projects. These joint
ventures may not be subject to the same compliance requirements, including those related to internal control over financial reporting. While we have controls to mitigate the
risks associated with reliance on their control environment and financial information, to the extent the controlling partner makes decisions that negatively impact the joint
venture or internal control problems arise within the joint venture, it could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial position, results of operations, cash
flows and liquidity.

* We may be unable to identify and contract with qualified DBE contractors to perform as subcontractors. Certain of our government agency projects contain
minimum DBE participation clauses. Although we have programs in place to ensure compliance, if we fail to complete these projects with the minimum DBE participation,
we may be held responsible for breach of contract, which may include restrictions on our ability to bid on future projects as well as monetary damages. To the extent we are
responsible for monetary damages, the total costs of the project could exceed our original estimates, we could experience reduced profits or a loss for that project and there
could be a material adverse impact to our financial position, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity.

* We may be required to contribute cash to meet our unfunded pension obligations in certain multi-employer plans. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024,
three of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Granite Construction Company, Layne Christensen Company and Granite Industrial, Inc., participate in various domestic multi-
employer pension plans on behalf of union employees. Union employee benefits generally are based on a fixed amount for each year of service. We are required to make
contributions to certain plans in amounts established under collective bargaining agreements. Pension expense is recognized as contributions are made. The domestic
multi-employer pension plans are subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”). Under ERISA, a contributor to a multi-employer
plan may be liable, upon termination or withdrawal from a plan, for its proportionate share of a multi-employer plan’s unfunded vested liability. While we currently have no
intention of withdrawing from a plan and unfunded multi-employer pension obligations have not significantly affected our operations in the past, there can be no assurance
that we will not be required to make material cash contributions to one or more of these plans to satisfy certain underfunded benefit obligations in the future.

RISKS RELATED TO RESTATEMENTS

¢ We have restated our consolidated financial statements for certain prior periods, which has affected and may continue to affect our business, results of
operations and financial condition. \We previously restated unaudited quarterly financial information for the first three quarters of the year ended December 31, 2022 to
correct (a) errors related to deferred taxes and the calculation of income tax expense in connection with the sale of our trenchless and pipe rehabilitation services business
and (b) other immaterial errors. Additionally, we previously restated certain periods in 2019 and prior to correct misstatements associated with project forecasts in our former

Heavy Civil operating group, which is now part of our Central operating group. Taken collectively, such restatements:

¢ had and may continue to have the effect of eroding investor confidence in us and our financial reporting and accounting practices and processes;

¢ negatively impacted and may continue to negatively impact the trading price of our common stock;

* required that we incur significant expenses and may require that we incur significant additional expenses relating to any litigation or regulatory examinations,
investigations, proceedings, orders or indemnification claims;

« may make it more difficult, expensive and time consuming for us to raise capital, if necessary, on acceptable terms, if at all;

* may make it more difficult to pursue transactions or implement business strategies that might otherwise be beneficial to our business; and

* may negatively impact our reputation with our customers.

The occurrence or continued occurrence of any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

¢ In prior years we identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting in our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, which have been
remediated. If we identify material weaknesses in the future or otherwise fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to
accurately and timely report our financial results, investors may lose confidence in us and the market price of our common stock may decrease. As disclosed in
our Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2022, we identified material weaknesses, all of which have now been remediated. We
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may not be able to accurately and timely report our financial results and/or we may not be able to detect errors on a timely basis if in the future we: (1) identify one or more
material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting; (2) are unable to successfully remediate any future material weaknesses; (3) are unable to comply with
the requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner; or (4) are unable to assert, or our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to attest, that our internal
control over financial reporting is effective.This could result in: (i) our financial statements being materially misstated,; (ii) investors losing confidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports; (iii) the market price of our common stock decreasing; (iv) our liquidity and access to the capital markets being adversely affected; and
(v) our inability to maintain compliance with applicable stock exchange listing requirements and debt covenants. We could also become subject to stockholder or other third-
party litigation as well as investigations by the stock exchange on which our securities are listed, the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional
financial and management resources and could result in fines, penalties, trading suspensions or other remedies.

Further, because of its inherent limitations, even our remediated and effective internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in our conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with our policies or procedures may deteriorate.

We were involved in, and may in the future be subject to, litigation, regulatory examinations, investigations, proceedings or orders as a result of or relating to
the restatement of our financial statements and if any of these are resolved adversely against us, it could harm our business, results of operations and financial
condition. We were involved in, and may in the future be subject to, litigation, regulatory examinations, investigations, proceedings or orders, the assessment of civil
monetary penalties, equitable remedies or indemnification claims, and the expenses associated with such matters as a result of or relating to the restatement of our financial
statements and reported material weaknesses. Our management may be required to devote significant time and attention to these matters. We had, and may in the future
have, to incur significant expenses related to these matters and if any of these matters are resolved adversely against us, it could harm our business, results of operations
and financial condition.

RISKS RELATED TO LEGAL, REGULATORY, ACCOUNTING AND TAX ISSUES

Government contractors are subject to suspension or debarment from government contracting. Government contracts expose us to a variety of risks that differ from
those associated with private sector contracts. Various statutes and executive orders to which our operations are subject including, among others, the Davis-Bacon Act
(which regulates wages and benefits), the Walsh-Healy Act (which prescribes a minimum wage and regulates overtime and working conditions), Executive Order 11246
(which establishes equal employment opportunity and affirmative action requirements) and the Drug-Free Workplace Act, provide for mandatory suspension and/or
debarment of contractors in certain circumstances involving statutory violations. In addition, the Federal Acquisition Regulation

and various state statutes provide for discretionary suspension and/or debarment in certain circumstances that might call into question a contractor’s willingness or ability to
act responsibly, including as a result of being convicted of, or being found civilly liable for, fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain or
performing a public contract or subcontract. The scope and duration of any suspension or debarment may vary depending upon the facts and the statutory or regulatory
grounds for debarment and could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity.

We are involved in lawsuits, legal proceedings and indemnity claims in the ordinary course of our business and may in the future be subject to other litigation,
legal proceedings and claims, and, if any of these are resolved adversely against us, it could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Any litigation, other legal proceedings or indemnity claim could result in an unfavorable judgment that may not be reversed upon appeal or in payments of substantial
monetary damages or fines, or we may decide to settle lawsuits on similarly unfavorable terms, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations. We could also suffer an adverse impact on our reputation and a diversion of management's attention and resources, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Government contracts generally have strict regulatory requirements. Approximately 70% 75% of our construction-related revenue in 2023 2024 was derived from
contracts funded by federal, state and local

government agencies and authorities. Government contracts are subject to specific procurement regulations, contract provisions and a variety of socioeconomic
requirements relating to their formation, administration, performance and accounting and often include express or implied certifications of compliance. Claims for civil or
criminal fraud may be brought for violations of regulations, requirements or statutes. We may also be subject to qui tam litigation brought by private individuals on behalf of
the government under the Federal Civil False Claims Act, which could include claims for up to treble damages. Further, if we fail to comply with any of the regulations,
requirements or statutes or if we have a substantial number of accumulated Occupational Safety and Health Administration, Mine Safety and Health Administration or other
workplace safety violations, our existing government contracts could be terminated and we could be suspended from government contracting or subcontracting, including
federally funded projects at the state level. Should one or more of these events occur, it could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations,
cash flows and liquidity.

We are subject to environmental, health and safety and other regulation. As more fully described in “Government Regulations” under “Item 1. Business,” we are subject
to a number of federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations relating to the environment, including the remediation of soil and groundwater contamination, emission
and discharge of materials into the environment, reclamation and closure of operations, workplace health and safety and a variety of socioeconomic requirements and are
required to obtain and maintain a number of environmental approvals, permits and financial assurances. Noncompliance with such laws, regulations, approvals, permits and
financial assurances can result in, among other things, substantial penalties, or termination or suspension of government contracts or our operations as well as civil and
criminal liability. In addition, some environmental laws and regulations impose strict, joint and several liability and responsibility on present and former owners, operators or
users of facilities and sites, and entities that disposed or arranged for the disposal of hazardous substances at a third-party site, for contamination at such facilities and sites,
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without regard to causation or knowledge of contamination. We occasionally evaluate various alternatives with respect to our facilities, including possible dispositions or
closures. Investigations undertaken in connection with these activities may lead to discoveries of contamination that must be remediated, and closures of facilities may
trigger compliance requirements, including reclamation requirements, that may not be applicable to operating facilities. Environmental, health and safety requirements, laws
and regulations are becoming increasingly more stringent and there can be no assurance that these requirements, laws or regulations will not change and that compliance
with these requirements, laws and regulations will not materially adversely affect our operations in the future. Furthermore, from time to time, we have been involved in
remediation activities and we cannot provide assurance that existing or future circumstances or developments with respect to contamination will not require us to make
significant remediation or restoration expenditures.

* Increasing restrictions on securing aggregate reserves could negatively affect our future operations and results. Tighter regulations and the finite nature of property
containing suitable aggregate reserves are making it increasingly challenging and costly to secure aggregate reserves. Although we have thus far been able to secure
reserves to support our business, our financial position, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity may be adversely affected by an increasingly difficult permitting
process.

« Accounting for our revenues costs, goodwill and acquired intangible assets cost involves significant estimates.As further described in “Critical Accounting
Estimates” under “ltem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and in "Use of Estimates in Preparation of Financial Statements," and "Revenue Recognition” and "Goodwill" within Note 1
of the "Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements," accounting for our contract-related revenues and costs, as well as other expenses goodwill and acquired intangible
assets requires management to make a variety of significant estimates and assumptions. Also see "Intangible assets" within Note 2 of the "Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements."These assumptions and estimates may change significantly in the future and could result in the reversal of previously recognized revenue and profit
or material impairment charges. profit. Such changes or impairment charges could have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations.

* A change in tax laws or regulations of any federal, state or international jurisdiction in which we operate could increase our tax burden and otherwise adversely
affect our financial position, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity. We continue to assess the impact of various U.S. federal, state, local and international
legislative proposals that could result in a material increase to our U.S. federal, state, local and/or international taxes. We cannot predict whether any specific legislation will
be enacted or the terms of any such legislation. However, if such proposals were to be enacted, or if modifications were to be made to certain existing regulations, the
consequences could have a material adverse impact on us, including increasing our tax burden, increasing our cost of tax compliance or otherwise adversely affecting our
financial position, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity.

For example, the OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development) has proposed a global minimum tax of 15% of reported profits (Pillar 2)
that has been agreed upon in principle by over 140 countries. During 2023, many countries took steps to incorporate Pillar 2 model rule concepts into their
domestic laws. Although the model rules provide a framework for applying the minimum tax, countries may enact Pillar 2 slightly differently than the model rules
and on different timelines and may adjust domestic tax incentives in response to Pillar 2. Accordingly, we still are evaluating the potential consequences of Pillar
2 on our longer-term financial position.

« We may be exposed to liabilities under the FCPA and any determination that we or any of our subsidiaries has violated the FCPA could have a material adverse
effect on our business. The FCPA generally prohibits companies and their affiliates from making improper payment to non-U.S. officials for the purpose of obtaining or
retaining business. Our internal policies, procedures and Code of Conduct mandate compliance with these anti-corruption laws. However, we operate in one or more
countries known to experience corruption. Despite our training and compliance programs, we cannot provide assurance that our internal policies and procedures will always
protect us from violation of such anti-corruption laws committed by our affiliated entities or their respective officers, directors, employees and agents. We could also face
fines, sanctions and other penalties from authorities in the relevant foreign jurisdictions, including prohibition of participating in or curtailment of business operations in those
jurisdictions and the seizure of certain of our assets. Our customers in those jurisdictions could also seek to impose penalties or take other actions adverse to our interest. In
addition, we could face other third-party claims by, among others, our stockholders, debt holders or other interest holders or constituents. Violations of FCPA laws,
allegations of such violations and/or disclosure related to any relevant investigation could have a material adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations,
cash flows and liquidity for reasons including, but not limited to, an adverse effect on our reputation, our ability to obtain new business or retain existing business, to attract
and retain employees, to access the capital markets and/or could give rise to an event of default under the agreements governing our debt instruments.

* We restated our consolidated financial statements for certain prior periods, which affected and may continue to affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition. We previously restated unaudited quarterly financial information for the first three quarters of the year ended December 31, 2022 to correct (a) errors
related to deferred taxes and the calculation of income tax expense in connection with the sale of our trenchless and pipe rehabilitation services business and (b) other
immaterial errors. Additionally, we previously restated certain periods in 2019 and prior to correct misstatements associated with project forecasts in our former Heavy Civil
operating group. Taken collectively, such restatements:

« had and may continue to have the effect of eroding investor confidence in us and our financial reporting and accounting practices and processes;

* negatively impacted and may continue to negatively impact the trading price of our common stock;

* required that we incur significant expenses and may require that we incur significant additional expenses relating to any litigation or regulatory examinations,
investigations, proceedings, orders or indemnification claims;

* may make it more difficult, expensive and time consuming for us to raise capital, if necessary, on acceptable terms, if at all;

« may make it more difficult to pursue transactions or implement business strategies that might otherwise be beneficial to our business; and
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* may negatively impact our reputation with our customers.
The occurrence or continued occurrence of any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

* In prior years we identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting in our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, which have been
remediated. If we identify material weaknesses in the future or otherwise fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to
accurately and timely report our financial results, investors may lose confidence in us and the market price of our common stock may decrease. As disclosed in
our Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2022, we identified material weaknesses, all of which have now been remediated. We
may not be able to accurately and timely report our financial results and/or we may not be able to detect errors on a timely basis if in the future we: (1) identify one or more
material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting; (2) are unable to successfully remediate any future material weaknesses; (3) are unable to comply with
the requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner; or (4) are unable to assert, or our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to attest, that our internal
control over financial reporting is effective. This could result in: (i) our financial statements being materially misstated; (ii) investors losing confidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports; (iii) the market price of our common stock decreasing; (iv) our liquidity and access to the capital markets being adversely affected; and
(v) our inability to maintain compliance with applicable stock exchange listing requirements and debt covenants. We could also become subject to

stockholder or other third-party litigation as well as investigations by the stock exchange on which our securities are listed, the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which
could require additional financial and management resources and could result in fines, penalties, trading suspensions or other remedies.

Further, because of its inherent limitations, even our remediated and effective internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in our conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with our policies or procedures may deteriorate.

* We were involved in, and may in the future be subject to, litigation, regulatory examinations, investigations, proceedings or orders as a result of or relating to
the restatement of our financial statements and if any of these are resolved adversely against us, it could harm our business, results of operations and financial
condition. We were involved in, and may in the future be subject to, litigation, regulatory examinations, investigations, proceedings or orders, the assessment of civil
monetary penalties, equitable remedies or indemnification claims, and the expenses associated with such matters as a result of or relating to the restatement of our financial
statements and reported material weaknesses. Our management may be required to devote significant time and attention to these matters. We had, and may in the future
have, to incur significant expenses related to these matters and if any of these matters are resolved adversely against us, it could harm our business, results of operations
and financial condition.

RISKS RELATED TO INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

* Changes to our outsourced software or infrastructure vendors as well as any sudden loss, breach of security, disruption or unexpected data or vendor loss
associated with our information technology systems could have a material adverse effect on our business. We rely on third-party software and infrastructure to run
critical accounting, project management and financial information systems. If software or infrastructure vendors decide to discontinue further development, integration or
long-term maintenance support for our information systems, or there is any system interruption, delay, breach of security, loss of data or loss of a vendor, we may need to
migrate some or all of our accounting, project management and financial information to other systems. These disruptions could increase our operational expense as well as
impact the management of our business operations, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity.

* Cybersecurity incidents or breaches of our information technology environment could result in business interruptions, remediation costs and/or legal claims.
We have been experienced and may in the future be subject continue to face cybersecurity incidents, which may be through the use of including ransomware and other
forms of unauthorized access, of our digital data with the intent to misappropriate aimed at misappropriating information, corrupt corrupting data or cause causing operational
disruptions.

Additionally, the increased prevalence and use of artificial intelligence may heighten the risk that we may be subject to cybersecurity incidents in the future. If a failure of our
safeguarding cybersecurity defense measures were to occur, or if software or third-party vendors that support our information technology environment are compromised, it
could have a negative impact to our business and result in business interruptions, remediation costs and/or legal claims, which could have a material adverse effect on our
financial position, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity.

» Artificial intelligence presents risks and challenges that could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. As
of the date of this filing, we have developed pilot programs to implement certain third-party generative artificial intelligence (“Al”) and predictive analytics tools into our
systems for specific purposes. These tools presently include, without limitation, (i) a knowledge retention tool, (i) a risk detection tool and (iii) a virtual assistant tool. There is
a risk that such Al tools (or Al tools used without Company approval) will be used in a manner that does not adhere to our Al policy and/or may be misused by our
employees, vendors, or other third parties engaged by us. This, in turn, could result in the loss of confidential or proprietary information and subject us to competitive or
reputational harm, as well as potential regulatory investigations/actions and/or legal liability. Additionally, we may not be able to control — and may lack visibility into — how
third-party Al tools use, or Al features incorporated into third-party products that we use, are developed or maintained, or how such tools use, disclose and/or protect the
data we input, even where we have sought contractual protections with respect to these matters. Further, Al algorithms may be flawed, and the data used to train Al tools
may be inaccurate, incomplete or biased. As a result, the content, analysis or recommendations that these tools produce may be inaccurate, incomplete or biased and our
use of this information may
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have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Similarly, given the emerging ethical issues presented by the development and
use of Al tools, we expect that there will continue to be new laws or regulations concerning the use of Al that could impose on us certain obligations and costs related to
monitoring and compliance. Finally, we may not be successful in, and may lack sufficient resources to pursue, adopting and implementing Al tools to the same extent as our
competitors. If we are unable to adopt and implement these tools in a cost-effective, timely manner or at all, it could cause competitive harm and/or have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR CAPITAL STRUCTURE

e Failure to remain in compliance with covenants under our Credit Agreement, service our indebtedness, or fund our other liquidity needs could adversely impact
our business. Our failure to comply with any of the restrictive or financial covenants would constitute an event of default under our Credit Agreement. Our failure to pay
principal, interest or other amounts when due or within the relevant grace period on our 2.75% 3.25% Convertible Notes, our 3.75% Convertible Notes or our Credit
Agreement would constitute an event of default under the indenture governing our 2.75% 3.25% Convertible Notes, the indenture governing our 3.75% Convertible Notes or
the Credit Agreement. A default under our Credit Agreement could result in (i) us no longer being entitled to borrow under such facility; (ii) termination of such facility; (iii) the
requirement that any letters of credit under such facility be cash collateralized; (iv) acceleration of amounts owed under the Credit Agreement; and/or (v) foreclosure on any
collateral securing the obligations under such facility. A default under the indenture governing our 2.75% 3.25% Convertible Notes or the indenture governing our 3.75%
Convertible Notes could result in acceleration of the maturity of the notes. If we are unable to service our debt obligations as a result of rising or higher high interest rates or
any other reason or fund our other liquidity needs, we could be forced to curtail our operations, reorganize our capital structure (including through bankruptcy proceedings)
or liquidate some or all of our assets in a manner that could cause holders of our securities to experience a partial or total loss of their investment in us. See definition of
2.75% 3.25% Convertible Notes and 3.75% Convertible Notes in Note 14 to “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.”

« Servicing our debt requires a significant amount of cash, and we may not have sufficient cash flow from our business to pay our debt. Our ability to make
scheduled payments of the principal of, to pay interest on or to refinance our indebtedness, including our 2.75% 3.25% Convertible Notes and our 3.75% Convertible Notes
and the obligations under our Credit Agreement, depends on our future performance, which is subject to economic, financial, competitive and other factors beyond our
control. Additionally, borrowings under our Credit Agreement bear interest at a variable rate. As interest rates increase or remain high, our interest expense will also
increase or remain high if we continue to borrow or increase our borrowings under the credit facility. Our business may not continue to generate sufficient cash flow from
operations in the future to service our debt and make necessary capital expenditures. If we are unable to generate such cash flow, we may be required to adopt one or more
alternatives, such as selling assets, restructuring debt or obtaining additional equity capital on terms that may be onerous or highly dilutive. Our ability to refinance our
indebtedness will depend on the financial markets and our financial condition at such time. We may not be able to engage in any of these activities or engage in these
activities on desirable terms, which could result in a default on our debt obligations.

* Conversion of our 2.75% 3.25% Convertible Notes and our 3.75% Convertible Notes may dilute the ownership interest of existing stockholders and may affect
the trading price of our common stock. The 2.75% 3.25% Convertible Notes and the 3.75% Convertible Notes are convertible into shares of our common stock at the
option of the holders upon the occurrence of certain events and/or during certain periods. Upon conversion of the 2.75% Convertible Notes and the 3.75% Convertible
Notes, we will pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of our common stock or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock, at our election. Upon
conversion of the 3.25% Convertible Notes, we will settle the principal amount of the 3.25% Convertible Notes in cash, and any conversion premium in excess of the
principal amount in cash, shares of our common stock or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock, at our election. The issuance of shares of our common
stock upon conversion of our 2.75% 3.25% Convertible Notes and our 3.75% Convertible Notes may dilute the ownership interests of existing stockholders. Any sales in the
public market of our common stock issuable upon such conversion could adversely affect prevailing market prices of our common stock.

* The convertible note hedge and warrant capped call transactions related to our 2.75% 3.25% Convertible Notes and the capped call transactions related to our
3.75% Convertible Notes may affect the value of our common stock. In connection with our 2.75% 3.25% Convertible Notes offering we entered into convertible note
hedge transactions

and warrant transactions with option counterparties. Additionally, in connection with our 3.75% Convertible Notes offering, we entered into capped call transactions with
option counterparties. The convertible note hedge transactions and the capped call transactions are expected generally to reduce the potential dilution to our common stock
upon conversion of the 2.75% 3.25% Convertible Notes and the 3.75% Convertible Notes and/or offset any cash payments we elect or are required to make in excess of the
principal amount of converted notes,as the case may be. However, the warrant transactions could separately have a dilutive effect on our common stock to the extent that
the market price per share of our common stock exceeds the strike price of the warrants ($53.44 per share)

and we deliver shares of our common stock upon exercise of such warrants instead of paying cash. Further, if the market price per share of our common stock exceeds the
cap price ($79.83) of the capped call transactions ($79.83 for the capped call transactions related to the 3.75% Convertible Notes and $119.82 for the capped call
transactions related to our 3.25% Convertible Notes), there would nevertheless be dilution and/or there would not be an offset of such cash payments, in each case, to the
extent that such market price exceeds the cap price of the capped call transactions. Additionally, in connection with establishing their initial hedge of the convertible note
hedge and warrant transactions and the capped call transactions, the option counterparties may have entered into various derivative transactions with respect to our
common stock. The option counterparties may modify their hedge positions by entering into or unwinding various derivatives with respect to our common stock and/or
purchasing or selling our common stock or other securities of ours in secondary market transactions. This activity could cause or hinder an increase or a decrease in the
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market price of our common stock. The effect, if any, of these transactions and activities on the market price of our common stock will depend in part on market conditions
and cannot be ascertained at this time, but these activities could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

* We are subject to counterparty risk with respect to the capped call transactions and the convertible note hedge transactions. The option counterparties are
financial institutions or affiliates of financial institutions, and we are subject to the risk that one or more of such option counterparties may default under the capped call
transactions or convertible note hedge transactions. Our exposure to the credit risk of the option counterparties is not secured by any collateral. Past global economic
conditions, including recent increases in prevailing interest rates, have resulted in the actual or perceived failure or financial difficulties of many financial institutions. If any
option counterparty becomes subject to bankruptcy or other insolvency proceedings, we will become an unsecured creditor in those proceedings with a claim equal to our
exposure at that time under the capped call transaction or convertible note hedge transaction with such option counterparty, respectively. counterparty. Our exposure will
depend on many factors but, generally, an increase in our exposure will be positively correlated to an increase in our common stock market price and in the volatility of the
market price of our common stock. In addition, upon a default by an option counterparty, we may suffer adverse tax consequences and dilution with respect to our common
stock. We can provide no assurance as to the financial stability or viability of any option counterparty.

« The price of our common stock historically has been volatile. Our stock price may continue to be volatile and subject to significant price and volume fluctuations in
response to market and other factors, including the other factors discussed in “Risks Factors;” variations in our quarterly operating results from our expectations or those of
securities analysts or investors; downward revisions in securities analysts’ estimates; and announcement by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic
partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments. In addition, the sale or the availability for sale of a large number of shares of common stock in the public market could
cause the price of our common stock to decline.

« Delaware law and our charter documents may impede or discourage a takeover, which could reduce potential increases in the market price of our common
stock. We are a Delaware corporation, and the anti-takeover provisions of Delaware law impose various impediments to the ability of a third party to acquire control of us,
even if a change in control would be beneficial to our existing stockholders. In addition, our Board of Directors has the power, without stockholder approval, to designate the
terms of one or more series of preferred stock and issue shares of preferred stock. The ability of our Board of Directors to create and issue a new series of preferred stock
and certain provisions of Delaware law and our certificate of incorporation and bylaws could impede a merger, takeover or other business combination involving us or
discourage a potential acquirer from making a tender offer for our common stock, which, under certain circumstances, could reduce potential increases in the market price
of our common stock.

e Our bylaws include a forum selection clause, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us. Unless we
consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if and only if the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware
lacks subject matter jurisdiction, any state court located within the State of Delaware or, if and only if all such state courts lack subject matter jurisdiction, the federal district
court for the District of Delaware) shall be the sole and exclusive forum for the following types of actions or proceedings under Delaware statutory or common law: (a) any
derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of Granite; (b) any action asserting a breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director,

officer or other employee of Granite to Granite or its stockholders; (c) any action asserting a claim against Granite or any director or officer or other employee of Granite
arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law, Granite’s certificate of incorporation or bylaws; (d) any action or proceeding to interpret, apply,
enforce or determine the validity of Granite’s certificate of incorporation or bylaws (including any right, obligation, or remedy thereunder); (e) any action or proceeding as to
which the Delaware General Corporation Law confers jurisdiction to the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware; or (f) any action asserting a claim against Granite or
any director or officer or other employee of Granite that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine, in all cases to the fullest extent permitted by law and subject to the
court’s having personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants, except that the foregoing does not apply to suits brought to enforce a duty or
liability created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. Additionally, unless we consent in writing to the selection of
an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action
arising under the Securities Act of 1933, subject to and contingent upon a final adjudication in the State of Delaware of the enforceability of such exclusive forum provision.
The forum selection provision in our bylaws may limit our stockholders’ ability to pursue claims in a judicial forum of their choosing for disputes with us, our directors, officers
or employees. It is possible that, notwithstanding the forum selection clause included in our bylaws, a court could rule in specific circumstances that such a provision is
inapplicable or unenforceable, which could require that we defend claims in other forums.

RISKS RELATED TO CLIMATE CHANGE

e Physical, transition and regulatory risks related to climate change could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. Physical risks related to climate change, such as changing sea levels, temperature fluctuations, severe storms, and energy, supply chain and technological
disruptions, could cause delays and increases in project costs, resulting in variability in our revenue and profitability, as well as potentially adverse impacts to our operating
results and financial condition. In addition, growing public concern about climate change has resulted in the increased focus of local, state, regional, national and
international regulatory bodies on greenhouse gas emissions and climate change issues. Legislation to regulate greenhouse gas emissions has periodically been introduced
and passed by the U.S. Congress and the legislatures of various states in which we operate, and there has been a wide-ranging policy debate, both in the United States and
internationally, regarding the regulation of greenhouse gas emissions. Such policy changes, including any enactment of increasingly stringent emissions or other
environmental regulations, could increase the costs of supplies or projects for us and for our clients and, in some cases, delay or even prevent a project from going

forward, thereby potentially reducing demand for our services. Consequently, this could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
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* We may be unable to achieve our sustainability commitments and targets which could result in the loss of investors and customers, a negative impact to our
stock price and damage to our reputation. We are committed to advancing our environmental, social and governance sustainability strategy. However, achievement of
our sustainability commitments and targets is subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are outside of our control. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not
limited to: our ability to execute our operational strategies and achieve our goals within the currently projected costs and the expected timeframes; the availability and cost of
alternative fuels and electric vehicles, availability of renewable energy; unforeseen design, operational and technological difficulties; the outcome of research efforts and
future technology developments; compliance with, and changes or additions to, global, national, regional and local regulations, taxes, charges, mandates or requirements
relating to greenhouse gas emissions, carbon costs or climate-related goals; labor-related regulations and requirements that restrict or prohibit our ability to impose
requirements on third party contractors; adapting products to customer preferences and customer acceptance of sustainable supply chain solutions; and the actions of
competitors and competitive pressures.

There is no assurance that we will be able to successfully implement our strategies and achieve our targets. Investors have recently increased their focus on environmental,
social and governance matters, including practices related to greenhouse gas emissions and climate change. Additionally, an increasing percentage of the investment
community considers sustainability factors in making investment decisions. If we are unable to meet our commitments and targets and appropriately address sustainability
enhancement, we may lose investors, customers or partners, our stock price may be negatively impacted, our reputation may be negatively affected and it may be more
difficult for us to compete effectively, all of which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations, as well as on the price of our
common stock.

In addition, new laws, regulations and policies relating to matters such as sustainability, climate change, human capital and diversity, are being developed and formalized in
the United States, which may entail specific, target-driven frameworks and/or disclosure requirements. Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply fully with developing
interpretations of such laws and regulations could harm our business, reputation, financial condition and results of operations and require significant time and resources to
make the necessary adjustments.
The foregoing list is not all-inclusive. There can be no assurance that we have correctly identified and appropriately assessed all factors affecting our business or that the publicly
available and other information with respect to these matters is complete and correct. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe to be
immaterial may also adversely affect us. These developments could have material adverse effects on our business, financial condition, results of operations and liquidity. For these
reasons, the reader is cautioned not to place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

Item 1C. CYBERSECURITY

Our Board of Directors views the identification and effective management of cybersecurity threats as a critical component of overall risk management and oversight responsibilities
and has delegated responsibility for oversight of this risk to the Audit/Compliance Committee of the Board of Directors (the "Audit Committee”). The Audit Committee oversees the
management of risks arising from cybersecurity threats and regularly reports to the Board of Directors regarding cybersecurity. Our Risk Committee of the Board of Directors
oversees our enterprise risk management (“ERM”) process, and cybersecurity represents an important component of our overall approach to ERM. Our cybersecurity policies,
standards, processes and practices are based on recognized frameworks established by the National Institute of Standards and Technology and other applicable industry standards.
In general, we seek to address cybersecurity risks through a comprehensive, cross-functional approach that is focused on identifying, assessing, preventing and mitigating
cybersecurity threats and effectively responding to cybersecurity incidents when they occur.

Risk Management and Strategy

Our cybersecurity program is focused on the following key areas:

Governance: As discussed in more detail under the heading “Governance” below, the Board of Directors’ oversight of cybersecurity risk management is supported by the Audit
Committee, the Risk Committee, our Chief Information Officer (“CIO"), other members of management and management’s Cybersecurity Committee.

Technical Safeguards: We deploy technical safeguards that are designed to protect our information systems from cybersecurity threats, including firewalls, intrusion prevention and
detection systems, anti-malware functionality and access controls, which are evaluated and improved through vulnerability assessments and cybersecurity threat intelligence.

Incident Response Planning: We have established and maintain an incident response plan that outlines our response in the event of a cybersecurity incident.

Third-Party Assessments: We periodically assess and test our policies, standards, processes and practices that are designed to address cybersecurity threats and incidents. These
efforts include a wide range of activities, including audits, assessments, tabletop exercises, threat modeling, vulnerability testing and other exercises focused on evaluating the
effectiveness of our cybersecurity measures and planning. We regularly engage third parties to perform assessments on our cybersecurity measures, including information security
maturity assessments, audits and independent reviews of our information security control environment and operating effectiveness. The results of such assessments, audits and
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reviews are reported to the Audit Committee and, if warranted, the Board of Directors, and we adjust our cybersecurity policies, standards, processes and practices as necessary
based on the information provided by these assessments, audits and reviews.

Third-Party Risk Management: We review and evaluate material cybersecurity risks related to the use of third parties, including vendors, service providers and other external users
of our systems.

Education and Awareness: We provide regular training regarding cybersecurity threats as a means to equip our employees with effective tools to address cybersecurity threats, and
to communicate our evolving information security policies, standards, processes and practices.

Goverhance

The Audit Committee receives regular presentations and reports from management on cybersecurity risks, which address a wide range of topics including recent developments,
evolving standards, vulnerability assessments, third-party and independent reviews, the threat environment, technological trends and information security considerations. The Audit
Committee then provides regular reports to the Board of Directors. The Risk Committee also receives timely updates on material and potentially material cybersecurity matters from
management as part of the ERM process. The Audit Committee and the Board of Directors also receive timely information regarding any cybersecurity incident that meets
established reporting thresholds, as well as ongoing updates regarding any such incident until it has been resolved.

The CIO, who acts as our chief information security officer, leads our Cybersecurity Committee. The Cybersecurity Committee is a multidisciplinary team of corporate and
operational leaders who work collaboratively to implement a program designed to protect our information systems from cybersecurity threats and to promptly respond to any
cybersecurity incidents in accordance with our incident response plan. The Cybersecurity Committee reports to our Chief Executive Officer (“CEQO”), Chief Financial Officer (“CFQO”),
Chief Operating Officer (“COQ"), Senior Vice President,

Human Resources ("SVP HR") and Senior Vice President and General Counsel. The CIO, working together with a team of cybersecurity professionals and third-party consultants,
monitors the prevention, detection, mitigation and remediation of cybersecurity threats and incidents, and reports such threats and incidents to the senior leadership team when
appropriate.

Our CIO has served in various roles in information technology and information security for over 25 years, including serving as the Head of Cybersecurity for public and private
companies. Our CIO holds an undergraduate degree in computer science and has attained a professional certification in Cybersecurity Governance. The Cybersecurity team
(including the CIO) have a combined 80+ years of has extensive cybersecurity experience and hold multiple certifications across the cybersecurity landscape. Our CEO, CFO, COO,
SVP HR and Senior Vice President and General Counsel each hold undergraduate degrees, graduate degrees or professional certifications in their respective fields, and each have
significant experience managing risk.

Cybersecurity Risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any previous cybersecurity incidents, have not materially affected, and we do not believe are not reasonably
likely to materially affect, us, including our business strategy, results of operations or financial condition. However, due to evolving cybersecurity threats, it may not be possible to
anticipate, prevent or stop future cybersecurity incidents, including attacks on our information systems and data or those of our relevant business partners. See "Risks Related to
Information Technology" in Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Item 2. PROPERTIES
Quarry Properties
We own or lease quarry properties that contain mineral resources that we extract and process into construction materials.

As defined by the SEC, mineral resources are a concentration or occurrence of material of economic interest in or on the earth’s crust in such form, grade or quality and quantity that
there are reasonable prospects for economic extraction. A mineral resource is a reasonable estimate of mineralization, taking into account relevant factors such as cut-off grade,
likely mining dimensions, location or continuity, that, with the assumed and justifiable technical and economic conditions, is likely to, in whole or in part, become economically
extractable.

As defined by the SEC, mineral reserves are an estimate of tonnage and grade or quality of indicated and measured mineral resources that, in the opinion of a qualified person, as
defined by the SEC, can be the basis of an economically viable project. More specifically, it is the economically mineable part of a measured or indicated mineral resource, which
includes diluting materials and allowances for losses that may occur when the material is mined or extracted.

Our mineral resources and reserves are based on estimates made by qualified persons who are employees of the Company and are based primarily on geological evidence,
sampling and testing and appropriate modifying factors. Amounts presented in the tables below are based on various assumptions to determine estimated economically mineable
tons including site specific prices for sand and gravel and hard rock between $5 - $40 per ton. The price per ton estimates use a saleable product (i.e., materials that are ready for
sale) as a point of reference and are escalated over time by the Producer’s Price Index for Construction Sand, Gravel and Crushed Stone (product 1321). Pricing for aggregates
tend to remain similar for long periods of time; therefore, we use current pricing to estimate prices and we reassess at least annually to verify there have not been material changes.
Changes to the estimates and assumptions from those currently anticipated could have a material impact on the mineral resource and mineral reserve estimates.

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we had open pit quarry properties available for the extraction of sand, gravel and hard rock. Our Materials segment uses these quarry
properties to extract and process sand, gravel and hard rock into construction material for internal use in our construction projects and for sale to third parties. As of December 31,
2023 December 31, 2024, we had all the permits necessary to mine and process sand, gravel and hard rock at our active quarry properties. As of December 31, 2023 December 31,
2024, no individual mining operation was considered material to our business or financial condition. Annual production of aggregates for all mining properties was 18.7 million tons,
17.5 million tons, 16.3 million tons, and 16.0 16.3 million tons during the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively. The following
map shows the approximate locations of our permitted quarry properties as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024:
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California and Utah are the only states/provinces that individually comprise more than 10% of our total mining operations. The following tables present information about our quarry
properties as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 (tons in millions):

Resources and
Reserves for Each

Product Type
(tons)
State/Province
State/Province
Number Sand Sand
of & Owned Leased Number of & Hard Owned Leased
State/Province Properties Gravel Hard Rock 1) (2) Acreage Properties Gravel Rock 1) (2) Acreage
California California 31 475.3 285.0 285.0 58 58% 429% 10,498 California 31505.4 430.2 430.2 63 63% 37 % 10,3
Utah Utah 10 117.3 37.4 374 64 64% 36 % 1,497 Utah 101119 36.7 36.7 67 67% 33% 14
All other All other All other
states/provinces states/provinces 57 187.4 187.3 187.3 53 53% 47% 14,712 states/provinces 62 208.6 259.5 259.5 45 45 % 55 % 17,3
Total Total 98 780.0 509.7 509.7 61 61% 39% 26,707 Total 103 825.9 726.4 726.4 58 58%  429% 29,1

(1) Owned properties are properties we own or in which we have, or it is probable that we will have, a direct or indirect economic interest.

(2) Leases are defined as properties where we operate, or it is probable we will operate, under a lease or other legal agreement that grants us ownership or similar rights that authorize us, as principal,
to sell or otherwise dispose of the mineral and includes properties that we sublease and from which we receive royalties, which are both considered immaterial. Our leases have terms which range
from month-to-month to 50 years with most including an option to renew.

The life cycle of mining sand, gravel and hard rock begins with exploration and continues through development and production. After a sand, gravel and hard rock deposit has been

identified through exploration, the mine is developed

before production begins. The following table presents the number of properties in each respective stage as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 for all mining properties:

State/Province State/Province Exploration Development Production State/Province Exploration Development Production
California California 8 3 20 California 5 4 22
Utah Utah 1 2 7 Utah 1 2 7
All other states/provinces All other states/provinces 11 7 39 All other states/provinces 6 9 47
Total

Mineral Resources

The table below presents information on measured, indicated and inferred mineral resources. Estimates of measured mineral resources are based on conclusive geological
evidence, sampling and testing and may be converted to a proven mineral reserve or to a probable mineral reserve. Estimates of indicated mineral resources are based on
adequate geological evidence, sampling and testing and may only be converted to a probable mineral reserve when sufficient evidence is identified including consideration of
modifying factors such as mining, processing, economic and environmental factors. Modifying factors are the factors that a qualified person must apply to indicated and measured
mineral resources and then evaluate to establish the economic viability of mineral reserves. Estimates of inferred mineral resources have significant geological uncertainty based on
limited geological evidence, sampling and testing and therefore may not be converted to a mineral reserve.

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, our qualified persons estimated our measured, indicated and inferred resources to be approximately 277.0494.9 million tons. As of
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, California and Utah were the only individual states/provinces that comprised more than 10% of our total mining operations. The Wine
Group, and Aerojet North White Rock and Coalinga Section 30 were the only mines that comprised 10% or more of our combined measured and indicated mineral resources for
sand and gravel and the Euer Ranch was and Bamberton Quarry were the only mine mines that comprised 10% or more of our combined measured and indicated mineral

resources for hard rock. The following table presents information about our mineral resources at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 (tons in millions):
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Measured Mineral

Resources

Measured Mineral

Resources

Measured +

Resources

Resources

Inferred
Mineral

Resources

Measured Mineral Resources

Amount

Amount (tons) (tons)

Sand and
Gravel:
California
California
California
The Wine Group
The Wine Group
The Wine Group
Aerojet
North White
Rock
Coalinga
Section 30
All other
California
Total
California

Utah

All other states/provinces

All other states/provinces

Sand

All other All other and

states/provinces states/provinces 9.0 Gravel
Total
Hard Rock:
Hard Rock:
Hard Rock:
California
California
California
Euer Ranch
Euer Ranch
Euer Ranch
All other
California
Total
California

Utah
Bamberton Quarry (Canada) 424

All other Al other Hard

states/provinces states/provinces 10.2  Rock
Total

Grand Total

Rock

Grades /
qualities

(1)

Sand

Gravel

Hard

Hard
Rock

25

3.0

Grades /
Amount qualities

(tons) (1)

Sand Sand
and and

Gravel Gravel

Hard
Rock

Amount

(tons)

Sand
and

12.0  Gravel

Hard
Rock
Hard

10.2 Rock

Grades /
qualities

(1)

Sand and

Gravel

Hard Rock

Amount

(tons)

Sand

and

8.4 Gravel

33.0

Hard
Rock
Hard
Rock

Grades /
qualities Amount

1) (tons)

Sand Sand
and and
Gravel

126  Gravel

Hard All other

Rock states/provinces — —

(1) The grade of product produced is contingent on market needs. Sites typically sell base products that range from low to high grades including fill materials, base aggregates, hot mix aggregates and

concrete aggregates.
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Mineral Reserves

Mineral reserves are divided into proven and probable mineral reserves. Proven mineral reserves are the economically mineable part of a measured mineral resource and can only
result from the conversion of a measured mineral resource. Proven mineral resources are determined by a qualified person through the testing of samples obtained from closely
spaced subsurface drilling and/or exposed pit faces, and are sufficiently understood so that quantity, quality and engineering conditions are known with sufficient accuracy to be
mined without the need for any further subsurface work. Probable mineral reserves are the economically mineable part of an indicated, and in some cases, a measured mineral
resource. Probable mineral reserves are determined through the testing of samples obtained from subsurface drilling, but the sample points are too widely spaced to allow detailed
prediction of quantity, quality and engineering conditions. Additional subsurface work may be needed prior to mining the reserve.

The modifying factors applied in the conversion of measured and indicated mineral resources to proven and probable mineral reserves during the year ended December 31,
2023 December 31, 2024 included various relevant technical and economic factors, including site infrastructure, mine design and planning, processing plant and environmental
compliance and permitting. The basis of determining the modifying factors was a combination of historical experience mining aggregates and observation.

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, our qualified persons estimated our proven and probable reserves to be approximately 1.0 billion 1.1 billion tons. Waste factors for
proven and probable reserves range up to 44% depending on the deposit type, market characteristics and extraction feasibility. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024,
California and Utah were the only individual states/provinces that comprised more than 10% of our total mining operations, Coalinga, was Solari and Grantsville were the only

mine mines that comprised 10% or more of our mineral reserves for sand and gravel and Handley Quarry, was Lockwood Mustang and Bamberton Quarry were the only mine mines
that comprised 10% or more of our mineral

reserves for hard rock. The following table presents information about mineral reserves at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 (tons in millions):

Proven Mineral Probable Mineral Total Mineral Proba
Reserves Proven Mineral Reserves Reserves Reserves Proven Mineral Reserves Re
Grades / Grades / Grades /
Amount qualities Amount qualities Amount qualities Amount Grade
Amount (tons) (tons) (1) (tons) (1) (tons) (1) (tons) qualitie
Sand and
Gravel:
California
California
California
Coalinga
Coalinga
Sand Sand
and Sand and Sand and Sand and Sand and and
Coalinga 116.8 Gravel Gravel — — — 116.8 116.8 Gravel Gravel 115.5 Gravel Gravel
Sand Sand
and and Sand and
Solari 106.4 Gravel 8.2 Gravel 114.6 Gravel
Sand Sand
All other Al other and Sand and Sand and Sand and Sand and Sand and and N
California California 232.6 Gravel Gravel 7.6 Gravel Gravel  240.2 Gravel Gravel All other California 148.1 Gravel
Total
California
Sand
and Sand and Sand and Sand and Sand and Sand and
Utah Utah 113.3 Gravel Gravel 0.1 Gravel Gravel 1134 Gravel Gravel
Grantsville
Grantsville
Sand
and Sand and
Grantsville 99.0 Gravel — — 99.0 Gravel
Sand Sand
and and Sand and
All other Utah 12.8 Gravel 0.1 Gravel 12.9 Gravel
Total Utah
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Sand Sand
All other All other and Sand and Sand and Sand and Sand and Sand and and N
states/provinces states/provinces 151.8 Gravel Gravel 15.2 Gravel Gravel 167.0 Gravel Gravel All other states/provinces 130.6 Gravel
Total
Hard Rock:
Hard Rock:
Hard Rock:
California
California
California
Handley Quarry
Handley Quarry
Hard Hard Hard
Handley Quarry 1443 Rock Rock — — — 1443 1443 Hard Rock Hard Rock 144.0 Hard Rock Rock
All other Al other Hard Hard All other Hard
California California  59.1  Rock Rock — — —| 59.1 BRSO Hard Rock Hard Rock California 58.2 Rock Harc
Total
California
Hard Hard Hard
Utah Utah 27.8 Rock Rock — — — 278 278 Hard Rock Hard Rock Utah 2714l Rock Harc
Hard Hard
Lockwood Mustang (Nevada) 17.7 Rock 32.0 Rock 49.7 Hard Rock
Hard
Bamberton Quarry (Canada) 39.8 Rock — — 3938 Hard Rock
All other Al other Hard Hard Hard Hard Hard
states/provinces states/provinces 78.5  Rock Rock 65.6 Hard Rock Rock 144.1 Rock Hard Rock All other states/provinces 20.6 Rock H
Total
Grand
Total

(1) The grade of product produced is contingent on market needs. Sites typically sell base products that range from low to high grades including fill materials, base aggregates, hot mix aggregates and

concrete aggregates.

Internal controls

Mining operations include risk in estimation of mineral reserves and mineral resources that could be impacted by unforeseen geologic circumstances, changes in regulation or
changes in sales and customers. The risk that these estimates would be unreasonable based on the known information is mitigated by the following internal controls that we use in
our exploration and mineral resource and mineral reserve estimation efforts:

< quality control and quality assurance programs including management identifying the qualified person(s) with the appropriate background and qualifications to prepare the
information used for disclosure purposes;
« verification of analytical procedures including management reviewing the mineral resource and reserve report information for completeness, accuracy and appropriateness,

such as categorization, inclusion of technical, economic and operational factors, discounted cash flow analysis inputs, assumptions and calculations, and mining,

metallurgical, legal, environmental social compliance and governmental modifying factors as well as comparison of estimates to historic production and prior period

estimates; and

« review of disclosures to ensure compliance with requirements.

Plant Properties

We operate plants at our quarry sites to process aggregates into construction materials. Some of our sites may have more than one crushing, concrete or asphalt processing plant.
The following table presents the number of plants we owned and leased as of the respective dates:

December 31, December 31, 2023 2022 December 31, 2024 2023
Aggregate crushing plants Aggregate crushing plants 35 28 Aggregate crushing plants 40 35
Asphalt concrete plants (1) Asphalt concrete plants (1) 59 48 Asphalt concrete plants (1) 59
Cement concrete batch plants Cement concrete batch plants 6 5 Cement concrete batch plants 10 6
Asphalt rubber plants Asphalt rubber plants 4 5 Asphalt rubber plants 4
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Lime slurry plants

Lime slurry plants

6 Lime slurry plants 6

(1) Three of our asphalt concrete plants were operated under lease agreements for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

These plants are used by both of our reportable segments.

Other Properties

The following table provides our estimate of certain information about other properties as of December 31, 2023:

Land Area (acres)

Buildings (square feet)

Office and shop space (owned and leased)

The office and shop space is used by both of our reportable segments.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

1,217 1,617,556

The description of the matters set forth in Note 20 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

The information concerning mine safety violations or other regulatory matters required by Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and
Item 104 of Regulation S-K (17CFR 229.104) is included in Exhibit 95 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

PART Il

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol GVA. As of February 16, 2024 February 7, 2025, 43,972,294 43,434,583 shares of our common
stock were outstanding and held by 636 595 shareholders of record. We have paid quarterly cash dividends since the second quarter of 1990, and we expect to continue to do so.

The following table sets forth information regarding the repurchase of shares of our common stock during the three months ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024:

Total number of

Total number of Approximate dollar
shares purchased as  value of shares that
part of publicly may yet be

Average price paid announced plans or  purchased under the

Period shares purchased (1) per share programs plans or programs (2)

October 1, 2023 through October 31, 2023 3,454 $ 36.26 — $ 231,535,405

November 1, 2023 through November 30, 2023 572 $ 45.63 — $ 231,535,405

December 1, 2023 through December 31, 2023 1,451 $ 50.08 — $ 231,535,405
5477 $ 40.90 —

Total number of shares  Approximate dollar value
purchased as part of of shares that may yet be

Total number of Average price paid  publicly announced plans purchased under the
Period shares purchased (1) per share or programs plans or programs (2)
October 1, 2024 through October 31, 2024 2,946 $ 82.05 — $ 218,187,374
November 1, 2024 through November 30, 2024 66,405 $ 96.69 65,625 $ 211,834,376
December 1, 2024 through December 31, 2024 237,378 $ 95.13 234,175 $ 189,545,664
306,729 $ 95.34 299,800

(1) The number of Includes 2,946, 780 and 3,203 shares purchased was during October, November and December, respectively, in connection with employee tax withholding for restricted stock units

vested under our equity incentive plans.

(2) As announced on February 3, 2022, on February 1, 2022, the Board of Directors authorized us to purchase up to $300.0 million of our common stock at management's discretion. The specific

timing and amount of any future purchases will vary based on market conditions, securities law limitations and other factors.
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative five-year total return provided to Granite Construction Incorporated’s common stockholders relative to the cumulative total returns of
the S&P 500 index and the Dow Jones U.S. Heavy Construction index. The Dow Jones U.S. Heavy Construction index includes the following companies: AECOM, APi Group
Corporation, EMCOR Group Inc, MDU Resources Group Inc, MasTec Inc, Quanta Services Inc, Valmont Industries Inc and Willscot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp. Certain of these
companies differ from Granite in that they derive more revenue and profit from non-U.S. operations and have customers in different markets. The graph tracks the

performance of a $100 investment in our common stock and in each index (with the reinvestment of all dividends) from December 31, 2018 December 31, 2019 through December
31, 2023 December 31, 2024.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Granite Construction Incorporated, the S&P 500 Index

and the Dow Jones US Heavy Construction Index
#1975

*$100 invested on 12/31/18 19 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year ending December 31.
Item 6. RESERVED

Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
General

We deliver infrastructure solutions for public and private clients primarily in the United States. We are one of the largest diversified, construction vertically integrated civil contractors
and construction materials companies producers in the United States. Within the public sector, we primarily concentrate on infrastructure projects, including the construction of
streets, roads, highways, mass transit facilities, airport infrastructure, bridges, dams, power-related facilities, utilities, tunnels, water well drilling and other infrastructure-related
projects. Within the private sector, we perform various services such as site preparation, mining services and infrastructure services for commercial and industrial sites, railways,
residential development, energy development, as well as provide construction management professional services. We own and lease aggregate reserves and own processing
plants that are vertically integrated into our construction operations and we also produce construction materials for sale to third parties.

We have vertically integrated operations across Alaska, Arizona, California, Mississippi, Nevada, Oregon, Tennessee, Utah and Washington in addition to regional civil construction
home markets in lllinois, Florida and Texas. Our Construction segment also operates national businesses within the Tunnel division, the Rail division, the Federal division, which
performs civil construction across the continental United States and Guam, the Industrial & Energy division, which primarily focuses on commercial solar construction projects, and
the Layne division, which performs water well drilling, rehabilitation services and mineral exploration services.

Our reportable segments are the same as our operating segments and correspond with how our chief operating decision maker, or decision-making group (our “CODM"), regularly
reviews financial information to allocate resources and assess performance. We identified our CODM as our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Operating Officer. Our reportable
segments are: Construction and Materials. The Construction segment focuses on construction and rehabilitation of roads, pavement preservation, bridges, rail lines, airports, marine
ports, dams, reservoirs, aqueducts, infrastructure and site development for use by the general public and water-related construction for municipal agencies, commercial water
suppliers, industrial facilities and energy companies. It also provides construction of various complex projects including infrastructure / site development, mining, public safety,
tunnel, solar, battery storage and other power-related projects. The Materials segment focuses on production of aggregates, asphalt concrete, liquid asphalt and recycled materials
production

for internal use in our construction projects and for sale to third parties. See Note 21 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for additional information about our
reportable segments.

In addition During the first quarter of 2024, we reorganized our operational structure to more closely align with our two reportable segments, Construction and Materials. Previously,
leaders within our three former operating groups of California, Central and Mountain managed both Construction and Materials operations within each group. This change allows us
to better leverage our expertise within each reportable segment with leadership having direct oversight of their respective segment operations. As a result of the reorganization, we
also review our business will no longer disclose financial information by operating groups. In alphabetical order, group. There were no material impacts to our operating groups are
as follows:
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¢ California, which is comprised of vertically integrated businesses in home markets across the state;

« Central, which includes the vertically integrated Arizona region consolidated financial statements and regional civil construction businesses in lllinois, Florida and Texas. The
Central group also includes the Federal division which performs civil construction across the continental United States and Guam, and the Tunnel division; and

¢ Mountain, which is comprised of vertically integrated regional businesses in Alaska, Washington, Oregon, Utah and Nevada. The Mountain Group also includes national
businesses in the Industrial & Energy division, which primarily focuses on commercial solar construction projects, Water Resources, which performs water well drilling and
rehabilitation services and Mineral Services, which performs mineral exploration services for mining clients.no changes to our reportable segments.

The five primary economic drivers of our business are (i) the overall health of the U.S. economy including access to resources (labor, supplies and subcontractors); (ii) federal, state
and local public funding levels; (iii) population growth resulting in public and private development; (iv) the need to build, replace or repair aging infrastructure; and (v) the pricing of
certain commodity related products. A stagnant or declining economy will generally result in reduced demand for construction and construction materials in the private sector. This
reduced demand increases competition for private sector projects and will ultimately also increase competition in the public sector as companies migrate from bidding on scarce
private sector work to projects in the public sector. In addition, a stagnant or declining economy tends to produce less tax revenue for public agencies, thereby decreasing a source
of funds available for spending on public infrastructure improvements. Some funding sources that have been specifically earmarked for infrastructure spending, such as diesel and
gasoline taxes, are not as directly affected by a stagnant or declining economy, unless actual consumption is reduced or gasoline sales tax revenues decline consistent with fuel
prices. However, even these can be temporarily at risk as federal, state and local governments take actions to balance their budgets. Conversely, increased levels of public funding
as well as an expanding or robust economy will generally increase demand for our services and products and provide opportunities for revenue growth and margin improvement.

Critical Accounting Estimates Estimate

The financial statements included in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Our estimates and related judgments and assumptions are continually evaluated based
on available information and experiences; however, actual amounts could differ from those estimates.

The following are our most We consider revenue recognition a critical accounting estimates that involve estimate. It involves significant management judgment and can have
significant effects on significantly affect our reported results of operations.

Revenue Recognition

Our revenue is primarily derived from construction contracts that can span several quarters or years in our Construction segment and from sales of construction related materials in
our Materials segment. We recognize revenue in accordance with ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and subsequently issued additional related ASUs. The
accuracy of our revenue and profit recognition in a given period depends on the accuracy of our estimates of the forecasted revenue and cost to complete each project. Cost
estimates for all of our significant projects use a detailed “bottom up”

approach. There are a number of factors that can contribute to changes in estimates of contract cost and profitability. The most significant of these include:

» changes in costs of labor and/or materials;

* subcontractor costs, availability and/or performance issues;

« extended overhead and other costs due to owner, weather and other delays;

« changes in productivity expectations;

« changes from original design on design-build projects;

« our ability to fully and promptly recover on affirmative claims and back charges for additional contract costs;
« achange in the availability and proximity of equipment and materials;

e complexity in original design;

* length of time to complete the project;

« the availability and skill level of workers in the geographic location of the project;

« site conditions that differ from those assumed in the original bid;

* costs associated with scope changes; and

« the customer’s ability to properly administer the contract.
The foregoing factors, as well as the stage of completion of contracts in process and the mix of contracts at different margins may cause fluctuations in gross profit and gross profit
margin from period to period. Significant changes in revenue and cost estimates, particularly in our larger, more complex, multi-year projects have had, and in the future could have,
a significant effect on our profitability. Due to the number of factors that can contribute to changes in estimates of contract cost and profitability, the sensitivity of reported amounts to
the assumptions underlying the estimate’s calculation is not reasonably available or meaningful. However, Note 3 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” presents the
impact material revisions in estimates had on the periods covered by this report.

Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of amounts paid over the fair value of net assets acquired from an acquisition. In order to determine the amount of goodwill resulting from an
acquisition, we perform an assessment to determine the value of the acquired company’s tangible and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities. In our assessment, we determine
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whether identifiable intangible assets exist, which typically include customer relationships, backlog and trademarks/trade names. The determination of fair values of assets acquired
and liabilities assumed requires us to make estimates and use valuation techniques when a market value is not readily available.

We test goodwill for impairment annually, as of November 1, for each reporting unit and more frequently when events occur or circumstances change which suggest that goodwill
should be evaluated. Examples of such events or circumstances include, but are not limited to, the following:

« asignificant adverse change in the business climate;

« asignificant adverse change in legal factors or an adverse action or assessment by a regulator;
« amore likely than not expectation that a segment or a significant portion thereof will be sold; or
» the testing for recoverability of a significant asset group within the segment.

Goodwill is evaluated for impairment either by assessing qualitative factors or by performing a quantitative assessment. Qualitative factors, such as overall financial performance,
industry or market considerations, or other relevant events, are assessed to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting units is less than their carrying
amounts. During a quantitative impairment test, we calculate the estimated fair value of the reporting unit in which the goodwill is recorded using the discounted cash flows and
market multiple methods, and compare that amount to the carrying value of that reporting unit. In the event the fair value of the reporting unit is determined to be less than the
carrying value, goodwill is impaired, and an impairment loss is recognized equal to the excess, limited to the total amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit.

The impairment evaluation process includes, among other things, making assumptions about variables such as the determination of appropriate discount rates, the amount and
timing of expected future cash flows, revenue and margin growth rates, and appropriate benchmark companies, which are subject to a high degree of judgment.

There are inherent uncertainties related to each of the above listed assumptions, and our judgment in applying them. Changes in the assumptions used in our goodwill and
intangible assets valuations could result in impairment charges that could be material to our consolidated financial statements in any given period. Note 1 of “Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements” includes further information about our long-lived assets and goodwill including the impact of impairments on the periods covered by this report,
which are not material. We have not materially changed our estimation methodology during the periods presented.

Current Economic Environment and Outlook

Funding for our public work projects, which accounts account for approximately 80% of our portfolio, is dependent on federal, state, regional and local revenues. At the federal level,
the continued rollout of the $1.2 trillion Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (“IlJA”) has increased federal highway, bridge and transit funding to its highest level in more than six
decades with $550 billion in incremental funding over five years. We believe that the The increased multi-year spending commitment has improved the programming visibility for
state and local governments and drove has driven an increase in project lettings starting that started in 2023, that continued in 2024 and we believe will continue in 2024 carry into
2025 and beyond.

At state, regional and local levels, voter-approved state and local transportation measures continue to support infrastructure spending. While each market is unique, we see a strong
funding environment at the state and local levels aided by the IIJA. In California, our top revenue-generating state, despite overall budgetary concerns, a significant part of the state
infrastructure spend is funded through Senate Bill 1 (SB-1), the Road Repair and Accountability Act of 2017, which is a 10-year, $54.2 billion program, which may only be used for
transportation-related purposes, without any sunset provisions.

Over the recentlast several years, inflation, supply chain and labor constraints have had a significant impact on the global economy including the construction industry in the United
States. While it is impossible to fully eliminate the impact of these factors, where practicable, we have applied proactive measures such as fixed forward purchase contracts of oil
related inputs, energy surcharges, and adjustment of project schedules for constraints related to construction materials such as concrete. While we actively work to mitigate the
impacts of oil price inflation, further price increases may adversely impact us in the future.

Our Committed and Awarded Projects (“CAP") balance continues to be strong with $5.5 billion at $5.3 billion at the end of the fourth quarter of 2023. 2024. Our CAP is supported by
a positive public funding environment and resilient private market which we believe will provide further opportunities for continued CAP growth in 2024. 2025.

Strategic Actions Acquisitions

On March 16, 2022 August 9, 2024, we sold our trenchless acquired Dickerson & Bowen, Inc. ("D&B"). D&B is an aggregates, asphalt, and pipe rehabilitation services business
(“Inliner”) for a purchase price of $159.7 million, subject to certain adjustments. As a result of the sale highway construction company serving central and post-closing adjustments,
we received cash proceeds of $140.6 million and recognized a gain of $1.8 million.

On April 24, 2023, we completed the purchase of Coast Mountain Resources (2020) Ltd. (“CMR”") for $26.6 million. CMR is a construction aggregate producer based in British
Columbia, Canada operating on Malahat First Nation land. This acquisition did not have a material impact on our results of operations. southern Mississippi.

On November 30, 2023 (“acquisition date”), we completed the acquisition of acquired Lehman-Roberts Company and Memphis Stone & Gravel Company (collectively, "LRC/MSG")
for $278.0 million, subject to customary closing adjustments, plus an estimated amount related to tax make-whole agreements with the seller. We purchased all of the outstanding
equity interests in LRC/MSG and the purchase price was funded by our new $150.0 million senior secured term loan, as described further in Note 14 of "Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements,” a draw of $100 million under our existing revolver and cash on hand. The acquired businesses are longstanding asphalt paving and asphalt and aggregates
producers and suppliers.. LRC/MSG operates strategically located asphalt plants and sand and gravel mines serving the greater Memphis area and northern Mississippi. LRC/MSG
has exclusive rights

On April 24, 2023, we acquired Coast Mountain Resources (2020) Ltd. which changed its name to an estimated 57 million tons Granite Infrastructure Canada, Ltd. ("Granite
Canada") on May 13, 2024. Granite Canada is a construction aggregate producer based in British Columbia, Canada operating on Malahat First Nation land.

The results of proven and probable reserves and 24 million tons operations of measured and indicated reserves. these businesses are included in our consolidated financial
statements from the dates of acquisition which impacts comparability to the applicable prior periods.
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See Note 1 and Note 2 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for further information.

Results of Operations

Our operations are typically affected more by inclement weather conditions during the first and fourth quarters of our fiscal year which may alter our construction schedules and can
create variability in our revenues and profitability.

Years Ended December 31,

Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands)
Total revenue
Total revenue
Total revenue

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Other costs, net (see Note 1 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”)

Other costs, net (see Note 1 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”)

Other costs, net (see Note 1 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”)

Gain on sales of property and equipment, net

Operating income

Total other (income) expense, net

Amount attributable to non-controlling interests

Net income attributable to Granite Construction Incorporated

Revenue

Total Revenue by Segment

2023 2022 2021 Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

Years Ended December 31,

2023

2022

2021

(dollars in thousands)
Construction

Materials

2,992,254
516,884

85.3 %
14.7

2,803,935
497,321

849% $
15.1

3,076,190
425,675

87.8 %
12.2

Total

3,509,138 100.0 %

3,301,256 100.0% $

3,501,865 100.0 %

Years Ended December 31,

2024

2023

2022

(dollars in thousands)
Construction

Materials

3,415,225
592,349

85.2 %
14.8

2,992,254
516,884

853% $
14.7

2,803,935
497,321

84.9 %
15.1

Total

4,007,574 100.0 %

3,509,138 100.0% $

3,301,256 100.0 %

Construction Revenue

Years Years
Ended Ended
December December
31, 31, 2023

(dollars in
thousands)
California
California
California $1,029,410
Central

Mountain

Public

Public

34.4 %

2022

$ 811,623

28.9 %

$ 822,448

Years
Ended
December

2021 31, 2024

26.7 %

Public

Private

$2,531,379

74.1 % $2,064,078

69.0 % $1,891,338 67.5 %

2023

Total Total

$2,992,254 100.0

1000% $

2,803,935 100.0

100.0 % $3,076,190 100.0

100.0 %

Total $3,415,225 100.0 10(
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Construction revenue in 20232024 increased by $188.3 million $423.0 million, or 6.7% 14.1%, compared to 2022. California operating group revenue increased $217.8 million
despite unfavorable weather conditions during the first half of the year, partly 2023, primarily due to elevated work volume achieved once weather conditions improved as well asa
higher level of CAP levels to start the year. Mountain operating group year, more favorable weather conditions early in 2024 and increased revenue increased $56.8 million, which
includes Inliner in the prior year that contributed $33.2 million prior to its sale in April 2022. The increase in revenue is primarily due to new work in Alaska, Nevada and the Pacific
Northwest. Central operating group revenue decreased $86.2 million primarily from acquired businesses of $114.7 million due to the wind down timing of several large projects and a
decrease the acquisition of LRC/MSG in the estimated amount of probable recovery on an outstanding claim. This decrease was partially offset by increased revenue from new work
in Arizona, Texas and lllinois.

During both 2023 and 2022, approximately 70% the acquisition of revenue earned D&B in the Construction segment was from the public sector. 2024.

Materials Revenue

Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021

(dollars in thousands)

California $ 258,725 50.0% $ 273,314 549% $ 242,552 57.0%

Central 55,125 10.7 46,531 9.4 33,270 7.8

Mountain 203,034 39.3 177,476 35.7 149,853 35.2
Total $ 516,884 100.0% $ 497,321 100.0% $ 425,675 100.0 %

Materials revenue in 2023 2024 increased by $19.6 million $75.5 million, or 3.9% 14.6%, when compared to 2022, 2023, driven primarily by salesincreases in revenue from facilities
and newly acquired businesses acquired of $66.9 million, in 2023. This contributed $16.5 million of revenue during the current year. The remaining increase of $3.1 million, is

due addition to higher asphalt and aggregate sales prices in our legacy facilities that overcame decreases in asphalt and aggregate sales volumes. Inclement weather during the first
half of 2023 negatively impacted 2023 sales volumes. prices.

Committed and Awarded Projects

CAP consists of two components: (1) unearned revenue and (2) other awards. Unearned revenue includes the revenue we expect to record in the future on executed contracts,
including 100% of our consolidated joint venture contracts and our proportionate share of unconsolidated joint venture contracts. We generally include a project in unearned revenue
at the time a contract is awarded, the contract has been executed and to the extent we believe funding is probable. Contract options and task orders are included in unearned
revenue when exercised or issued, respectively. Certain government contracts where funding is appropriated on a periodic basis are included in unearned revenue at the time of the
award when it is probable the contract value will be funded and executed.

Other awards include the general construction portion of construction management/general contractor ("CM/GC") contracts and awarded contracts with unexercised contract options
or unissued task orders. The general construction portion of CM/GC contracts are included in other awards to the extent contract execution and funding is probable. Contracts with
unexercised contract options or unissued task orders are included in other awards to the extent option exercise or task order issuance is probable, respectively. probable. All CAP is
in the Construction segment.

December December December

31, 31, 2023 2022 31, 2024 2023
(dollars in

thousands)

Unearned revenue
Unearned revenue
Unearned revenue $3,596,676 64.9 64.9% $2,877,478 64.2 64.2 % $3,584,378 67.7 67.7 % $3,596,676 64.9 64.9 %

Other
awards

Total Total $5,545,754 100.0 100.0 % $4,485,139 100.0 100.0 % Total $5,296,067 100.0 100.0 % $5,545,754 100.0 1

December December
December 31, 31, 2023 2022 31, 2024 2023

(dollars in
thousands)

California
California
California $2,436,521 43.9 % $1,747,163 39.0 %

Central
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Mountain

Public

Public

Public $4,120,821 77.8 % $4,368,904 78.8 %

Private

Total Total $5,545,754 100.0 1000% $ 4,485,139 100.0 100.0 % Total $5,296,067 100.0 100.0 % $5,545,754 100.0 100.0 %

CAP of $5.5 $5.3 billion at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 was $1.1 $0.2 billion, or 24% higher 5% lower than 2022 primarily December 31, 2023 due to higher award
volume throughout 2023, specifically revenue in our California 2024 and Mountain operating groups which increased $689.4 million lower additions to CAP in 2024. Bidding activity
remained robust in 2024, and $325.0 million, respectively, between December 31, 2022 and 2023. The most several significant new addition project awards are expected to be
added to CAP during the fourth quarter first half of 2023 was $344.5 million related 2025. The most significant additions to CAP during 2024 included $196 million for six highway
projects in California, $180 million for a private rail facility pumping station project in California. Nevada, $158 million of Federal work in Guam and $114 million for a bridge project in
Michigan.

Non-controlling partners’ share of CAP as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 was $243.8 $331.1 million and $85.0 $243.8 million, respectively.

At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, one and six and five contracts with remaining CAP of $10.0 million or more per project had total forecasted losses with
remaining revenue of $188.9 $64.4 million, or 8.4% 1.2% of total CAP, and $134.2 $188.9 million, of 3.0% or 3.4% of total CAP, respectively. Provisions are recognized in the
consolidated statements of operations for the full amount of estimated losses on uncompleted contracts whenever evidence indicates that the estimated total cost of a contract
exceeds its estimated total revenue.

Gross Profit

The following table presents gross profit by reportable segment for the respective periods:

Years Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021 Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022

(dollars in thousands)
Construction
Construction
Construction
Percent of segment revenue Percent of segment revenue 109% 10.8% 9.9% Percent of segment revenue 144% 109% 10.8%
Materials

Percent of segment revenue

Total gross profit

Percent of total revenue Percent of total revenue 11.3% 11.2% 104% Percent of total revenue 14.3% 11.3% 11.2%

Construction gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 increased by $21.2 $165.9 million, or 7.0%51.1%, when compared to 2022, 2023, primarily
driven by strong performance due to higher revenue and improved project execution across our project portfolio resulting in the vertically integrated Mountain operating group,
partially offset by a decrease in the estimated amount of probable recovery on an outstanding claim in our Central operating group, as well as the impact of other downward net
increases from revisions in estimates (seein the current period compared to net decreases in the prior period. For further discussion of projects with revisions in estimates which
individually had an impact of $5.0 million or more on gross profit, see Note 3 of “Notes "Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”). Statements." Additionally, gross profit from
acquired businesses increased by $11.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, including $8.1 million of purchase accounting related depreciation and intangible asset
amortization.

Materials gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 increased by $5.7 $10.4 million, or 8.7% 14.5%, when compared to 2022 2023 and gross profit
margin increased to remained consistent at 13.8%. The improvement in the current year from 13.2% in the prior year. These improvements were gross profit was primarily due to
price increases the results of acquired businesses as well as normalized fuel and energy costs in 2023. Our newly higher revenue. Materials gross profit from acquired operations
produced a gross loss of $3.6 businesses increased by $7.8 million including the impact of purchase accounting primarily related to LRC/MSG.

for the year ended December 31, 2024, including $4.1 million of purchase accounting related depreciation and intangible asset amortization.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

The following table presents the components of selling, general and administrative expenses for the respective periods:

Years Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021 Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022

(dollars in thousands)
Selling
Selling
Selling
Salaries and related expenses

Salaries and related expenses
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Salaries and related expenses
Incentive compensation
Stock-based compensation

Other selling expenses

Total selling

General and administrative
Salaries and related expenses
Salaries and related expenses
Salaries and related expenses
Incentive compensation
Stock-based compensation

Other general and administrative expenses

Total general and administrative

Total selling, general and administrative

Other selling, general and administrative expenses

Total selling, general and administrative expenses

Percent of revenue Percent of revenue 84% 83% 87% Percent of revenue 83% 84% 83%

Selling, Expenses

Selling general and administrative ("SG&A") expenses include the costs for estimating and bidding, including offsetting customer reimbursements for portions of our selling/bid
submission expenses (i.e., stipends), business development, and materials facility permits. Selling permits, and costs related to our operational offices that are not allocated to direct
contract costs and expenses related to our corporate functions. Other SG&A expenses include travel and entertainment, outside services, information technology, depreciation,
occupancy, training, office supplies, changes in the fair market value of our Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation plan liability and other miscellaneous expenses. SG&A expenses
can vary depending on the volume of projects in process and the number of employees assigned to estimating and bidding activities. As projects are completed or the volume of
work slows down, we temporarily redeploy project employees to bid on new projects, moving their salaries and related costs from cost of revenue to selling expenses. Selling SG&A
expenses for 2023 decreased $0.2 million 2024 increased $39.7 million compared to 2022. Increased selling incentive and stock-based compensation resulting from improved
financial performance was offset by a decrease in other selling expenses.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include costs related to our operational offices that are not allocated to direct contract costs and expenses related to our corporate functions.
Other general and administrative expenses include travel and entertainment, outside services, information technology, depreciation, occupancy, training, office supplies, changes in
the fair market value of our Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation plan liability and other miscellaneous expenses. Total general and administrative expenses for 2023, increased by
$22.0 million, or 11.0%, compared to 2022, primarily due to ana $17.0 million increase in SG&A expenses from acquired businesses, including $6.3 million of purchase accounting
related depreciation and intangible asset amortization. The remaining increase was due to higher stock-based compensation and incentive compensation due to improved financial
performance. The increase was also attributable performance, as well as higher salaries and related expenses due to stock-based compensation and increases in the fair market
value of our Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation plan liability, which is mostly offset in Other (income) expense, net, through investments held within our own company-owned life
insurance policy. These increases were partially offset by the elimination of general and administrative expenses related to Inliner which was sold in the first quarter of
2022.increased labor costs.

Other Costs, net

The following table presents other costs, net for the respective periods:

Years Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021 Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022

(in thousands)

Other costs, net

Other costs, net

Other costs, net

Other costs for the year ended December 31, 2023 increased December 31, 2024 decreased by $26.1 million $10.3 million when compared to 2022 2023 primarily due to a $20.0
million litigation charge in the settlement of prior year that did not recur in the Salesforce Tower matter current year, partially offset by an increase in October 2023. See Note 20 of
"Notes to costs in the Consolidated Financial Statements" for information related to legal matters. Also included in 2023 are costs and non-cash impairment charges current year

associated with the wind down defense of our international Mineral Services operations. See Note 1 of "Notes to a former Company officer in his ongoing civil litigation with the
Consolidated Financial Statements" for more information.

Securities and Exchange Commission.

Gain on Sales of Property and Equipment, net

The following table presents the gain on sales of property and equipment, net for the respective periods:
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Years Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021 Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022

(in thousands)
Gain on sales of property and equipment, net
Gain on sales of property and equipment, net

Gain on sales of property and equipment, net

Gain on sales of property and equipment, net for the year ended December 31, 2023 increased December 31, 2024 decreased by $15.7 million $19.6 million when compared to
2022 2023 primarily due to the sale of a property in Texas in 2023. The sale was part of our ongoing asset optimization plan.

Other (Income) Expense

The following table presents the components of other (income) expense, net for the respective periods:

Years Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021 Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022

(in thousands)

Loss on debt extinguishment
Loss on debt extinguishment
Loss on debt extinguishment
Interest income

Interest expense

Equity in income of affiliates, net

Other (income) expense, net

Total other (income) expense, net

We incurred a $51.1 million loss on debt extinguishment During 2024, we repurchased approximately $30.2 million in the second quarter of 2023 related to the refinancing of a
portion of our 2.75% Convertible Notes. We issued 1,390,500 shares of Granite common stock and paid $198.8 million in cash in separate and individually negotiated transactions
in exchange for $198.7 million aggregate principal amount of our 2.75% Convertible Notes concurrent with the offering of the 3.75% Convertible Notes. Included in the and incurred
a $27.6 million loss on debt extinguishment, is a $1.7 million charge for which was $23.5 million less than the acceleration 2023 extinguishment charge. During 2024, interest
expense, net of the amortization of debt issuance costs associated with the 2.75% Convertible Notes that were redeemed early.

Interestinterest income, for 2023 increased by $11.0 million when compared to 2022 primarily due to higher interest rates on our investments. Interest expense for 2023 increased
by $5.8 million when compared to 2022 $3.9 million, as a result of increased borrowings, in 2023. partially offset by higher interest income due to higher cash balances. Equity in
income of affiliates, increased net decreased by $12.2 million $8.8 million when compared to 2022 2023 primarily due to overall increases inlower net income of our affiliates driven
by increases in sales and margins. Other income, net increased by $7.1 million primarily due to increases in the fair market value of our company-owned life insurance

policy. affiliates.

Income Taxes

The following table presents the provision for income taxes for the respective periods:

Years Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021 Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022

(in thousands)

Provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes

Effective tax rate Effective tax rate 506% 141% 89.1 % Effective tax rate 284% 506% 14.1%
Our effective tax rate increased decreased from 14.1% 50.6% to 50.6% 28.4% when compared to 2022 2023 primarily due to increases a decrease in our provision nondeductible
debt extinguishment costs along with a favorable adjustment for income taxes relative to lower income before income taxes. Provision for income taxes non-controlling interest in the
current year was higher than last year due to $49.3 million of non-deductible expense related to the refinancing of a portion of our 2.75% Convertible Notes in the second quarter of
2023. See Note 14 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.” In the prior year, provision for income taxes was lower due to the benefit associated with the reversal of
deferred tax liabilities related to our Water Resources and Minerals businesses no longer being held for sale, and the benefit from the release of valuation allowances related to
utilization of capital loss carryforwards net of the tax expense from non-deductible goodwill associated with the sale of Inliner. The decrease in year-over-year income before income
taxes was primarily due to the loss in the current year related to debt extinguishment.

year.

Amount Attributable to Non-controlling Interests

The following table presents the amount attributable to non-controlling interests in consolidated subsidiaries for the respective periods:
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Years Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021 Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022

(in thousands)
Amount attributable to non-controlling interests
Amount attributable to non-controlling interests

Amount attributable to non-controlling interests

The amount attributable to non-controlling interests represents the non-controlling owners’ share of the net (income) loss of our consolidated construction joint ventures. The
change increase during 2023 2024 was primarily due to increased losses due to downward the impact of less negative revisions in estimates from an existing related to consolidated
construction joint venture, partially offset by increased profits from new joint ventures. ventures (see Note 3 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”).

Prior Years Comparison (2022 (2023 to 2021) 2022)

See Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our 2022 2023 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February
21, 2023 February 23, 2024.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash and cash equivalents, investments, available borrowing capacity under our credit facility and cash generated from operations. We may also
from time to time issue and sell equity, debt or hybrid securities or engage in other capital markets transactions or sell one or more business units or assets. See Note 14 of the
"Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements" for information on our 2.75% Convertible Notes, our 3.75% Convertible Notes and our Credit Agreement. long-term debt.

Our material cash requirements include paying the costs and expenses associated with our operations, servicing outstanding indebtedness, making capital expenditures and paying
dividends on our capital stock. We may also from time to time prepay or repurchase outstanding indebtedness, and repurchase shares of our common stock or acquire assets or
businesses that are complementary to our operations. See Note 2 and Note 17 of the "Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements" for information on our acquisitions and share
repurchases, respectively.

Our primary contractual obligations are as follows and are further discussed in the referenced “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements:”

* Asset retirement obligations - see Note 11, Property and Equipment, net

¢ Long-term debt and the associated interest payments — see Note 14, Long-Term Debt

* Operating lease and royalty future minimum payments — see Note 15, Leases

* Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan obligations — see Note 16, Employee Benefit Plans

In addition to the obligations referenced above, as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 we had $18.6 $16.4 million of purchase commitments for equipment and other goods
and services not directly connected with our construction contracts, which are individually greater than $50,000 and have an expected fulfilment date after December 31,

2023 December 31, 2024. Of this, approximately $16.1 $15.0 million, $1.0 million and $2.5 $0.4 million will be paid in 2024 2025, 2026 and 2025, 2027, respectively. There are no
material purchase commitments in the periods thereafter.

We believe our primary sources of liquidity will be sufficient to meet our expected working capital needs, capital expenditures, financial commitments, cash dividend payments and
other liquidity requirements associated with our existing operations for the next twelve months. We also believe our primary sources of liquidity, access to the debt and equity capital
markets and cash expected to be generated from operations will be sufficient to meet our long-term requirements and plans. However, there can be no assurance that sufficient
capital will continue to be available or that it will be available on terms acceptable to us.

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 increased $93.6 $132.1 million to $453.5 million $585.6 million from the prior year
end. In addition to meeting our liquidity requirements listed above, our increased cash balances are expected to be used to invest in our business through strategic capital
expenditures in 2024 2025 and we will continue to explore acquisition opportunities in alignment with our strategic plan.

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, our cash and cash equivalents consisted of deposits and money market funds held with established national financial institutions and
marketable securities consisting primarily of U.S. Government and agency obligations.

In June 2022, we entered into the Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) maturing June 2, 2027. The Credit Agreement is a $350.0 million
senior secured, five-year revolving facility (the “Revolver”). In November 2023, we entered into Amendment No. 2 (the "Amendment") to the Credit Agreement which provided for a

$150 million senior secured term loan (the “Term Loan”). As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the total unused availability under our Credit Agreement was $230.7
million $333.7 million, resulting from $19.3 million $16.3 million in issued and outstanding letters of credit and $100.0 million nothing drawn on the Revolver. See Note 14 of “Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements” for further discussion regarding the Revolver. Statements.”

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we had $2.0 $1.3 million of receivables and $29.1 $29.2 million of contract retention receivables from Brightline Trains Florida LLC
("Brightline") (see Note 6 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”). As, all of which has been collected as of the date of this report, $1.9 million of the receivables
outstanding at year-end have been collected. Our project with Brightline is nearing completion and final payment, including the retention receivable, will be due to us no later than 40
days after all conditions of final completion are satisfied. We expect to achieve final completion in the first half of 2024; however, timing cannot be assured. Brightline has
experienced delays in securing additional funding in the past, therefore the timing and probability of future payments may be affected, and our liquidity impacted if Brightline faces
future funding difficulties. report.
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In evaluating our liquidity position and needs, we also consider cash and cash equivalents held by our consolidated construction joint ventures (“CCJVs”). The following table
presents our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, including amounts from our CCJVs, as of the respective dates:

December 31, December 31, 2023 2022 December 31, 2024 2023

(in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents excluding CCJVs
Cash and cash equivalents excluding CCJVs
Cash and cash equivalents excluding CCJVs

CCJV cash and cash equivalents (1)

Total consolidated cash and cash equivalents
Short-term and long-term marketable securities (2)

Short-term marketable securities (2)

Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities

(1) The volume and stage of completion of contracts from our CCJVs may cause fluctuations in joint venture cash and cash equivalents between periods. The assets of each consolidated and
unconsolidated construction joint venture relate solely to that joint venture. The decision to distribute joint venture assets must generally be made jointly by a majority of the members and,
accordingly, these assets, including those associated with estimated cost recovery of customer affirmative claims and back charge claims, are generally not available for the working capital needs of
Granite until distributed.

(2) All marketable securities were classified as held-to-maturity and consisted of U.S. Government and agency obligations as of all periods presented.

Granite's portion of CCJV cash and cash equivalents was $73.1 million $106.0 million and $62.5 million $73.1 million as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023,
respectively. Excluded from the table above is $34.2 million $28.7 million and $40.4 million $34.2 million as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, respectively,
in of Granite’s portion of unconsolidated construction joint venture cash and cash equivalents.

Capital Expenditures

Major capital expenditures are typically for aggregate and asphalt production facilities, aggregate reserves, construction equipment, buildings and leasehold improvements and
investments in our information technology systems. The timing and amount of such expenditures can vary based on the progress of planned capital projects, the type and size of
construction projects, changes in business outlook and other factors. During the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we had capital expenditures of $140.4

million $136.4 million, compared to $121.6 million $140.4 million during 2022, an increase 2023, a decrease of $18.8 million $4.0 million. The increase year over year is primarily due
to acquisitions of materials reserves in 2023. We currently anticipate 2024 2025 capital expenditures to be between approximately $130 million $140 million and $150 million $160
million, including approximately $50 million in planned strategic materials investments in land, reserves and an aggregate plant. This range also includes approximately $20 million
related to a project-specific tunnel boring machine. investments.

Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021

(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ 183,707 $ 55,647 $ 21,931

Investing activities $ (359,290) $ (11,000) $ (21,478)

Financing activities $ 299,255 $ (164,311) $ (24,446)
Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022

(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ 456,343 $ 183,707 $ 55,647
Investing activities $ (228,556) $ (359,290) $ (11,000)
Financing activities $ (67,120) $ 299,255 $ (164,311)

Operating activities

As a large infrastructure contractor and construction materials producer, our revenue, gross profit and the resulting operating cash flows can differ significantly from period to period
due to a variety of factors, including seasonal cycles, project progression toward completion, outstanding contract change orders and affirmative claims, and the payment terms of
our contracts. Additionally, operating cash flows are impacted by the timing related to funding construction joint ventures and the resolution of uncertainties inherent in the complex
nature of the construction work that we perform, including claim and back charge settlements. Our working capital assets result from both public and private sector projects.
Customers in the private sector can be slower paying than those in the public sector; however, private sector projects generally have higher gross profit as a percentage of revenue.
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While we typically invoice our customers on a monthly basis, our construction contracts frequently provide for retention that is a specified percentage withheld from each payment
by our customers until the contract is completed and the work accepted by the customer.

Cash provided by operating activities of $183.7 $456.3 million during 2023 2024 represents a $128.1 $272.6 million increase in cash provided by operating activities when compared
to 2022.2023. The change was primarily due attributable to a $73.6 million $132.8 million increase in net income after adjusting for non-cash items and a $121.7 million increase in
cash provided by working capital, which includes receivables, net contract assets, inventories, other assets, accounts payable and accrued expenses and other liabilities.
Additionally, distributions from, net of contributions to, unconsolidated construction joint ventures and affiliates increased $42.6 million $18.1 million from 2022, 2023.

Investing activities

Cash used in investing activities of $359.3 $228.6 million during 2023 2024 represents a $348.3 $130.7 million increase decrease in cash used in investing activities when compared
to 2022. The change was primarily due to the acquisition of LRC/MSG which resulted in a $294.0 million cash outflow during 2023. In addition, net cash used in investing activities in
2022 included $140.6 million of proceeds from the sale of the Inliner business in March 2022. These changes were partially offset by decreased purchases of marketable securities
in the current year.

Financing activities

Cash provided by financing activities of $299.3 million during 2023 represents a $463.6 million increase in cash provided by financing activities when compared to 2022. The change
was primarily due to a $150.0 million $159.7 million decrease in cash used related to business acquisitions (see Note 3 of "Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements"),
partially offset by a $24.3 million decrease in proceeds from sales of property and equipment.

Financing activities

Cash used in financing activities of $67.1 million during 2024 represents a $366.4 million increase in cash provided by our Revolver and Term Loan. used in financing activities when
compared to 2023. The change was also primarily due to the prepaymenta $290.3 million decrease in the prior year proceeds from debt issuances, net of our term loan of $123.8
million, which did not recur this year. In addition, net cash inflows debt repayments and related to our convertible bond transactions in 2023 generated $98.8 million in cash. charges.
See Note 14 to “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for further information about our long-term debt transactions and our credit facility.

The year over year increase in cash provided by used in financing activities was also due to $66.8 million less cash used for $46.5 million increase in repurchases of common stock
and higher as well as a decrease in contributions from non-controlling partners, net of distributions, of $24.5 million. $30.7 million.

Derivatives

We recognize derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value using Level 2 inputs. See Note 8 to “Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements” for further information. The hedge option and warrant derivative transactions related to the 2.75% Convertible Notes and the Capped Call capped call
transactions related to the 3.75% Convertible Notes and 3.25% Convertible Notes were recorded to equity on our condensed consolidated balance sheets based on the cash
proceeds. See Note 14 to “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for further information.

Surety Bonds and Real Estate Mortgages

We are generally required to provide various types of surety bonds that provide an additional measure of security for our performance under certain public and private sector
contracts. At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, approximately $3.2 billion of our $5.5 billion $5.3 billion CAP was bonded. Performance bonds do not have stated expiration
dates; rather, we are generally released from the bonds after when the owner accepts obligations of the work performed under contract. underlying contract have been fulfilled. The
ability to maintain bonding capacity to support our current and future level of contracting requires that we maintain cash and working capital balances satisfactory to our sureties.

Our investments in real estate affiliates ventures are subject to mortgage indebtedness. This indebtedness is non-recourse to Granite but is recourse to the real estate

entities. venture. The terms of this indebtedness are typically renegotiated to reflect the evolving nature of the real estate projects as they progress through acquisition, entitlement,
development and development. leasing. Modification of these terms may include changes in loan-to-value ratios requiring the real estate entity venture to repay portions of the debt.
Our unconsolidated investments in our foreign affiliates are subject to local bank debt primarily for equipment purchases and working capital. This debt is non-recourse to Granite,
but it is recourse to the affiliates. The debt associated with our unconsolidated non-construction entities is included in Note 109 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.”

Covenants and Events of Default

Our Credit Agreement requires us to comply with various affirmative, restrictive and financial covenants, including the financial covenants described below. Our failure to comply with
these covenants would constitute an event of default under the Credit Agreement. Additionally, the 2.75% 3.25% Convertible Notes and 3.75% Convertible Notes are governed by
the terms and conditions of their respective indentures. Our failure to pay principal, interest or other amounts when due or within the relevant grace period on our 2.75% 3.25%
Convertible Notes, our 3.75% Convertible Notes or our Credit Agreement would constitute an event of default under the 2.75% 3.25% Convertible Notes indenture, the 3.75%
Convertible Note Notes indenture or the Credit Agreement. A default under our Credit Agreement could result in (i) us no longer being entitled to borrow under such facility; (ii)
termination of such facility; (iii) the requirement that any letters of credit under such facility be cash collateralized; (iv) acceleration of amounts owed under the Credit Agreement;
and/or (v) foreclosure on any collateral securing the obligations under such facility. A default under the 2.75% 3.25% Convertible Notes indenture or the 3.75% Convertible Notes
indenture could result in acceleration of the maturity of the notes.

The most significant financial covenants under the terms of our Credit Agreement contains certain affirmative and restrictive covenants, and customary events require the
maintenance of default. The financial covenants include a maximum Consolidated Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) and a minimum Consolidated Interest
Coverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement). and a maximum Consolidated Leverage Ratio. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we were in compliance with the
covenants in the Credit Agreement.

Share Purchase Repurchase Program
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As announced on February 3, 2022, on February 1, 2022, the Board of Directors authorized us to purchase up to $300.0 million of our common stock at management’s discretion
(the “2022 authorization”). We did not purchase During the year ended December 31, 2024, we repurchased 524,800 shares under the share purchase program in 2023. As of
December 31, 2023, $231.5 million of 2022 authorization and $189.5 million remained available under the 2022 authorization remained available. as of December 31, 2024.

The specific timing and amount of any future repurchases will vary based on market conditions, securities law limitations and other factors.
Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” under the caption Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We maintain an investment portfolio of various holdings, types and maturities. We purchase instruments that meet high credit quality standards, as specified in our investment policy.
Our investment policy also limits the amount of credit exposure to any one issue, issuer or type of instrument. The portfolio and accompanying cash balances are targeted to an
average maturity of no more than one year from the date the purchase is settled. On an ongoing basis we monitor credit ratings, financial condition and other factors that could
affect the carrying amount of our investment portfolio.

Marketable securities, consisting of U.S. government and agency obligations, are classified as held-to-maturity and are stated at cost, adjusted for amortization of premiums and
discounts to maturity.

Financial instruments, which potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, and accounts receivable.
We maintain our cash and cash equivalents and our marketable securities with several financial institutions.

Given the short-term nature of certain investments, the related income is subject to the general level of interest rates in the United States at the time of maturity and reinvestment.
We manage investment interest rate market risk primarily by managing portfolio maturity. The fair value of our long-term held-to-maturity investment portfolio may be affected by
changes in interest rates.

Operating in international markets involves exposure to possible volatile movements in currency exchange rates. In the third quarter of 2023 we began the wind down of our
international Minerals Services operations which operated in Mexico and Canada. Our Materials Segment continues to have international has an insignificant amount of operations
in Canada. We Canada and we also have affiliates that operate in Latin America (see Note 10 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”) for further information on our
affiliates). As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we do not have any outstanding foreign currency option contracts. If the volume of our international operations increases
and foreign currency exchange rates change, the impact to our consolidated statements of operations could be significant and may affect year-to-year comparability of operating
results. The impact from foreign currency transactions during 2024, 2023 2022 and 2021 2022 was immaterial.

We may borrow on the Revolver, at our option, at either (a) the SOFR term rate plus a credit adjustment spread plus applicable margin ranging from 1.0% to 2.0%, or (b) a base rate
plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.0% to 1.0%. The applicable margin is based on our Consolidated Leverage Ratio (as defined in our Credit Agreement), calculated
quarterly.

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, there was $100 million nothing drawn on the Revolver.
See Note 14 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for further discussion on the 2.75% 3.25% Convertible Notes, 3.75% Convertible Notes and Credit Agreement.

The table below presents principal amounts due by year and related weighted average interest rates for our cash and cash equivalents, held-to-maturity investments and significant
debt obligations, excluding debt issuance costs, as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 (dollars in thousands):

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Thereafter Total
Assets
Cash, cash equivalents, held-to-maturity
investments $ 453526  $ —  $ —  $ — 8 — 8 — 8 453,526
Weighted average interest rate 4.89 % — % — % — % — % — % 4.89 %
Liabilities
Debt
Credit Agreement Revolver Loan $ — $ — $ — $ 100,000 $ — 3 — $ 100,000
Effective interest rate (1) 7.46 % 7.46 % 7.46 % 7.46 % — % — % 7.46 %
Credit Agreement Term Loan $ 7,500 $ 7,500 $ 7,500 $ 127,500 $ — $ — $ 150,000
Effective interest rate (2) 6.65 % 6.65 % 6.65 % 6.65 % — % — % 6.65 %
3.75% Convertible Notes $ —  $ — 8 — 3 — 3 373,750 $ —  $ 373,750
Coupon rate 3.75 % 3.75 % 3.75 % 3.75 % 3.75 % — % 3.75 %
2.75% Convertible Notes $ 31,338  $ —  $ — 8 — 8 —  $ —  $ 31,338
Coupon rate 2.75 % — % — % — % — % — % 2.75 %
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(1) The effective interest rate was calculated using one-month SOFR plus 10 basis points plus the applicable margin.
(2) The effective interest rate was calculated using a blended rate based on the fixed rate associated with the cash flow hedge (see Note 8 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”) of
3.73% plus 10 basis points plus applicable margin and the one-month SOFR plus 10 basis points plus the applicable margin for the remaining amount of the Term Loan not covered by the hedge.

2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter Total
Assets
Cash, cash equivalents, held-to-maturity
investments $ 585,641 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 585,641
Weighted average interest rate 4.34 % — % — % — % — % — % 4.34 %
Liabilities
Debt
3.75% Convertible Notes $ — 3 —  $ — 8 373,750 $ — 8 —  $ 373,750
Coupon rate 3.75 % 3.75 % 3.75 % 3.75 % — % — % 3.75 %
3.25% Convertible Notes $ = $ = $ = $ = $ = $ 373,750 $ 373,750
Coupon rate 3.25 % 3.25 % 3.25 % 3.25 % 3.25 % 3.25 % 3.25 %

The estimated fair value of our cash and cash equivalents approximates the principal amounts reflected above based on the generally short maturities of these financial instruments.
The fair value of the 3.75% Convertible Notes was approximately $738.7 million and $475.6 million as of December 31, 2023. December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The fair
value of 2.75% 3.25% Convertible Notes was approximately $51.0 million and $281.4 million $491.6 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. December 31, 2024.

Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The following consolidated financial statements of Granite and the independent registered public accounting firm’s report are incorporated by reference from Part IV, Item 15(a)(1)
and (2):

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting_Firm (PCAOB ID 238)

Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity,

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on their evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as required by paragraph (b) of Rule 13a-15
or Rule 15d-15 of the Exchange Act, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the end of the period covered by this report.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting
as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d -15(f). Internal control over financial reporting is defined as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the issuer’s
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the issuer’s board of directors, management and other personnel, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that: (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of the issuer; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the issuer are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the issuer; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the issuer’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive and principal financial officers, has conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting, using the criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023 December 31,
2024.
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The scope of our assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting did not include LRC/MSG as we acquired them on November 30, 2023. The tangible
assets acquired from LRC/MSG were 5% of consolidated assets as of December 31, 2023 and revenues were less than 1% of consolidated revenue during the year ended
December 31, 2023. We excluded LRC/MSG from the scope of our assessment in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s guidance that allows a recently
acquired business to be omitted from the scope of the assessment for one year from the date of its acquisition.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2023 December 31, 2024. Their report is included in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this Form 10-K under the heading “Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.”

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Trading Arrangements

During the three months ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, none of our the following directors or officers, as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Exchange Act, adopted,
modified, or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or a “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Iltem 408 of Regulation S-K. S-K ("Item 408").

On November 5, 2024, Mr. Larkin’s Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement, as such term is defined in Item 408, that he entered into on August 6, 2024 that provided for the sale of
30,000 shares automatically terminated pursuant to its terms. Mr. Larkin is the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer.

On November 13, 2024, Mr. Radich, the Company's Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, adopted a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement, as such term is defined in
Item 408. The aggregate number of shares which may be sold under the plan is 10,000. The plan will terminate upon the earlier of February 6, 2026 or the completion of all the
sales under the plan.

On November 19, 2024, Mr. Dowd, the Company’s Senior Vice President, Construction, adopted a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement, as such term is defined in Item 408. The
aggregate number of shares which may be sold under the plan is 6,075. The plan will terminate upon the earlier of December 31, 2025 or the completion of all the sales under the
plan.

On December 12, 2024, Mr. Larkin adopted a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement, as such term is defined in Item 408. The aggregate number of shares which may be sold under the
plan is equal to 80% of the net shares Mr. Larkin will receive upon vesting of his TSR award that will be paid out in March 2025 and 80% of the net shares Mr. Larkin will receive
upon vesting of his time-based restricted stock unit awards that will vest on March 14, 2025, including dividend equivalents. The plan will terminate upon the earlier of December 31,
2025 or the completion of all the sales under the plan.

Item 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

None.

PART Ill
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required in response to this Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A
promulgated under the Exchange Act not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required in response to this Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A
promulgated under the Exchange Act not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required in response to this Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A
promulgated under the Exchange Act not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
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The information required in response to this Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A
promulgated under the Exchange Act not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required in response to this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A
promulgated under the Exchange Act not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

PART IV
Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:

1.Financial Statements. The following consolidated financial statements and related documents are filed as part of this report:

Financial Statements Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting_Firm (PCAOB ID 238) E-1to E-32
Consolidated Balance Sheets E43
Consolidated Statements of Operations E-54
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income EF-65
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity. F-76
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows F-98
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements F-1110to F-427

2.Financial Statement Schedules. Schedules are omitted because they are not required or applicable, or the required information is included in the Financial Statements or
related notes.

3. Exhibits. The exhibits listed in the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed or incorporated by reference as part of, or furnished with, this report.

(b)
INDEX TO 10-K EXHIBITS
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Exhibit

Exhibit Description

No.

2.1 i Purchase Agreement, dated February 2, 2022, by and among_Layne Heavy Civil, Inc., Granite Construction International, Granite Construction
Incorporated, Inland Pipe Rehabilitation LLC and 1000097155 Ontario Inc. [Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on February 3, 2022]

2.2 * Equity Purchase Agreement by and among_Granite Construction Incorporated, Roberts Family Companies, Inc., Lehman-Roberts Company,, Memphis
Stone & Gravel Company,, Patrick Nelson, as sellers’ representative, and the entities and individuals party thereto [Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on December 5, 2023]

3.1 * Certificate of Incorporation of Granite Construction Incorporated, as amended [Exhibit 3.1.b to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2006

3.2 * Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of Granite Construction Incorporated [Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-
K filed on June 9, 2023]

3.3 * Amended and Restated Restated Bylaws of Granite Construction Incorporated [Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on April 7, 2023April 7, 2023]

4.1 ] Indenture (including_ Form of Note)_with respect to Granite Construction Incorporated’s 2.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2024, dated November 1
2019, by and between Granite Construction Incorporated and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustee [Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K
filed on November 1, 2019]

4.2 * Indenture (including_Form of Note)_with respect to Granite Construction Incorporated’s 3.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2028, dated May 11, 2023, by
and between Granite Construction Incorporated and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustee [Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on
May 11, 2023]

4.2 ] Indenture (including_ Form of Note)_ with respect to Granite Construction Incorporated’s 3.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2030, dated June 11, 2024, by
and between Granite Construction Incorporated and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustee [Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on
June 12, 2024]

4.3 * Description of Common Stock [Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019]

10.1 il Key Management Deferred Compensation Plan I, as amended [Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 10-K filed on February 23, 2024]

10.2 o Form of Amended and Restated Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement [Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2002]

10.3 *ox Granite Construction Incorporated Annual Incentive Plan adopted by the Board of Directors on March 30, 2022 [Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K
filed on April 1, 2022]

10.4 o Form of Annual Incentive Plan Participation Agreement [Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on April 1, 2022]

10.5 [ ] Granite Construction Incorporated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan [Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on May 25, 2012]

10.6 * Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated June 2, 2022, by and among_Granite Construction Incorporated, Granite Construction Company,
GILC Incorporated, Bank of America, N.A.,_ as Administrative Agent, Collateral Agent, Swing_Line Lender and L/C Issuer, and the lenders and other parties
thereto [Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 6, 2022]

10.710.6 * Amendment No. 1 to Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated May 8, 2023, by and among_the Company, Granite Construction Company,
and GILC Incorporated, as borrowers, Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent,_and the lenders party thereto [Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form
8-K filed on May 9, 2023]

10.810.7 * Amendment No. 2 to Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated November 30, 2023, by and among_the Company, Granite Construction
Company and GILC Incorporated, as borrowers, Layne Christensen Company,_as a guarantor, the lenders party thereto, and Bank of America, N.A., as
administrative agent [Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on December 5, 2023]

10.910.8 * Fourth Amended and Restated Guaranty Agreement, dated June 2, 2022, by and among_Granite Construction Incorporated, the guarantors party thereto
and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent [Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 6, 2022]

10.1010.9 * Form of Bond Hedge2023 Capped Call Confirmation [Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on November 1, 2019 May 11, 2023]

10.1110.10 * Form of Warrant 2024 Capped Call Confirmation [Exhibit 10.2 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on November 1, 2019 June 12, 2024]

10.1210.11 * EForm of Capped Call Confirmation [Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on May 11, 2023]

10.13 [ Executive Retention and Severance Plan Ill and Participation Agreement,, as amended [Exhibit 10.13 to the Company's as amended Form 10-K filed on
Eebruary 23, 2024]

10.12 [ Long_Term Incentive Plan, effective January 1, 2020 [Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on March 30, 2020]

10.13 i} Eorm of Long_Term Incentive Plan Award Agreement

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 46/181

©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/861459/000143774922002281/ex_330656.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/861459/000086145923000029/exhibit21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/861459/000086145923000029/exhibit21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/861459/000086145923000029/exhibit21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/861459/000086145923000029/exhibit21.htm
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Exhibit

Exhibit Description

No.

10.14 B Long_Term Incentive Plan, effective January 1, 2020 [Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on March 30, 2020

10.15 | LTIP Award Agreement (2020 Long_Term Incentive Plan)_[Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on March 30, 2020

10.16 . Granite Construction Incorporated 2021 Equity Incentive Plan [Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 4, 2021]

10.1710.15 B Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (2021 Equity Incentive Plan) [Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 4
2021

10.18 i Form of Employee Service Award Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (2021 Equity Incentive Plan)_[Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 4
2021

10.1910.16 **E** Form of Employee TSR Award Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (2021 Equity Incentive Plan)_[Exhibit 10.510.5 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June
4, 2021

10.2010.17 **** Form of Executive Officer Acknowledgement & Agreement Pertaining_to the Granite Construction Incorporated Clawback Policy [Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Form 8-K filed on October 13, 2023]

10.2110.18 b Notice Granite Construction Incorporated 2024 Equity. Incentive Plan [Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 6, 2024’

10.19 [ Form of Pendency Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Agreement [Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 6, 2024

10.20 [ Form of Employee Service Award Restricted Stock Unit Agreement [Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 6, 2024

10.21 [ Eorm of Employee LTIP Award Restricted Stock Unit Agreement [Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 6, 2024

10.22 4] Separation and Proposed Settlement of Actions Transition Agreement dated September 16, 2024 by and between the Company and Ms. Curtis [Exhibit
99.110.1 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on June 9, 2022 September 16, 2024

19 i Insider Insider Trading_Policy[Exhibit 19 to the Company's Form 10-K filed on February 23, 2024

21 T List of Subsidiaries of Granite Construction Incorporated

23.1 T Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

31.1 T Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 T Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32 Tt Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

95 T Mine Safety Disclosure

97 *ox Clawback Policy [Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’sForm 8-K filed on October 13, 2023]

101.INS T Inline XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH T Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

101.CAL T Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

101.DEF T Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

101.LAB T Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

101.PRE T Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

104 1 The cover page from the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, formatted in Inline XBRL

(included within the Exhibit 101 attachments).

* Incorporated by reference

** Compensatory plan or management contract

T Filed herewith

11 Furnished herewith

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION INCORPORATED

By: /s/ Elizabeth L. CurtisStaci M. Woolsey

Elizabeth L. CurtisStaci M. Woolsey

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
Date: February 22, 2024 February 13, 2025

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities
indicated and on the dates indicated.

/sl Michael F. McNally February 22, 2024 13, 2025
Michael F. McNally, Chairman of the Board and Director

Isl Kyle T. Larkin February 22, 2024 13, 2025
Kyle T. Larkin, President, Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive

Officer)

Isl Elizabeth L. Curtis Staci M. Woolsey February 22, 2024 13, 2025

Elizabeth L. Curtis, Staci M. Woolsey, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

Isl Staci M. Woolsey February 22, 2024

Staci M. Woolsey, Chief Officer and Principal Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting

Officer)

/sl Louis E. Caldera February 22, 2024 13, 2025

Louis E. Caldera, Director

Is/ Molly C. Campbell February 22, 2024 13, 2025

Molly C. Campbell, Director
/s/ David C. Darnell February 22, 2024 13, 2025

David C. Darnell, Director

/s/ Patricia D. GallowayCarlos M. Hernandez February 22, 2024 13, 2025

Patricia D. Galloway, Carlos M. Hernandez, Director

/sl Alan P. Krusi February 22, 2024 13, 2025

Alan P. Krusi, Director

/sl Celeste B. Mastin February 22, 2024 13, 2025

Celeste B. Mastin, Director

Isl Laura M. Mullen February 22, 2024 13, 2025

Laura M. Mullen, Director

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Granite Construction Incorporated

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Granite Construction Incorporated and its subsidiaries (the “Company” "Company") as of December 31,

2023, December 31, 2024 and 2022,2023, and the related consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive income (loss), of shareholders’ shareholders' equity and of cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated "consolidated
financial statements” statements").We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework(2013)issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidatedfinancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31,

2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, and the results of itsoperations and itscash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023December 31, 2024
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework(2013)issued by the COSO.
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Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in management'’s report referred to above.. Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidatedfinancial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting
based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent
with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidatedfinancial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidatedfinancial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidatedfinancial statements, whether due
to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidatedfinancial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidatedfinancial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our
audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company'’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(i) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

As described in Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management has excluded Lehman-Roberts Company (“LRC") and
Memphis Stone and Gravel Company (“MSG”) from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, because it was acquired
by the Company in a purchase business combination during 2023. We have also excluded LRC and MSG from our audit of internal control over financial
reporting. LRC and MSG are wholly-owned subsidiaries whose total tangible assets and total revenues excluded from management’s assessment and our audit
of internal control over financial reporting represent 5% and less than 1%, respectively, of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2023.

Critical Audit Matters Matter

The critical audit matters matter communicated below are mattersis a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were was
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relate relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements
and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidatedfinancial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters matter below, providing a separate opinions opinion on the critical
audit matters matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

it relates.

Revenue Recognition - Estimates of the Forecasted Revenue and Costs to Complete for Multi-Year Fixed Price Contracts in the Construction Segment

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 49/181
©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

As described in Notes 1, 3, and 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the revenue for the construction segment for the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 was
$2,992.3 million $3.415 billion, a portion of which related to multi-year fixed price contracts. Revenue in the Construction segment is ordinarily recognized over time as control is
transferred to the customers by measuring the progress toward complete satisfaction of the performance obligation(s) using an input (i.e., cost to cost) method. Under the cost to
cost method, costs incurred to-date to date are generally the best depiction of transfer of control. The accuracy of the Company’s revenue and profit recognition in a given period
depends on the accuracy of management’s estimates of the forecasted revenue and cost to complete each project. Cost estimates for all significant projects use a detailed bottom
up approach in which there are a number of factors that can contribute to revisions in estimates of contract cost and profitability. Provisions for losses are recognized at the
uncompleted performance obligation level for the amount of total estimated losses in the period that evidence indicates that the estimated total cost of a performance obligation
exceeds its estimated total revenue. The estimates of transaction price and costs to complete can vary significantly in the normal course of business as projects progress,
circumstances develop and evolve, and uncertainties are resolved. When the Company experiences significant revisions in estimates, management undergoes a process that
includes reviewing the nature of the changes to ensure that no material amounts should have been recorded in a prior period rather than as a revision in estimate for the current
period. Management generally uses the cumulative catch-up method for changes to the transaction price that are part of a single performance obligation. Under this method,
revisions in estimates are accounted for in their entirety in the period of change.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to estimates of the forecasted revenue and costs to complete for multi-year fixed price
contracts in the Construction segment is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management when determining the estimates of forecasted revenue and costs to
complete,

and revisions in those estimates and (i) a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence related to management'’s
estimates of forecasted revenue and costs to complete for multi-year fixed price contracts in the Construction segment, and revisions in those estimates.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These
procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the revenue recognition process, including controls over management'’s estimates of forecasted revenue and
costs to complete for multi-year fixed price contracts in the Construction segment, and revisions in those estimates. These procedures also included, among others, for a sample of
multi-year fixed price contracts, testing management’s process for determining the estimates of forecasted revenue and costs to complete, which included (i) assessing
management'’s ability to reasonably estimate the forecasted revenue and costs to complete by evaluating management's methodology and assessing the consistency of
management’s approach over the life of the contract and (ii) evaluating the timely identification of circumstances that may warrant a modification to estimated forecasted revenue
and costs to complete.

Acquisition of LRC/MSG — Valuation of the Customer Relationships Intangible Asset

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, on November 30, 2023, the Company completed the acquisition of LRC/MSG for $278.0 million, subject to
customary closing adjustments, plus an estimated amount related to tax make-whole agreements with the seller. Of the acquired intangible assets, $83.9 million of customer
relationships were recorded. The fair value of customer relationships was estimated as of the acquisition date utilizing the multi-period excess earnings method. This method
discounts to present value the projected cash flows attributable to the customer relationships. The significant estimates and assumptions used in determining the fair value included
discount rates, revenue growth rates, projected EBITDA margins and customer revenue attrition rates.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the valuation of the customer relationships intangible asset acquired in the acquisition of
LRC/MSG is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management when developing the fair value estimate of the customer relationships intangible asset acquired;
(i) a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evaluating management’s significant assumptions related to the discount rate, revenue
growth rates, projected EBITDA margins, and customer revenue attrition rate; and (jii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These
procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to acquisition accounting, including controls over management'’s valuation of the customer relationships intangible
asset acquired.These procedures also included, among others (i) reading the purchase agreement; (ii) testing management's process for developing the fair value estimate of the
customer relationships intangible asset acquired; (iii) evaluating the appropriateness of the multi-period excess earnings method; (iv) testing the completeness and accuracy of the
underlying data used in the multi-period excess earnings method; and (v) evaluating the reasonableness of the significant assumptions used by management related to the discount
rate, revenue growth rates, projected EBITDA margins, and customer revenue attrition rate. Evaluating the reasonableness of management’'s assumptions related to revenue growth
rates and projected EBITDA margins involved considering (i) the current and past performance of the acquired business; (i) the consistency with external market and industry data;
and (iii) whether these assumptions were consistent with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in
evaluating (i) the appropriateness of the multi-period excess earnings method and (ji) the reasonableness of the discount rate and customer revenue attrition rate assumptions.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Houston, Texas
February 22, 2024 13, 2025

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1982.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 50/181

©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

GRANITE CONSTRUCTION INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31, December 31, 2023 2022 December 31, 2024 2023

ASSETS

Current assets

Current assets

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents ($120,224 and $102,547 related to consolidated construction joint ventures (“CCJVs"))
Cash and cash equivalents ($120,224 and $102,547 related to consolidated construction joint ventures (“CCJVs"))
Cash and cash equivalents ($120,224 and $102,547 related to consolidated construction joint ventures (“CCJVs"))

Current assets:

Current assets:

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ($173,894 and $120,224 related to consolidated construction joint ventures (“CCJVs"))
Cash and cash equivalents ($173,894 and $120,224 related to consolidated construction joint ventures (“CCJVs"))
Cash and cash equivalents ($173,894 and $120,224 related to consolidated construction joint ventures (“CCJVs"))

Short-term marketable securities

Receivables, net ($62,040 and $39,281 related to CCJVs)
Contract assets ($68,520 and $80,306 related to CCJVs)
Receivables, net ($33,708 and $62,040 related to CCJVs)
Contract assets ($115,834 and $68,520 related to CCJVs)

Inventories

Equity in unconsolidated construction joint ventures
Other current assets ($5,590 and $5,694 related to CCJVs)
Other current assets ($3,982 and $5,590 related to CCJVs)

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net ($7,557 and $7,834 related to CCJVs)

Long-term marketable securities
Property and equipment, net ($6,792 and $7,557 related to CCJVs)

Investments in affiliates
Investments in affiliates
Investments in affiliates
Goodwill

Intangible assets

Right of use assets
Deferred income taxes, net

Other noncurrent assets

Total assets
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Current liabilities
Current liabilities
Current liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term debt
Current maturities of long-term debt

Current maturities of long-term debt

Accounts payable ($62,755 and $57,534 related to CCJVs)

Contract liabilities ($50,929 and $62,675 related to CCJVs)

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities ($5,426 and $8,451 related to CCJVs)
Accounts payable ($74,745 and $62,755 related to CCJVs)
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Contract liabilities ($80,096 and $50,929 related to CCJVs)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities ($4,706 and $5,426 related to CCJVs)

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Long-term lease liabilities
Deferred income taxes, net

Other long-term liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (see Note 20) Commitments and Commitments and
contingencies (see Note 20) contingencies (see Note
20)
Equity
Equity:

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 3,000,000 shares, none outstanding
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 3,000,000 shares, none outstanding
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 3,000,000 shares, none outstanding

Common stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 150,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding: 43,944,118 shares as of
December 31, 2023 and 43,743,907 shares as of December 31, 2022

Common stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 150,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding: 43,424,646 shares as of
December 31, 2024 and 43,944,118 shares as of December 31, 2023

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Retained earnings

Total Granite Construction Incorporated shareholders’ equity

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

GRANITE CONSTRUCTION INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

Years Ended December Years Ended December
Years Ended December 31, 31, 2023 2022 2021 31, 2024 2023 2022

Revenue
Construction
Construction
Construction

Materials

Total revenue

Revenue

Revenue

Cost of revenue
Construction
Construction
Construction

Materials

Total cost of revenue
Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue

Gross profit
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Selling, general and administrative expenses
Other costs, net (see Note 1)

Gain on sales of property and equipment, net

Operating income

Other (income) expense

Other (income) expense:
Loss on debt extinguishment
Loss on debt extinguishment
Loss on debt extinguishment
Interest income
Interest expense
Equity in income of affiliates, net

Other (income) expense, net

Total other (income) expense, net

Income before income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Net income

Amount attributable to non-controlling interests

Net income attributable to Granite Construction

Incorporated
Net income per share attributable to common shareholders (see Note 18):
Net income per share attributable to common shareholders (see Note 18):
Net income per share attributable to common shareholders (see Note 18):
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic
Basic
Basic 43,879 44,485 45,788 43,846 43,879 44,485
Diluted Diluted 52,565 52,326 47,599 Diluted 52,514 52,565 52,326

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

GRANITE CONSTRUCTION INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021 Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022

Net income

Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Net unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges, net of tax
Net unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges, net of tax
Net unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges, net of tax

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Net realized and unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges, net of tax
Net realized and unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges, net of tax
Net realized and unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges, net of tax

Less: reclassification for net gains included in interest expense, net of tax

Net change

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 53/181

©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Foreign currency translation adjustments, net

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax

Comprehensive income, net of tax
Non-controlling interests in comprehensive income, net of tax

Non-controlling interests in comprehensive (income) loss, net of tax

Comprehensive income attributable to Granite Construction Incorporated, net of tax

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

GRANITE CONSTRUCTION INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands, except share data)
Accumulated
Additional Other Total Granite Non-

Outstanding Outstanding Common Paid-In Comprehensive Retained Shareholders’ Controlling Total Outstanding Common

Shares Shares Stock Capital = Income (Loss) Earnings Equity Interests  Equity Shares

Balances at
December 31,
2020

Net income
Other
comprehensive
income

RSUs vested

Repurchases
of common
stock (1)
Dividends on
common stock
($0.52 per
share)
Transactions
with non-
controlling
interests, net
Stock-based
compensation
expense and
other

Balances at
December 31,
2021

Cumulative
effect of newly
adopted
accounting
standard (see
Note 1)

Balances at
January 1,
2022

Net income
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Other
comprehensive
income
Repurchases
of common
stock (1)
RSUs vested
Dividends on
common stock
($0.52 per
share)
Transactions
with non-
controlling
interests, net
Stock-based
compensation
expense and
other

Balances at
December 31,
2022

Net income
Other
comprehensive
income
Repurchases
of common
stock (1)
RSUs vested
Dividends on
common stock
($0.52 per
share)
Capped call
transactions

Redemption of

warrants

Common stock

issued in debt

extinguishment

Exercise of

bond hedge

Transactions

with non-

controlling

interests, net

Stock-based

compensation

expense and

other

Balances at

December 31,

2023

(1) During the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, there were 75,303 102,413 shares and 68,580 75,303 shares, respectively, withheld related to employee taxes for
RSUs vested under our equity incentive plans. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we also repurchased 2,298,353 shares under the Board approved share repurchase program.
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Outstanding Common

Shares

Balances at
December 31,
2022

Balances at
December 31,
2023

Net income

Other
comprehensive
income

Other
comprehensive
loss

Repurchases
of common
stock (1)
RSUs vested
Dividends on
common stock
($0.52 per
share)
Capped call

transactions

Redemption of
warrants
Common stock
issued in debt
extinguishment
Common stock
issued in debt
redemption
Exercise of
bond hedge
Transactions
with non-
controlling
interests, net
Transactions
with non-
controlling
interests
Stock-based
compensation
expense and
other

Balances at

December 31,
2023

Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Total Granite

Non-

Comprehensive Retained Shareholders’ Controlling Total

Income (Loss) Earnings

Equity

Interests Equity
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Balances at
December 31,
2024

(1) Amounts represent During the year ended December 31, 2024, there were 152,042 shares withheld for related to employee taxes for RSUs vested under our equity incentive plans. During the year

ended December 31, 2023, we did not repurchase any plans and 524,800 shares repurchased under the Board-approved Board approved share repurchase program.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

GRANITE CONSTRUCTION INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021 Years Ended December 31,

Operating activities

Operating activities:
Net income
Net income

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Amortization related to long-term debt
Non-cash loss on debt extinguishment
Loss on debt extinguishment
Gain on sales of property and equipment, net
Deferred income taxes
Stock-based compensation
Equity in net loss from unconsolidated construction joint ventures
Net income from affiliates
Other non-cash adjustments
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Receivables
Receivables
Contract assets, net
Inventories
Contributions to unconsolidated construction joint ventures
Distributions from unconsolidated construction joint ventures and affiliates
Deposit for legal settlement
Other assets, net
Accounts payable
Accrual for legal settlement

Accrued expenses and other liabilities, net

Net cash provided by operating activities

Investing activities

Investing activities:
Purchases of marketable securities
Purchases of marketable securities
Purchases of marketable securities

Maturities of marketable securities
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Proceeds from called marketable securities
Purchases of property and equipment
Purchases of property and equipment
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment

Proceeds from company-owned life insurance

Proceeds from the sale of business (see Note 1)

Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (see Note 2)

Proceeds from the sale of business

Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired (see Note 2)

Cash paid for purchase price adjustments on business acquisition (see Note 2)

Issuance of notes receivable
Issuance of notes receivable
Issuance of notes receivable

Collection of notes receivable

Other investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities
Proceeds from debt
Proceeds from debt

Proceeds from debt

Financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes
Proceeds from long-term debt
Debt principal repayments
Capped call transactions

Redemption of warrants
Proceeds from issuance of 3.75% Convertible Notes

Debt issuance costs

Cash dividends paid

Repurchases of common stock (see Note 17)
Contributions from non-controlling partners
Distributions to non-controlling partners

Other financing activities, net

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash, cash equivalents and $0, $1,512 and $1,512 in restricted cash at beginning of period

Cash, cash equivalents and $0, $0 and $1,512 in restricted cash at end of period

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash, cash equivalents and $0, $0 and $1,512 in restricted cash at beginning of period

Cash, cash equivalents and no restricted cash at end of any period
Supplementary Information
Supplementary Information
Supplementary Information
Supplementary Information:
Supplementary Information:
Supplementary Information:

Right of use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations
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Right of use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations
Right of use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations
Cash paid during the period for:

Operating lease liabilities

Operating lease liabilities

Operating lease liabilities

Interest

Income taxes
Other non-cash operating activities:

Performance guarantees

Performance guarantees

Performance guarantees

Deferred taxes related to capped call transactions

Deferred taxes related to capped call transactions

Deferred taxes related to capped call transactions
Non-cash investing and financing activities:

RSUs issued, net of forfeitures

RSUs issued, net of forfeitures

RSUs issued, net of forfeitures

Dividends declared but not paid

Contributions from non-controlling partners

Accrued equipment purchases

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

GRANITE CONSTRUCTION INCORPORATED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business: Granite Construction Incorporated is one of the largest diversified, construction vertically integrated civil contractors and construction materials

companies producers in the United States, engaged in infrastructure projects including the construction of streets, roads, highways, mass transit facilities, airport infrastructure,
bridges, dams, power-related facilities, utilities, tunnels, water well drilling and other infrastructure-related projects, site preparation, mining services and infrastructure services for
commercial and industrial sites, railways, residential development, energy development, as well as construction management professional services. We own and lease aggregate
reserves and own processing plants that are vertically integrated into our construction operations and we also produce construction materials for sale to third parties. Our operations
have primary offices located in Alaska, Arizona, California, Canada, Colorado, Florida, Guam, lllinois, Mississippi, Nevada, Tennessee, Texas, Utah and Washington. Unless
otherwise indicated, the terms “we

us,” “our,” “Company” and “Granite” refer to Granite Construction Incorporated and its wholly-owned and consolidated subsidiaries.
In addition to reportable segments, we also review our business by operating groups. In alphabetical order, our operating groups are as follows:
*Basis of Presentation:California, which is comprised of vertically integrated businesses in home markets across the state;

¢ Central, which includes the vertically integrated Arizona region and regional civil construction businesses in lllinois, Florida and Texas. The Central group also includes the
Federal division which performs civil construction across the continental United States and Guam, and the Tunnel division; and

* Mountain, which is comprised of vertically integrated regional businesses in Alaska, Washington, Oregon, Utah and Nevada. The Mountain Group also includes national
businesses in the Industrial & Energy division, which primarily focuses on commercial solar construction projects, Water Resources, which performs water well drilling and
rehabilitation services and Mineral Services, which performs mineral exploration services for mining clients.

During the first quarter of 2022, 2024, we completed reorganized our operational structure to more closely align with our two reportable segments, Construction and Materials.
Previously, leaders within our three operating groups of California, Central and Mountain managed both Construction and Materials operations within each group. This change will
allow us to better leverage our expertise within each reportable segment with leadership having direct oversight of their respective segment operations. As a result of the sale

of reorganization, we will no longer disclose financial information by operating group. There were no material impacts to our consolidated financial statements and no changes to our
reportable segments.

Acquisitions and Divestitures: On August 9, 2024, we acquired Dickerson & Bowen, Inc. ("D&B"). D&B is an aggregates, asphalt, and highway construction company serving central
and southern Mississippi. See Note 2 for more information.

On November 30, 2023, we acquired Lehman-Roberts Company and Memphis Stone & Gravel Company (collectively, "LRC/MSG"). LRC/MSG operates strategically located
asphalt plants and sand and gravel mines serving the greater Memphis area and northern Mississippi. See Note 2 for more information.
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On April 24, 2023, we acquired Coast Mountain Resources (2020) Ltd. which changed its name to Granite Infrastructure Canada, Ltd. ("Granite Canada") on May 13, 2024. Granite
Canada is a construction aggregate producer based in British Columbia, Canada operating on Malahat First Nation land. See Note 2 for more information.

On March 16, 2022, we sold our trenchless and pipe rehabilitation services business, (“Inliner”) to Inland Pipe Rehabilitation LLC (“IPR”) and 1000097155 Ontario Inc. (“Ontario” and
together with IPR, the “Purchasers”), investment affiliates of J.F. Lehman & Company, Inliner, for a purchase price of $159.7 million, $159.7 million, subject to certain adjustments. As
a result of the sale and post-closing adjustments, we received cash proceeds of $140.6 million $140.6 million and recognized a gain of $1.8 million. $1.8 million. This gain is included
in Other costs, net in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022.

On April 24, 2023, we completed the purchase of Coast Mountain Resources (2020) Ltd. (‘CMR”). CMR is a construction aggregate producer based in British Columbia, Canada
operating on Malahat First Nation land. This acquisition did not have a material impact on our results of operations. See Note 2 for more information.

On November 30, 2023, we completed the acquisition of Lehman-Roberts Company and Memphis Stone & Gravel Company (collectively, "LRC/MSG"). The acquired businesses
are longstanding asphalt paving and asphalt and aggregates producers and suppliers. See Note 2 for more information.

Principles of Consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Granite Construction Incorporated and its wholly-owned and consolidated subsidiaries. All
material inter-company transactions and accounts have been eliminated. Additionally, we participate in various construction joint ventures of which we are a limited member (“joint
ventures”). Generally, each construction joint venture is formed to accomplish a specific project and is jointly controlled by the joint venture partners. The joint venture agreements
typically provide that our interests in any profits and assets and our respective share in any losses and liabilities that may result from the performance of the contracts are limited to
our stated percentage interest in the project. However, due to the joint and several nature of the performance obligations under the related owner contracts, if any of the partners fail
to perform, we and the remaining partners, if any, would be responsible for performance of the outstanding work (i.e., we provide a performance guarantee). Under our joint venture
contractual arrangements, we provide capital to these joint ventures in return for an ownership interest. In addition, partners dedicate resources to the joint ventures necessary to
complete the contracts and are reimbursed for their cost. The operational risks of each construction joint venture are passed along to the joint venture members. As we absorb our
share of these risks, our investment in each venture is exposed to potential gains and losses. We consolidate joint ventures if we determine that through our participation we have a
variable interest and are the primary beneficiary as defined by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards Codification (*ASC") Topic 810,
Consolidation, and related standards. The factors we use to determine the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity (“VIE”) may include the decision authority of each partner,
which partner manages the day-to-day operations of the project and the amount of our equity investment in relation to that of our partners. Although not applicable for any of the
years presented, if we determine that the power to direct the significant activities is shared equally by two or more joint venture parties, then there is no primary beneficiary and no
party consolidates the VIE.
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If we have determined we are not the primary beneficiary of a joint venture but do exercise significant influence, we account for our share of the operations of the unconsolidated
construction joint ventures on a pro rata basis in revenue and

cost of revenue in the consolidated statements of operations. We record the corresponding investment balance in equity in construction joint ventures in the consolidated balance
sheets except when a project is in a loss position, the investment balance is recorded as a deficit in unconsolidated construction joint ventures and is included in accrued expenses
and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. Our investment in unconsolidated construction joint ventures could extend beyond one year and is within the normal
operating cycle of the associated construction projects. We account for non-construction unconsolidated joint ventures under the equity method of accounting in accordance with
ASC Topic 323, Investments - Equity Method and Joint Ventures, and include our share of the operations in equity in income of affiliates in the consolidated statements of operations
and in investment in affiliates in the consolidated balance sheets.

We also participate in “line-item” joint venture agreements under which each partner is responsible for performing certain discrete items of the total scope of contracted work. The
revenue for each line-item joint venture partners’ discrete items of work is defined in the contract with the project owner and each joint venture partner bears the profitability risk
associated only with its own work. There is not a single set of books and records for a line-item joint venture. Each partner accounts for its items of work individually as it would for
any self-performed contract. We account for our portion of these contracts as revenue and cost of revenue in the consolidated statements of operations and in relevant balances in
the consolidated balance sheets.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements: The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“U.S. GAAP"). The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
revenue and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Our estimates and related judgments and assumptions are continually evaluated based on
available information and experiences; however, actual amounts could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition: Our revenue is primarily derived from construction contracts that can span several quarters or years in our Construction segment and from sales of
construction related materials in our Materials segment. We recognize revenue in accordance with ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and subsequently
issued additional related Accounting Standards Updates (“ASU"s) (“Topic 606"). Topic 606 provides for a five-step model for recognizing revenue from contracts with customers as

follows:
1. Identify the contract
2. Identify performance obligations
3. Determine the transaction price
4. Allocate the transaction price
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5. Recognize revenue

Generally, our contracts contain one performance obligation. Contracts with customers in our Materials segment are typically defined by our customary business practices and are
valued at the contractual selling price per unit. Our customary business practices are for the delivery of a separately identifiable good at a point in time which is typically when
delivery to the customer occurs. Contracts in our Construction segment may contain multiple distinct promises or multiple contracts within a master agreement (e.qg., contracts that
cross multiple locations/geographies and task orders), which we review at contract inception to determine if they represent multiple performance obligations or multiple separate
contracts. This review consists of determining if promises or groups of promises are distinct within the context of the contract, including whether contracts are physically contiguous,
contain task orders, purchase or sales orders, termination clauses and/or elements not related to design and/or build.

The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods and services to the customer. The contractual consideration
from customers of our Construction segment may include both fixed amounts and variable amounts (e.g., bonuses/incentives or penalties/liquidated damages) to the extent that a
significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved (i.e., probable and
estimable). When a contract has a single performance obligation, the entire transaction price is attributed to that performance obligation. When a contract has more than one
performance obligation, the transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation based on estimated relative standalone selling prices of the goods or services at the
inception of the contract, which typically is determined using cost plus an appropriate margin.

Subsequent to the inception of a contract in our Construction segment, the transaction price could change for various reasons, including executed or unapproved change orders,
and unresolved contract modifications and/or affirmative claims. Changes that are accounted for as an adjustment to existing performance obligations are allocated on the same
basis at
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contract inception. Otherwise, changes are accounted for as separate performance obligation(s) and the separate transaction price is allocated as discussed above.

Changes are made to the transaction price from unapproved change orders to the extent the amount can be reasonably estimated and recovery is probable.

On certain projects we have submitted and have pending unresolved contract modifications and/or affirmative claims (“affirmative claims”) to recover additional costs and the
associated profit, if applicable, to which we believe we are entitled under the terms of contracts with customers, subcontractors, vendors or others. The owners or their authorized
representatives and/or other third parties may be in partial or full agreement with the modifications or affirmative claims, or may have rejected or disagree entirely or partially as to
such entitlement.

Changes are made to the transaction price from affirmative claims with customers to the extent that additional revenue on a claim settlement with a customer is probable and
estimable. A reduction to costs related to affirmative claims with non-customers with whom we have a contractual arrangement (“back charges”) is recognized when the estimated
recovery is probable and estimable. Recognizing affirmative claims and back charge recoveries requires significant judgments of certain factors including, but not limited to, dispute
resolution developments and outcomes, anticipated negotiation results, and the cost of resolving such matters.

Generally, performance obligations related to contracts in our Construction segment are satisfied over time because our performance typically creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced. We recognize revenue as performance obligations are satisfied and control of the promised good and/or service is
transferred to the customer. Revenue in our Construction segment is ordinarily recognized over time as control is transferred to the customers by measuring the progress toward
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation(s) using an input (i.e., “cost to cost”) method. Under the cost to cost method, costs incurred to-date are generally the best
depiction of transfer of control.

All contract costs, including those associated with affirmative claims, change orders and back charges, are recorded as incurred and revisions to estimated total costs are reflected
as soon as the obligation to perform is determined. Contract costs consist of direct costs on contracts, including labor and materials, amounts payable to subcontractors, direct
overhead costs and equipment expense (primarily depreciation, fuel, maintenance and repairs).

The accuracy of our revenue and profit recognition in a given period depends on the accuracy of our estimates of the forecasted revenue and cost to complete each project. Cost
estimates for all of our significant projects use a detailed “bottom up” approach. There are a number of factors that can contribute to revisions in estimates of contract cost and
profitability. The most significant of these include:

« changes in costs of labor and/or materials;

* subcontractor costs, availability and/or performance issues;

« extended overhead and other costs due to owner, weather and other delays;

« changes in productivity expectations;

« changes from original design on design-build projects;

« our ability to fully and promptly recover on affirmative claims and back charges for additional contract costs;
« achange in the availability and proximity of equipment and materials;

« complexity in original design;

« length of time to complete the project;

« the availability and skill level of workers in the geographic location of the project;
« site conditions that differ from those assumed in the original bid;

« costs associated with scope changes; and

« the customer’s ability to properly administer the contract.
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The foregoing factors, as well as the stage of completion of contracts in process and the mix of contracts at different margins may cause fluctuations in gross profit and gross profit
margin from period to period. Significant changes in revenue and cost estimates, particularly in our larger, more complex, multi-year projects have had, and can in future periods
have, a significant effect on our profitability.

All state and federal government contracts and many of our other contracts provide for termination of the contract at the convenience of the party contracting with us, with provisions
to pay us for work performed through the date of termination including demobilization cost.

Costs to obtain our contracts (“pre-bid costs”) that are not expected to be recovered from the customer are expensed as incurred and included in selling, general and administrative
expenses in our consolidated statements of operations.
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Although unusual, pre-bid costs that are explicitly chargeable to the customer even if the contract is not obtained are included in accounts receivable in our consolidated balance
sheets when we are notified that we are not the low bidder with a corresponding reduction to selling, general and administrative expenses in our consolidated statements of
operations.

Unearned Revenue: Unearned revenue represents the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied performance obligations at the end
of a reporting period. We generally include a project in our unearned revenue at the time a contract is awarded, the contract has been executed and to the extent we believe funding
is probable. Certain contracts contain contract options that are exercisable at the option of our customers without requiring us to go through an additional competitive bidding
process or contain task orders related to master contracts under which we perform work only when the customer awards specific task orders to us. Contract options and task orders
are included in unearned revenue when exercised or issued, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, unearned revenue was $3.6 billion and
$2.9 billion, respectively. . Approximately $2.3 billion $2.6 billion of the December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 unearned revenue is expected to be recognized within the next twelve
months and the remaining amount will be recognized thereafter. Substantially all of the contracts in our unearned revenue may be canceled or modified at the election of the
customer; however, we have not been materially adversely affected by contract cancellations or modifications in the past. Many projects are added to unearned revenue and
completed within the same fiscal quarter or year and, therefore, may not be reflected in our beginning or ending unearned revenue.

Balance Sheet Classifications: Prepaid expenses and amounts receivable and payable under construction contracts (principally retentions) that may exist over the duration of the
contract and could extend beyond one year are included in current assets and liabilities. A one-year time period is used as the basis for classifying all other current assets and
liabilities.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: Cash equivalents are securities having maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase. Our access to joint venture cash may be limited by
the provisions of the joint venture agreements.

Contract Assets: Our contract assets include costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings as well as amounts due under contractual retention provisions. Costs and estimated
earnings in excess of billings represent amounts earned and reimbursable under contracts, including customer affirmative claim recovery estimates, and have a conditional right for
billing and payment such as achievement of milestones or completion of the project. Generally, with the exception of customer affirmative claims, such unbilled amounts will become
billable according to the contract terms and generally will be billed and collected over the next twelve months. Settlement with the customer of outstanding affirmative claims is
dependent on the claims resolution process and could extend beyond one year. Based on our historical experience, we generally consider the collection risk related to billable
amounts to be low. However, when events or conditions indicate that it is probable that the amounts become unbillable, the transaction price and associated contract asset is
reduced. Certain contracts in our Construction segment include retention provisions to provide assurance to our customers that we will perform in accordance with the contract
terms and are not considered a financing benefit under ASC Topic 606. The balances billed but not paid by customers pursuant to these provisions generally become due upon
completion and acceptance of the project work or products by the customer.

Marketable Securities: We determine the classification of our marketable securities at the time of purchase and re-evaluate these determinations at each balance sheet date. Our
marketable securities are fixed income marketable securities and are classified as held-to-maturity as we have the positive intent and ability to hold the securities to maturity. Held-
to-maturity investments are stated at amortized cost and are periodically assessed for other-than-temporary impairment. Amortized cost of debt securities is adjusted for
amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity and is included in interest income. The cost of securities redeemed or called is based on the specific identification
method.

Derivative Instruments: We recognize derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value using Level 2 inputs. To receive hedge
accounting treatment, derivative instruments that are designated as cash flow hedges must be highly effective in offsetting changes to expected future cash flows on hedged
transactions. We formally document our hedge relationships at inception, including identification of the hedging instruments and the hedged items, our risk management objectives
and strategies for undertaking the hedge transaction, and the initial quantitative assessment of the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting changes in the fair value of the
hedged items. The effective portion of the gain or loss on cash flow hedges is reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and subsequently
reclassified to the consolidated statements of operations when the periodic hedged cash flows are settled. Adjustments to fair value on derivative instruments that are not part of a
designated hedging relationship are reported through the consolidated statements of operations. We do not enter into derivative instruments for speculative or trading purposes.

The derivative 2023 capped call transactions related to the 2.75% senior convertible notes due 2024 (the "2.75% Convertible Notes") and the Capped Call Transactions related

to associated with the 3.75% convertible senior notes due 2028 (the "3.75% Convertible Notes") and the 2024 capped call transactions associated with the 3.25% convertible senior
notes due 2030 (the "3.25% Convertible Notes") are indexed to our stock and meet the equity classification requirements per ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging. These
capped call transactions were
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recorded to equity in our consolidated balance sheets based on the cash proceeds and are

not accounted for as a bifurcated derivative. They will not be remeasured as long as they continue to meet the conditions for equity classification.

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities: We measure and disclose certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value. ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures, defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for
the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. ASC Topic 820 also establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity
to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. ASC Topic 820 describes three levels of inputs that may be used
to measure fair value:

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

We utilize the active market approach to measure fair value for our financial assets and liabilities. We report separately each class of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on
a recurring basis and include assets and liabilities that are disclosed but not recorded at fair value in the fair value hierarchy.

Allowance for Credit Losses: Financial assets, which potentially subject us to credit losses, consist primarily of short and long-term marketable securities, receivables, contract
assets and long-term notes receivables included in other noncurrent assets in our consolidated balance sheets. We measure expected credit losses of financial assets based on
historical loss and other information available to management using a loss rate method applied to asset groups with categorically similar risk characteristics. These expected credit
losses are recorded to an allowance for credit losses valuation account that is deducted from receivables and contract assets to present the net amount expected to be collected on
the financial asset in the consolidated balance sheets.

Concentrations of Credit Risk: Financial instruments, which potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, marketable
securities, accounts receivable and contract assets. We maintain our cash and cash equivalents and our marketable securities with several financial institutions. We invest with high
credit quality financial institutions and, by policy, limit the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution. During the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024,
20222023 and 2021, 2022, our largest volume customer, including both prime and subcontractor arrangements, was the California Department of Transportation (“Caltrans”).
Revenue recognized from contracts with Caltrans during the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 and 2021 represented $458.2 $567.6 million
(14.2% of total revenue), $458.2 million (13.1% of total revenue), and $348.0 million (10.5% of total revenue), and $337.1 million (9.6% of total revenue), respectively, which was
primarily in the Construction segment. Other than Caltrans, none of our customers, including both prime and subcontractor arrangements, had revenue that individually exceeded
10% of total revenue during the year ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023 and, or December 31, 2022. During the year ended December 31, 2021, none of our
customers had revenue that individually exceeded 10% of total revenue.

The majority of our receivables are from customers concentrated in the United States. None of our customers had a receivable balance in excess of 10% of our total net receivables
as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022.2023. Certain construction contracts include retention provisions that were included in contract assets as of December 31,
2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 in our consolidated balance sheets. The balances billed but not paid by customers pursuant to these provisions generally become due
upon completion and acceptance of the project work or products by the owners. The majority of the December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 contract retention balance disclosed in
Note 6 is expected to be collected within one year. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and generally do not require collateral, although the law provides us the
ability to file mechanics’ liens on real property improved for private customers in the event of non-payment by such customers.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation: In the periods presented we had operations in Mexico and Canada which involved exposure to possible volatile movements in
foreign currency exchange rates. We account for foreign currency exchange transactions and translation in accordance with ASC Topic 830, Foreign Currency Matters. In the third
quarter of 2023, we began the wind down of our international Minerals Services mineral services operations which operated in Mexico and Canada. Our Materials Segment
continues to have international operations in Canada. In Mexico, most of our customer contracts and a significant portion of our costs were denominated in U.S. dollars; therefore,
the functional currency was U.S. dollars. In Canada, the functional currency is the local currency. Foreign currency transactions are remeasured into the functional currency with
gains and losses included in other income, net in the consolidated statements of operations. The impact from
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foreign currency transactions was immaterial for 2024, 2023 2022 and 2021. 2022. Assets and liabilities in functional currency are
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translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated into U.S. dollars at average foreign currency exchange
rates prevailing during the reporting periods. The translation adjustments from functional currency to U.S. dollars are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income on the
consolidated balance sheets.

Inventories: Inventories relating to our operations consist primarily of quarry products, contract-specific materials and water well drilling materials, supplies, as well as mineral
extraction and drilling supplies located primarily in the U.S. Cost of inventories are valued at the lower of average cost or net realizable value. We reserve quarry products based on
estimated quantities of materials on hand in excess of approximately one year of demand.

Investments in Affiliates: Each investment accounted for under the equity method of accounting is reviewed for impairment in accordance with ASC Topic 323, Investments - Equity
Method and Joint Ventures. We account for our share of the operating results of the equity method investments in equity in income from affiliates, net in the consolidated statements
of operations and as a single line item in the consolidated balance sheets as investments in affiliates. Our investments in affiliates include foreign entities, real estate

entities ventures and an asphalt terminal entity. These investments are evaluated for impairment using the other-than-temporary impairment model, which requires an impairment
charge to be recognized if our investment’s carrying amount exceeds its fair value, and the decline in fair value is deemed to be other than temporary. Recoverability is measured by
comparison of carrying amounts to future undiscounted cash flows the investments are expected to generate. Events or changes in circumstances which would cause us to review
undiscounted future cash flows include, but are not limited to:

» significant adverse changes in legal factors or the business climate and
« current period cash flow or operating losses combined with a history of losses, or a forecast of continuing losses associated with the use of the asset.

In addition, events or changes in circumstances specifically related to our real estate entities, ventures, include:

« significant decreases in the market price of the asset;
< accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount originally expected for the acquisition, development or construction of the asset; and
« significant changes to the development or business plans of a project.

Future undiscounted cash flows and fair value assessments for our foreign entities and for the asphalt terminal entity are estimated based on market conditions and the political
climate. Future undiscounted cash flows and fair value assessments for our real estate entities ventures are estimated based on entitlement status, market conditions, cost of
construction, debt load, development schedules, status of joint venture partners and other factors applicable to the specific project. Fair value is estimated based on the expected
future cash flows attributable to the asset or group of assets and on other assumptions that market participants would use in determining fair value, such as market discount rates,
transaction prices for other comparable assets, and other market data. Our estimates of cash flows may differ from actual cash flows due to, among other things, fluctuations in
interest rates, decisions made by jurisdictional agencies, economic conditions, or changes to our business operations.

Property and Equipment: Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation for construction and other equipment is primarily provided calculated using accelerated methods
over lives ranging from three to ten years, and the straight-line method over lives from two to twenty years for the remaining depreciable assets. We believe that accelerated
methods best approximate the service provided by the construction and other equipment. Depletion of quarry property is based on the usage of depletable reserves. We frequently
sell property and equipment that has reached the end of its useful life or no longer meets our needs, including depleted quarry property. At the time that an asset or an asset group
meets the held for sale criteria as defined by ASC Topic 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, depreciation is discontinued and we write it down to fair value less cost to sell, if the
fair value is below the carrying value. Fair value is estimated by a variety of factors including, but not limited to, market comparative data, historical sales prices, broker quotes and
third-party valuations. If material, such property is separately disclosed in the consolidated balance sheets, otherwise it is held in property and equipment until sold. The cost and
accumulated depreciation or depletion of property sold or retired is removed from the consolidated balance sheets and the resulting gains or losses, if any, are reflected in operating
income in the consolidated statements of operations for the period. In the case that we abandon an asset, an amount equal to the carrying amount of the asset, less salvage value,
if any, will be recognized as expense in the period that the asset was abandoned. Repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.

Costs related to the development of internal-use software during the preliminary project and post-implementation stages are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred during the
application development stage are capitalized. These costs consist
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primarily of software, hardware and consulting fees, as well as salaries and related costs. Amounts capitalized are reported

as a component of office furniture and equipment within property and equipment in the consolidated balance sheets. Capitalized software costs are depreciated using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful life of the related software, which ranges from three to seven years. During the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024,
20222023 and 2021, 2022, we capitalized $10.1 $6.9 million, $11.4 million $10.1 million, $12.0 million $11.4 million and, respectively, of internal-use software development and
related hardware costs.

Long-lived Assets: We review property and equipment and amortizable identifiable intangible assets for impairment at an asset group level whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset group may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these asset groups is measured by comparison of their carrying amounts to
the future undiscounted cash flows the asset groups are expected to generate. If the asset groups are considered to be impaired, an impairment charge will be recognized equal to
the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds fair value. We group construction and plant equipment assets at the lowest level for which identifiable cash
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flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets. When an individual asset or group of assets is determined to no longer contribute to its vertically integrated
construction and plant equipment asset group, it is assessed for impairment independently.

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, amortizable identifiable intangible assets, which primarily include customer relationships, trademarks/trade names and permits, are
being amortized over remaining terms from useful lives of one to thirty years. All identifiable intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis.

Goodwill: During the first quarter of 2024, we reorganized our operational structure to more closely align with our two reportable segments, Construction and Materials. We account
for business combinations performed quantitative goodwill impairment tests on the affected reporting units immediately before and after the reorganization. These reporting units
previously aligned with our operating group structure, but have now been combined into two legacy reporting units, Construction and Materials. For each of the affected reporting
units, we calculated the estimated fair value consistent with the annual impairment assessment using the acquisition method, under which discounted cash flows and market multiple
methods. These tests indicated that the purchase price of an acquired company is allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and the liabilities assumed on the basis of
their fair values at the date of acquisition. Any excess of purchase price over the fair value of tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed is allocated to goodwill.
The determination of estimated fair values of assets the affected reporting units exceeded their carrying amounts. The LRC/MSG reporting units were not impacted by the
reorganization. The newly acquired and liabilities assumed requires us D&B business has been combined with LRC/MSG to make estimates and use valuation techniques when a
market value is not readily available. form the Granite Southeast reporting units.

As of December 31, 2023 2024, we had seven four reporting units in which goodwill was recorded as follows:

« Central Group Legacy Construction

» Central Group Legacy Materials

* Mountain Group Granite Southeast Construction
* Mountain Group Materials

¢ California Group Construction
¢ LRC/MSG Construction
* LRC/MSG Granite Southeast Materials

We perform our goodwill impairment tests annually as of November 1 and more frequently when events and circumstances occur that indicate a possible impairment of goodwill.
Examples of such events or circumstances include, but are not limited to, the following:

« asignificant adverse change in the business climate;

< asignificant adverse change in legal factors or an adverse action or assessment by a regulator;
« amore likely than not expectation that a segment or a significant portion thereof will be sold; or
« the testing for recoverability of a significant asset group within the segment.

In the third quarter of 2023, in connection with our decision to wind down our international Mineral Services operations, we performed an interim goodwill impairment test on the
Mountain Group Construction reporting unit, which resulted in a $4.5 million non-cash impairment charge. This charge is included in Other costs, net in the consolidated statements
of operations.

In accordance with ASC Topic 350, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other, we can elect to perform a qualitative assessment to test a reporting unit’s goodwill for impairment or perform a
quantitative impairment test. Based on a qualitative assessment, if we determine that the fair value of a reporting unit is more likely than not to be less than its carrying amount, the
guantitative impairment test will be performed.

In performing the quantitative goodwill impairment tests, we calculate the estimated fair value of the reporting unit in which the goodwill is recorded using the discounted cash flows
and market multiple methods. The estimated fair value is compared to the carrying amount of the reporting unit, including goodwill. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its
carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is considered not impaired. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, goodwill is impaired and the excess of
the reporting unit's carrying amount over the fair value is recognized as a non-cash impairment charge.
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Judgments inherent in these methods include the determination of appropriate discount rates, the amount and timing of expected future cash flows, revenue and margin growth
rates, and appropriate benchmark companies. The cash flows used in our discounted cash flow model are based on five-year financial forecasts developed internally by
management adjusted for market participant-based assumptions. Our discount rate assumptions are based on an assessment of the equity cost of capital and appropriate capital
structure for our reporting units. To assess for reasonableness, we compare the estimated fair values of the reporting units to our current market capitalization.

For our 2024 annual goodwill impairment test, we elected to perform a qualitative assessment on our Legacy Construction and Legacy Materials reporting units and it was
determined that no impairment indicators existed and it was more likely than not that the fair values were greater than the carrying amounts; therefore, no quantitative goodwill
impairment test was performed for these reporting units. Factors we considered in our qualitative assessment were macroeconomic conditions, industry and market considerations,
cost factors, overall financial performance, changes in management or key personnel, changes in strategy, changes in customers and changes in the composition or carrying
amount of the reporting unit’s net assets. We performed quantitative goodwill impairment tests on both of our Granite Southeast reporting units. We calculated the estimated fair
value using the discounted cash flows and market multiple methods. These tests indicated that the estimated fair values of these reporting units exceeded their carrying amounts
and we concluded that goodwill was not impaired.
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For our 2023 annual goodwill impairment test, we elected to perform a qualitative assessment on each of our reporting units and we determined that it was more likely than not that
the fair values were greater than the carrying amounts; therefore, no quantitative goodwill impairment test was performed for these reporting units. Factors we considered in our
qualitative assessment were macroeconomic conditions, industry and market considerations, cost factors, overall financial performance, changes in management or key personnel,
changes in strategy, changes in customers and changes in the composition or carrying amount of the reporting unit's net assets.

In the third quarter of 2023, in connection with our decision to wind down our international mineral services operations, we performed an interim goodwill impairment test on the
former Mountain Group Construction reporting unit, which resulted in a $4.5 million non-cash impairment charge. This charge is included in Other costs, net in the consolidated
statements of operations.

Right of use Assets and Lease Liabilities: A lease contract conveys the right to use an underlying asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. At inception, we determine
whether a contract contains a lease by determining if there is an identified asset and if the contract conveys the right to control the use of the identified asset in exchange for
consideration over a period of time.

At lease commencement, we measure and record a lease liability equal to the present value of the remaining lease payments, generally discounted using the borrowing rate on our
secured debt as the implicit rate is not readily determinable on many of our leases. We use a quarterly maturity discount rate if it is not materially different than the discount rates
applied to each of the leases in the portfolio.

On the lease commencement date, the amount of the right of use assets consists of the following:

« the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;
« any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, minus any lease incentives received; and
« any initial direct costs incurred.

On a quarterly basis, we determine if subcontractor, vendor or service provider agreements contain embedded leases by assessing if an asset is explicitly or implicitly specified in
the agreement and the counterparty has the right to substitute the asset. Most of our lease contracts do not have the option to extend or renew. We assess the option for individual
leases, and we generally consider the base term to be the term of lease contracts. Lease contracts may contain non-lease components for which we elected to include both the
lease and non-lease components as a single component and account for it as a lease.

Contract Liabilities: Our contract liabilities consist of billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings, net of the related contract retention and provisions for losses. Billings in
excess of costs and estimated earnings are billings to customers on contracts in advance of work performed, including advance payments negotiated as a contract condition.
Generally, unearned project-related costs will be earned over the next twelve months. Provisions for losses are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations at the
uncompleted performance obligation level for the amount of total estimated losses in the period that evidence indicates that the estimated total cost of a performance obligation
exceeds its estimated total revenue.

Asset Retirement Obligations: We account for the costs related to legal obligations to reclaim aggregate mining sites and other facilities by recording our estimated asset retirement
obligation at fair value using Level 3 inputs, capitalizing the estimated liability as part of the related asset's carrying amount and allocating it to expense over the asset’s useful life.

Warranties: Many of our construction contracts contain warranty provisions covering defects in equipment, materials, design or workmanship that generally run for less than two
years after our customer accepts the contract. Because of the nature of our projects, including contract owner inspections of the work both during construction and prior to
acceptance, we have not experienced material warranty costs for these short-term warranties and, therefore, do not believe an accrual

for these costs is necessary. Certain construction contracts carry longer warranty periods, ranging from two to ten years, for which we have accrued an estimate of warranty cost.
The Our warranty liability is estimated based on our experience with the type of work and any known risks relative to the project and project. Total warranty liability was not material
as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022.2023.

Accrued Insurance Costs: We carry insurance policies to cover various risks, including general liability, automobile liability, workers compensation and employee medical expenses
under which we are liable to reimburse the insurance company for certain losses. The amounts for which we are liable range from the first $0.5 million to $1.5 million per occurrence.
We accrue for probable losses, both reported and unreported, that are reasonably estimable using actuarial methods based on historic trends, modified, if necessary, by recent
events. The establishment of accruals for estimated
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losses associated with our insurance policies are based on actuarial studies that include known facts and interpretations of circumstances, including our experience with similar
cases and historical trends involving claim payment patterns, pending levels of unpaid claims, claim severity, frequency patterns and changing regulatory and legal environments.
Changes in our loss assumptions caused by changes in actual experience would affect our assessment of the ultimate liability and could have an effect on our operating results and
financial position.

Surety Bonds: We generally are required to provide various types of surety bonds that provide an additional measure of security for our performance under certain public and private
sector contracts. Performance bonds do not have stated expiration dates; rather, we are generally released from the bonds after the owner accepts the work performed under
contract. The ability to maintain bonding capacity to support our current and future level of contracting requires that we maintain cash and working capital balances satisfactory to
our sureties.

Performance Guarantees: The agreements with our joint venture partners (“partner(s)”) for both construction joint ventures and line item joint ventures define each partner’s
management role and financial responsibility in the project. The amount of operational exposure is generally limited to our stated ownership interest. However, due to the joint and
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several nature of the performance obligations under the related owner contracts, if any of the partners fail to perform, we and the remaining partners, if any, would be responsible for
performance of the outstanding work (i.e., we provide a performance guarantee). We estimate our liability for performance guarantees for our unconsolidated and line item joint
ventures using estimated partner bond rates, which are Level 2 inputs, and include them in accrued expenses and other current liabilities with a corresponding increase in equity in
construction joint ventures in the consolidated balance sheets. We reassess our liability when and if changes in circumstances occur. The liability and corresponding asset are
removed from the consolidated balance sheets upon completion and customer acceptance of the project. Circumstances that could lead to a loss under these agreements beyond
our stated ownership interest include the failure of a partner to contribute additional funds to the venture in the event the project incurs a loss or additional costs that we could incur
should a partner fail to provide the services and resources that it had committed to provide in the agreement. We are not able to estimate amounts that may be required beyond the
remaining cost of the work to be performed. These costs could be offset by billings to the customer or by proceeds from our partners’ corporate and/or other guarantees.

Contingencies: We are currently involved in various claims and legal proceedings. Loss contingency provisions are recorded if the potential loss from any asserted or un-asserted
claim or legal proceeding is considered probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. If a potential loss is considered probable but only a range of loss can be determined,
the low-end of the range is recorded. These accruals represent management's best estimate of probable loss. Disclosure is also provided when it is reasonably possible and
estimable that a loss will be incurred or when it is reasonably possible that the amount of a loss will exceed the amount recorded. Significant judgment is required in both the
determination of probability of loss and the determination as to whether an exposure is reasonably estimable. Because of uncertainties related to these matters, accruals are based
only on the best information available at the time. As additional information becomes available, we reassess the potential liability related to claims and litigation and may revise our
estimates. We expense associated legal costs as they are incurred. See Note 20 for additional information.

Stock-Based Compensation: We measure and recognize compensation expense, net of forfeitures, over the requisite vesting periods for all stock-based payment awards made and
we recognize forfeitures as they occur. Stock-based compensation is included in selling, general and administrative expenses and cost of revenue on our consolidated statements of
operations.

Other Costs: Other costs, net in the consolidated statements of operations are expensed as they are incurred and relate to settlements of certain legal matters and investigations,
investigation-related include legal fees for the defense of a former Company officer in his ongoing civil litigation with the Securities and net Exchange Commission, reorganization
costs, strategic acquisition and divestiture costs. expenses and non-cash impairment charges. In addition these netto the aforementioned costs, 2023 also included non-cash
impairment charges associated with the wind down of our international Mineral Services operations in 2023, a litigation charge and 2022 included a gain on sale of a business in
2022 and personnel costs incurred in connection with our operating group reorganization during 2021.

Income Taxes: Deferred taxes are provided on a liability method whereby deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences and operating loss carry-forwards
and deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences. Temporary differences are the differences between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities in the

consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely
than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of
enactment. Disproportionate income tax effects which are stranded in accumulated other comprehensive income will be released using the item-by-item approach.

We report a liability in accrued expenses and other current liabilities and in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets for unrecognized tax benefits resulting from
uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax
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return. We recognize interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in interest expense and other income, net in the consolidated statements of operations.

Computation of Earnings per Share: Basic net income per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net
income per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares and dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period. Dilutive potential
common shares include common share equivalents under the equity incentive plans and common share equivalents issuable under our 3.25% Convertible Notes, 3.75%
Convertible Notes and 2.75% Convertible Notes using the if-converted method. Dilutive potential common shares also include common share equivalents issuable under the terms
of our warrants assuming the share price of our common stock was in excess of $53.44, the exercise price of warrants. See Note 14 for further discussion related to of the 3.75%
Convertible Notes, 2.75% Convertible Notes and warrants. convertible notes.

Convertible Notes: ASU 2020-06 simplified the accounting for convertible instruments resulting in accounting for convertible debt instruments as a single liability measured at its
amortized cost. We adopted ASU 2020-06 effective January 1, 2022, using the modified retrospective transition approach under which financial results reported in prior periods were
not adjusted. Upon adoption of this new accounting guidance, the 2.75% Convertible Notes were accounted for entirely as a liability, and the issuance costs were accounted for
wholly as debt issuance costs.

Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements: We closely monitor all ASUs issued by the FASB and other authoritative guidance. There are currently no recently
issued accounting pronouncements that are expected to have a material impact on our financial statements.

In August 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-05, Business Combinations—Joint Venture Formations (Subtopic 805-60): Recognition and Initial Measurement, which requires that a
joint venture apply a new basis of accounting upon formation. As a result, a newly formed joint venture, upon formation, would initially measure its assets and liabilities at fair value.
This ASU is effective prospectively for all joint venture formations with a formation date on or after January 1, 2025. We plan to adopt this ASU in the first quarter of 2025, but do not
expect the adoption to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting—Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which enhances the disclosures regarding an entity’s
reportable segments and addresses requests from investors and other allocators of capital for additional, more detailed information about a reportable segment’s expenses. This
ASU is effective retrospectively commencing with our annual report for the year ending December 31, 2024, and quarterly periods thereafter. We do not expect the adoption of this
ASU to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which is intended to improve the transparency of income
tax disclosures by requiring (1) consistent categories and greater disaggregation of information in the rate reconciliation and (2) income taxes paid disaggregated by jurisdiction. It
also includes certain other amendments intended to improve the effectiveness of income tax disclosures. These new disclosure requirements are effective prospectively
commencing with our annual report for the year ending December 31, 2025. We do not expect the adoption of this ASU to have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40):
Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses, which requires public companies to disclose additional information about certain expenses in the notes to financial statements,
enhancing transparency and providing more detailed insights for investors and other stakeholders. This ASU is effective commencing with our annual report for the year ending
December 31, 2027, and quarterly periods thereafter. We are currently evaluating the impact of this standard on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-04, Induced Conversions of Convertible Debt Instruments. The new guidance clarifies the assessment of whether a transaction
should be accounted for as an induced conversion or extinguishment of convertible debt when changes are made to conversion features as part of an offer to settle the instrument.
The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2025, with early adoption permitted, and it can be adopted either on a prospective or retrospective basis. We
are currently evaluating the impact of this standard on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements:

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting—Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which enhances the disclosures regarding an entity’s
reportable segments and addresses requests from investors and other allocators of capital for additional, more detailed information about a reportable segment’s expenses. We
adopted this ASU retrospectively for the year ended December 31, 2024. See Note 21 for more information.

2. Acquisitions
Dickerson & Bowen, Inc.

On November 30, 2023 (“acquisition date”) August 9, 2024, we completed the acquisition of LRC/MSG Dickerson & Bowen, Inc. ("D&B") for $278.0 $125.5 million in cash, subject to
customary closing adjustments, plus adjustments. D&B is an estimated amount related to tax make-whole agreements with the seller. We purchased all of the outstanding equity
interests in LRC/MSG and the purchase price was funded by our new $150.0 million senior secured term loan, as described further in Note 14, a draw of $100 million under our
existing revolver and the remainder from cash on hand.

The acquired businesses are longstanding asphalt paving and aggregates, asphalt and aggregates producers highway construction company serving central and suppliers.
LRC/MSG operates strategically located asphalt plants and sand and gravel mines serving the greater Memphis area and northern Mississippi.

The buyer of LRC/MSG, Granite Southeast, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Granite Construction Incorporated. LRC/MSG's results are reported southern Mississippi which expands
our footprint in the Central operating group in both the Construction and Materials segments. The Central operating group is most similar in geography, and LRC/MSG's 2023
operating results were not material. LRC/MSG's that region. D&B’s customers are in both the public and private sector. sectors. We have accounted for this transaction in
accordance with ASC Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 805, Business Combinations (“ASC 805").
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We D&B's results have been included LRC/MSG's operating results in our consolidated statements of operations the Construction and Materials segments since the acquisition date.
Revenue and gross profit attributable to LRC/MSG D&B for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $7.7 million December 31, 2024 were $37.8 million and $9.5 million,
respectively.

Pro Forma Financial Information (Unaudited)

The unaudited pro forma financial information in the loss before taxes table below summarizes the combined results of operations of Granite and D&B as though the companies had
been combined as of January 1, 2023. The pro forma financial information is presented for informational purposes only and is not indicative of the results of operations that would
have been achieved if the acquisition had taken place on January 1, 2023, nor does it intend to be a projection of future results.

Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023

(unaudited, in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue $ 4,062,791 $ 3,614,443

Net income attributable to Granite Construction Incorporated $ 134,470 $ 41,119

Basic net income per share attributable to common shareholders $ 3.07 $ 0.94
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Diluted net income per share attributable to common shareholders $ 256 $ 0.78

These amounts have been calculated after applying Granite’s accounting policies and adjusting the results of D&B to reflect the additional depreciation and amortization that would
have been recorded assuming the fair value adjustments to property and equipment and intangible assets had been applied starting on January 1, 2023. Acquisition and integration
expenses related to D&B that were incurred during the year ended December 31, 2024 are reflected in the year ended December 31, 2023 due to the assumed timing of the
transaction. The statutory tax rate of 26% was $2.3 million. used for both 2024 and 2023 for the pro forma adjustments.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we incurred $2.5 million of acquisition and integration expenses included in Other costs, net associated with the D&B acquisition which
were primarily related to professional services.

Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation

In accordance with ASC 805, the total preliminary purchase price and assumed liabilities were was allocated to the net tangible assets acquired and identifiable intangible

assets liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values as of November 30, 2023, as presented in the table below. August 9, 2024. These estimates are subject to revision,
which may result in adjustments to the values presented disclosed below. There are certain provisional estimates that are subject to finalization, one of which is related to tax make-
whole agreements with the seller of approximately $22.0 million, which will be finalized upon the former owners of LRC/MSG paying their personal tax burden related to the sale of
the businesses. finalization. As we continue to integrate the acquired business, we may obtain additional information on the acquired tangible and identifiable intangible net assets
which if significant, may require result in revisions to preliminary valuation assumptions, estimates and the resulting fair values. values presented herein. We expect to finalize these
amounts within 12 months from the acquisition date.

(in thousands) November 30, 2023
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 12,798
Receivables 18,373
Contract assets 3,388
Inventories 13,738
Other current assets 1,032
Property and equipment 84,815
Right of use assets 15,539
Other noncurrent assets 3,718
Total tangible assets $ 153,401
Identifiable intangible assets $ 110,660
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 6,806
Contract liabilities 3,213
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 9,572
Long-term lease liabilities 15,558
Other long-term liabilities 5,960
Total liabilities assumed $ 41,109
Total tangible and identifiable net assets acquired $ 222,952
Goodwill 80,826
Estimated purchase price $ 303,778

In addition, on April 24, 2023, we completed For the purpose of this allocation, the contractual purchase price has been adjusted to exclude cash acquired and include closing
adjustments, resulting in a preliminary purchase price of Coast Mountain Resources (2020) Ltd. (‘CMR”) for $26.6 million. CMR is a construction aggregate producer based in
British Columbia, Canada operating on Malahat First Nation land. This acquisition did not have a material impact on our results of operations. $121.2 million. The tangible and
identifiable intangible assets acquired, and net of liabilities assumed, were approximately $28.5$25.4 million and $7.1$27.9 million, respectively, resulting in respectively. This
generated acquired goodwill of $5.1 million. $67.9 million, none of which is tax deductible. The tangible most significant assets balance consists primarily acquired were $38.1 million
of equipment, vehicles and the right-to-mine which are reported in Property property and equipment net. CMR results are reported inand a $18.2 million customer relationship
intangible asset.

Gooawill

Goodwill represents the Mountain operating group excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the underlying net tangible and identifiable intangible assets. Of the acquired
goodwill, $47.2 million is in the Materials segment. segment and $20.7 million is in the

Construction segment. The factors that contributed to the recognition of goodwill from this acquisition include strengthening and expanding our vertically integrated southeast home
market as well as expected synergies.

Identifiable Intangible assets Assets
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The following table lists amortized identifiable intangible assets from the LRC/MSG D&B acquisition that are included in intangible assets in the consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 (in thousands):
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Useful Lives Useful Lives Gross Accumulated Net Useful Lives Gross Accumulated Net
(Years) (Years) Value Amortization Value (Years) Value Amortization Value
Customer
relationships

Backlog

Trademarks/trade
name

Permits

Total intangible

assets
The fair value of customer relationships was estimated as of the acquisition date utilizing the multi-period excess earnings method. This method discounts to present value the
projected cash flows attributable to the customer relationships. The significant estimates and assumptions used in determining the fair value included discount rates, revenue growth
rates, projected EBITDA earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") margins and customer revenue attrition rates.

The net amortization expense related to the acquired amortized identifiable intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 was included in cost of
revenue and selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.operations. All of the acquired identifiable intangible assets will be amortized
on a straight-line basis. Amortization expense related to the acquired amortized identifiable intangible asset balances at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 is expected to be
recorded in the the future as follows: $13.3 million in 2024; $6.1 million $2.2 million in 2025; $6.1 $1.8 million in each year from 2026 to 2029; and $17.5 million thereafter.

LRCIMSG

On November 30, 2023, we completed the acquisition of LRC/MSG for $278.0 million, subject to customary closing adjustments, plus an estimated amount related to tax make-
whole agreements with the seller. We purchased all of the outstanding equity interests in 2026; $6.1 million in 2027; $6.1 million in 2028; LRC/MSG and $71.9 million thereafter.

Gooadwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price overwas funded by a new $150.0 million senior secured term loan, a draw of $100 million under our existing revolver and the
fair value remainder from cash on hand. Both the senior secured term loan and the draw under the revolver were fully repaid during the first half of the underlying net tangible 2024.

The acquired businesses are longstanding asphalt paving and intangible assets. The factors that contributed to the recognition of goodwill from the acquisitions of asphalt and
aggregates producers and suppliers. LRC/MSG and CMR include strengthening operates strategically located asphalt plants and expanding our vertically integrated home markets.
For sand and gravel mines serving the LRC/MSG acquisition, we recorded $80.8 million of goodwill which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. $63.0 million greater
Memphis area and $17.8 million were allocated to our northern Mississippi.

LRC/MSG's results have been included in the Construction and Materials segments since the acquisition date. LRC/MSG's customers are in both the public and private sectors.
Revenue attributable to LRC/MSG for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $147.3 million and $7.7 million, respectively. For Gross profit (loss) attributable to
LRC/MSG for the CMR acquisition, we recorded $5.1 years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was a profit of $8.7 million and loss of $1.5 million, in goodwill that was allocated to
our Materials segment and is not expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. respectively.

Pro Forma Financial Information (Unaudited)

The unaudited pro forma financial information in the table below summarizes the combined results of operations of Granite and LRC/MSG as though the companies had been
combined as of January 1, 2022. The CMR Granite Canada acquisition discussed below is not included in the pro forma financial information as the effects of the business would not
have a material impact. The pro forma financial information is presented for informational purposes only and is not indicative of the results of operations that would have been
achieved if the acquisition had taken place on January 1, 2022, nor does it intend to be a projection of future results.

Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022

(unaudited, in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue $ 3,720,449 $ 3,485,186
Net income $ 55,025 $ 72,219
Basic net income per share attributable to common shareholders $ 125 $ 1.62
Diluted net income per share attributable to common shareholders $ 119 $ 1.49

These amounts have been calculated after applying Granite’s accounting policies and adjusting the results of LRC/MSG to reflect the additional depreciation and amortization that
would have been recorded assuming the fair value adjustments to property and equipment and intangible assets had been applied starting on January 1, 2022. Additionally, these
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amounts reflect adjustment for additional interest that would have been incurred as a result of incurring debt for the acquisition over the periods in the pro forma financial
information. Acquisition and integration expenses related to LRC/MSG that were incurred during the year ended December 31, 2023 are reflected in the year ended December 31,
2022 due to the assumed timing of the transaction. The statutory tax rate of 26% was used for both 2023 and 2022 for the pro forma adjustments.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we incurred $5.0 million of acquisition and integration expenses included in Other costs, net associated with the LRC/MSG and
CMR Granite Canada acquisitions which were primarily related to professional services.

Purchase Price Allocation

In accordance with ASC 805, the total purchase price and assumed liabilities were allocated to the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets based on their estimated fair values
as of the acquisition date, as presented in the table below.

We recorded a $22.0 million provisional estimate related to tax make-whole agreements with the seller at the time of the acquisition. In the second quarter of 2024, the former
owners of LRC/MSG determined their personal tax burden related to the sale of the businesses which allowed us to finalize our tax make-whole obligation. Our obligation was
$7.1 million, which was paid in June 2024.

During 2024, we made measurement period adjustments to reflect facts and circumstances in existence as of the acquisition date. These adjustments included a $4.6 million net
increase from net working capital adjustments and a $2.2 million net decrease in the value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired, offset by a $14.9 million
decrease in the estimated obligation associated with the tax make-whole agreements noted above. The impact of these adjustments was a decrease in goodwill of $8.1 million. We
paid $13.2 million during the 2024 associated with the acquisition of LRC/MSG, which includes $6.1 million for working capital adjustments and $7.1 million for the tax make-whole
obligation.

We finalized the purchase price allocation during the third quarter of 2024.

Table ofContentsThe following table presents the final purchase price allocation:

(in thousands)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 12,798
Receivables 18,373
Contract assets 3,388
Inventories 13,738
Other current assets 1,032
Property and equipment 86,329
Right of use assets 15,539
Other noncurrent assets 3,718
Total tangible assets $ 154,915
Identifiable intangible assets $ 107,460
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 6,806
Contract liabilities 3,213
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 10,166
Long-term lease liabilities 15,558
Other long-term liabilities 5,960
Total liabilities assumed $ 41,703
Total tangible and identifiable net assets acquired $ 220,672
Goodwill 72,744
Purchase price $ 293,416
Gooawill

The primary factor that contributed to the recognition of goodwill from the acquisition of LRC/MSG was expansion of our vertically integrated home market strategy into the
southeastern United States. For the LRC/MSG acquisition, we recorded $72.7 million of goodwill which will be deductible for tax purposes. $46.7 million and $26.0 million were
allocated to our Construction and Materials segments, respectively.

Identifiable Intangible assets

The following table lists identifiable intangible assets from the LRC/MSG acquisition that are included in intangible assets in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31,
2024 (in thousands):
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Accumulated

Useful Lives (Years) Gross Value Amortization Net Value
Customer relationships 20 $ 78,860 $ (4,272) $ 74,588
Backlog 1 6,500 (6,500) —
Trademarks/trade name 10 15,100 (1,636) 13,464
Permits 10 7,000 (758) 6,242
Total intangible assets $ 107,460 $ (13,166) $ 94,294

The fair value of customer relationships was estimated as of the acquisition date utilizing the multi-period excess earnings method. This method discounts to present value the
projected cash flows attributable to the customer relationships. The significant estimates and assumptions used in determining the fair value included discount rates, revenue growth
rates, projected EBITDA margins and customer revenue attrition rates.

The amortization expense related to the acquired identifiable intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2024 was included in cost of revenue and selling, general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. All of the acquired identifiable intangible assets will be amortized on a straight-line basis. Amortization
expense related to the acquired identifiable intangible asset balances is expected to be recorded in the future as follows: $6.2 million in each year from 2025 to 2029; and
$63.5 million thereafter.

Coast Mountain Resources

On April 24, 2023, we acquired Coast Mountain Resources (2020) Ltd. which changed its name to Granite Infrastructure Canada, Ltd. ("Granite Canada") on May 13, 2024. Granite
Canada is a construction aggregate producer based in British Columbia, Canada operating on Malahat First Nation land. Granite Canada results are reported in the Materials
segment. This acquisition did not have a material impact on our financial statements. The primary factor that contributed to the recognition of goodwill from the acquisition of Granite
Canada was strengthening our existing vertically integrated home markets in the western United States. For the Granite Canada acquisition, we recorded $5.1 million in goodwill
that was allocated to our Materials segment and will not be tax deductible for income tax purposes.

3. Revisions in Estimates

Our profit recognition related to construction contracts is based on estimates of transaction price and costs to complete each project. These estimates can vary significantly in the
normal course of business as projects progress, circumstances develop and evolve, and uncertainties are resolved. Changes in estimates of transaction price and costs to complete
may result in the reversal of previously recognized revenue if the current estimate adversely differs from the previous estimate. In addition, the estimated or actual recovery related
to estimated costs associated with unresolved affirmative claims and back charges may be recorded in future periods or may be at values below the associated cost, which can
cause fluctuations in the gross profit impact from revisions in estimates.

When we experience significant revisions in our estimates, we undergo a process that includes reviewing the nature of the changes to ensure that there are no material amounts
that should have been recorded in a prior period rather than as revisions in estimates for the current period. For revisions in estimates, generally we use the cumulative catch-up
method for changes to the transaction price that are part of a single performance obligation. Under this method, revisions in estimates are accounted for in their entirety in the period
of change. There can be no assurance that we will not experience further changes in circumstances or otherwise be required to revise our estimates in the future.

In our review of these changes for the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022, we did not identify any material amounts that should have
been recorded in a prior period.

The projects with increases and decreases from revisions in estimates, which individually had an impact of $5.0 million or more on gross profit, are summarized as follows (dollars in
millions, except per share data):

Increases

Years Ended
Years Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021 December 31, 2024 2023 2022
Number of projects with upward estimate  Number of projects with Number of projects with upward estimate
changes upward estimate changes 1 2 changes 3 1 2
Range of increase in gross profit from each Range of increase in gross Range of increase in gross 5.4
project, net profit from each project, net 5.4 - profit from each project, net 6.1- -

$81 $$ 68 $ 6.2-9.2 $103 $ 81 $68
Increase to project profitability, net
Increase to net income
Amounts attributable to non-controlling
interests
Increase to net income attributable to
Granite Construction Incorporated
Increase to net income per diluted share
attributable to common shareholders

The increases during the year ended December 31, 2024 were due to changes in the estimated amount of probable recovery on outstanding claims, production at a higher rate than
anticipated and changes in the estimated transaction price related to contract modifications resulting from revisions to project work plans, permitting and scheduling. The increase
during the year ended December 31, 2023 was due to decreases in estimated costs from mitigated risks. The increases during the year ended December 31, 2022 were due to
production at a higher rate than anticipated and a decrease in estimated cost from mitigated risks.
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Decreases

Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022

Number of projects with downward estimate changes 4 6 8
Range of reduction in gross profit from each project, net $5.6 - 24.2 $5.1-54.9 $5.6 - 32.2
Decrease to project profitability, net $ 50.2 $ 96.9 $ 92.2
Decrease to net income $ 37.0 $ 79.6 $ 74.1
Amounts attributable to non-controlling interests $ 3.9 $ 29.8 $ 21.7
Decrease to net income attributable to Granite Construction Incorporated $ 33.1 $ 49.8 $ 52.4
Decrease to net income per diluted share attributable to common shareholders $ 0.63 $ 0.95 $ 1.00

The increases decreases during the year ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2024 were due to production at a higher rate additional costs related to changes in project
duration, lower productivity than originally anticipated and a decrease in estimated cost from mitigated risks as well as settlement of outstanding customer affirmative claims. There
were no amounts attributable to non-controlling interests during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Decreases

Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021

Number of projects with downward estimate changes 6 8 6
Range of reduction in gross profit from each project, net $5.1-54.9 $5.6 - 32.2 $5.3-34.6
Decrease to project profitability, net $ 96.9 $ 92.2 $ 86.0
Decrease to net income $ 79.6 $ 741 $ 69.1
Amounts attributable to non-controlling interests $ 29.8 $ 21.7 $ 20.5
Decrease to net income attributable to Granite Construction Incorporated $ 49.8 $ 52.4 $ 48.6
Decrease to net income per diluted share attributable to common shareholders $ 0.95 $ 1.00 $ 1.02

increased labor and materials costs. The decreases during the year ended December 31, 2023 were due to a change in the estimated amount of probable recovery on an
outstanding claim, additional costs related to changes in project durations, lower productivity than
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originally anticipated, increased labor and materials costs and disputed work being performed where there are ongoing legal claims. The decreases during the year ended
December 31, 2022 were due to additional costs related to extended project duration, increased labor and materials costs, and disputed work being performed where there are
ongoing legal claims. The decreases during the year ended December 31, 2021, were primarily due to additional costs from acceleration of work coupled with lower productivity and
higher costs than originally anticipated, unfavorable weather and extended project duration.

4. Disaggregation of Revenue

We disaggregate As discussed in Note 1, during the first quarter of 2024, we reorganized our revenue based on operational structure to more closely align with our two reportable
segments, and operating groups as it is the format that is regularly reviewed by management. Our reportable segments are: Construction and Materials. In alphabetical

order, Previously, leaders within our three former operating groups are: of California, Central and Mountain. Mountain managed both Construction and Materials operations within
each group. As a result of the reorganization, we will no longer disclose financial information by operating group and we have updated our presentation of disaggregated revenue.
The prior years' disaggregation of revenue amounts have been recast to conform with the current period presentation.

Revenue is disaggregated by reportable segment (see Note 21) and customer type, which we believe best depicts how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of our revenue
and cash flows are affected by economic factors.
Customer Type

Customers in our Construction segment are predominantly in the public sector which includes certain federal agencies, state departments of transportation, local transit authorities,
county and city public works departments and school districts. Our private sector customers include, but are not limited to, developers, utilities and private owners of industrial,
commercial and residential sites. Customers of our Materials segment include internal usage by our own construction projects, as well as third-party customers. Based on the nature
of the Materials business, it is not meaningful to disaggregate revenue by customer type.

The following tables presenttable presents our revenue disaggregated revenue (in thousands): by reportable segment and by customer type for the Construction segment:

Years ended December 31,

2023 Construction Materials Total

California $ 1,029,410 $ 258,725 $ 1,288,135

Central 765,560 55,125 820,685
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Mountain 1,197,284 203,034 1,400,318
Total 2,992,254 516,884 3,509,138
2022 Construction Materials Total
California 811,623 273,314 1,084,937
Central 851,779 46,531 898,310
Mountain 1,140,533 177,476 1,318,009
Total 2,803,935 497,321 3,301,256
2021 Construction Materials Total
California 822,448 242,552 1,065,000
Central 1,058,448 33,270 1,091,718
Mountain 1,195,294 149,853 1,345,147
Total 3,076,190 425,675 3,501,865
Years ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Construction segment revenue:
Public 2,531,379 2,064,078 1,891,338
Private 883,846 928,176 912,597
Total Construction segment revenue 3,415,225 2,992,254 2,803,935
Materials segment revenue 592,349 516,884 497,321
Total revenue 4,007,574 3,509,138 3,301,256
5. Unearned Revenue
The following table presents our unearned revenue as of the respective periods:
(in thousands) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
California $ 1,220,772 $ 945,971
Central 1,486,288 1,444,983
Mountain 889,616 486,524
Total $ 3,596,676 $ 2,877,478
(in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Public $ 2,801,273 $ 2,892,255
Private 783,105 704,421
Total $ 3,584,378 $ 3,596,676

All unearned revenue is in the Construction segment. Approximately $2.6 billion of the December 31, 2024 unearned revenue is expected to be recognized within the next twelve

months and the remaining amount will be recognized thereafter.

6. Contract Assets and Liabilities

As a result of changes in contract transaction price related to performance obligations that were satisfied or partially satisfied prior to the end of the periods we recognized revenue
of $147.4 million $220.7 million, $182.8 million $147.4 million and $153.9 million $182.8 million during the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and
2021, 2022, respectively. The changes in contract transaction price were from items such as executed or estimated change orders and unresolved contract modifications and claims.

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, the aggregate claim recovery estimates included in contract asset and liability balances were approximately $77.9

million $46.6 million and $75.8 million $77.9 million, respectively.
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The components of the contract asset balances as of the respective dates were as follows:

(in thousands) (in thousands) December 31,2023 December 31,2022 (in thousands) December 31,2024 December 31, 2023

Costs in excess of billings and estimated earnings

Contract retention

Total contract assets

The increase in contract assets is primarily due to increasing costs in excess of billings and estimated earnings balances from unresolved disputed work related to certain ongoing
projects and increased retention balances from ongoing projects. As of December 31, 2024, no contract retention receivable individually exceeded 10% of total contract assets. As
of December 31, 2023 and 2022, , contract retention receivable from Brightline Trains Florida LLC represented 11.1%, and 11.7%, respectively, of total contract assets. No assets
and no other contract retention receivable individually exceeded 10% of total contract assets at any of the presented dates. assets. The majority of the contract retention balance is
expected to be collected within one year.

As work is performed, revenue is recognized and the corresponding contract liabilities are reduced. During the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022 2023
and 2021, 2022, we recognized revenue of $191.8 million $276.6 million, $223.7 million $191.8 million and $176.2 million $223.7 million, respectively, that was included in the
contract liability balances at December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and 2020, 2021, respectively.

The components of the contract liability balances as of the respective dates were as follows:

(in thousands) (in thousands) December 31,2023 December 31, 2022 (in thousands) December 31,2024 December 31, 2023

Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings

Provisions for losses

Total contract liabilities

The increase in contract liabilities is primarily due to increases in billings in excess of costs on new projects partially offset by reductions in provisions for losses as certain loss
projects progress towards completion.

7. Receivables, net

Receivables include billed and unbilled amounts for services provided to clients for which we have an unconditional right to payment as of the end of the applicable period and
generally do not bear interest. The following table presents major categories of receivables:

(in thousands) (in thousands)  December 31,2023 December 31, 2022 (in thousands) December 31,2024 December 31, 2023

Contracts completed and in progress:
Billed
Billed
Billed
Unbilled

Total contracts completed and in progress
Materials sales

Other

Total gross receivables

Less: allowance for credit losses

Total net receivables

Included in other receivables at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 were items such as estimated recovery from back charge claims, notes receivable, fuel tax
refunds and income tax refunds. Other receivables at both December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 also included $24.9 million $25.0 million of working capital
contributions in the form of a loan to a partner in one of our unconsolidated joint ventures, plus accrued interest at prime plus 3.0% per annum. interest. No receivable individually
exceeded 10% of total net receivables at any of these dates.
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8. Fair Value Measurement

The following tables summarize significant assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets on a recurring basis for each of the fair value levels (in
thousands):
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Fair Value Measurement at Reporting Date Using

December 31, 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash equivalents

December 31, 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash equivalents:
Money market funds
Money market funds

Money market funds

Total assets

Total assets

Total assets

Accrued and other current liabilities

Accrued and other current liabilities:
Heating oil swaps
Heating oil swaps
Heating oil swaps

Diesel collars

Total liabilities

December 31, 2023

Cash equivalents:

Money market funds

Total assets

Total assets

Total assets

Accrued and other current liabilities:
Interest rate swap
Interest rate swap
Interest rate swap
Commodity swaps
Heating oil swaps

Diesel collars

Total liabilities

December 31, 2022

Cash equivalents

Money market funds

Other current assets

Commodity swaps

Total assets

Interest Rate Swap

In connection with entering into Amendment No. 2 of the Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement in November 2023, we entered into an interest rate swap designated as a
cash flow hedge with an initial notional amount of $75.0 million and an effective date of December 2023 and a maturity date of June 2027. In conjunction with the payoff of our term
loan in June 2024, the interest rate swap was terminated resulting in an immaterial gain.

Commodity Derivatives

In 2023 and 2024, we entered into collar contracts and commodity swaps to reduce our price exposure on diesel consumption and heating oil consumption, respectively. The collars
and swaps were not designated as hedges and will be treated as a mark-to-market derivative instruments through their maturity dates. The financial statement impact of the collar
contracts and commaodity swaps was immaterial for the year years ended December 31, 2023 was immaterial. December 31, 2024 and 2023.
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In April 2024 and December 2022, we entered into a commodity swap designed swaps designated as a cash flow hedge for hedges to reduce our price exposure on crude oil with a
notional amount maturity dates of $7.0 million October 31, 2024 and a maturity date of October 31, 2023., respectively. The financial statement impactsimpact of this swap these
swaps was immaterial during the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were immaterial.

In December, 2021, we entered into two commodity swaps designed as cash flow hedges for crude oil covering the period from April 2022 to October 2022 with a total notional
amount of $8.1 million. The financial statement impact during the year ended December 31, 2022 was a realized gain of $4.1 million and an immaterial unrealized gain.
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2022.

Other Assets and Liabilities

The carrying values and estimated fair values of our financial instruments that are not required to be recorded at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets were as follows (in
thousands):

(in December December (in December December
(in thousands) thousands) 31, 2023 31,2022 thousands) 31, 2024 31, 2023
Fair Value = Fair Value Carrying = Fair = Carrying Fair  Fair Value Carrying Carrying Fair
Hierarchy Hierarchy Value Value Value Value Hierarchy Value Fair Value Value Value

Assets:

Held-to-maturity marketable securities (1)

Held-to-maturity marketable securities (1)

Held-to-maturity marketable securities (1)

Liabilities (including current

maturities):

3.75% Convertible Notes (2)

3.75% Convertible Notes (2)

3.75% Convertible Notes (2)

3.25% Convertible Notes (2)

2.75% Convertible Notes (2)

Fourth Amended and Restated Credit

Agreement - Term Loan (2)

Fourth Amended and Restated Credit

Agreement - Revolver (2)

Credit Agreement - Term Loan (2)

Credit Agreement - Revolver (2)

(1) All marketable securities were classified as held-to-maturity and consisted of U.S. Government and agency obligations as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022. 2023.

(2) The fair values of our our 3.25% convertible senior notes due 2030 (the "3.25% Convertible Notes"), our 3.75% convertible senior notes due 2028 (the “3.75% Convertible Notes") and our 2.75%
convertible senior notes due 2024 (the "2.75% Convertible Notes and 3.75% Convertible Notes Notes") are based on the median price of the notes in an active market. The fair value of the Fourth
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the "Credit Agreement") is based on borrowing rates available to us for long-term loans with similar terms, average maturities, and credit risk. See Note
14 for definitions of, and more information about our convertible notes and the 2.75% Convertible Notes, 3.75% Convertible Notes and Credit Agreement.

The carrying value of marketable securities approximates their fair value as determined by market quotes. Rates currently available to us for debt with similar terms and remaining

maturities are used to estimate the fair value of existing debt. The carrying value of receivables and other amounts arising out of normal contract activities, including retentions,
which may be settled beyond one year, is estimated to approximate fair value.

At least annually, we measure certain nonfinancial assets and liabilities at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, the
nonfinancial assets and liabilities included our asset retirement and reclamation obligations, as well as assets and corresponding liabilities associated with performance guarantees.
Asset retirement and reclamation obligations were measured using Level 3 inputs and performance guarantees were measured using Level 2 inputs.

Asset retirement and reclamation obligations were initially measured using internal discounted cash flow calculations based upon our estimates of future retirement costs. To
determine the fair value of the obligation, we estimate the cost for a third-party to perform the legally required reclamation including a reasonable profit margin. This cost is then
increased for future estimated inflation based on the estimated years to complete and discounted to fair value using present value techniques with a credit-adjusted, risk-free rate. In
estimating the settlement date, we evaluate the current facts and conditions to determine the most likely settlement date. We review reclamation obligations at least annually for a
revision to the cost or a change in the estimated settlement date. Additionally, reclamation obligations are reviewed in the period that a triggering event occurs that would result in
either a revision to the cost or a change in the estimated settlement date. See Note 11 for details of the asset retirement obligation balances.

We estimate our liability for performance guarantees for our unconsolidated construction joint ventures and line item joint ventures using estimated partner bond rates, which are
Level 2 inputs, and include them in accrued expenses and other current liabilities (see Note 13) with a corresponding increase in equity in construction joint ventures in the
consolidated balance sheets. See Note 1 for further discussion of performance guarantees.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, we had no material nonfinancial asset and liability fair value adjustments.

9. Construction Joint Ventures
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We participate in various construction joint ventures. As discussed in Note 1, we have determined that certain of these joint ventures are consolidated because they are VIEs and
we are the primary beneficiary. We continually evaluate whether there are changes in the status of the VIEs or changes to the primary beneficiary designation of the VIE. Based on
our
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assessments during the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022, we determined no change was required for existing joint ventures.

Due to the joint and several nature of the performance obligations under the related owner contracts, if any of the our partners fail to perform, we and the remaining partners, if any,
would be responsible for performance of the outstanding work (i.e., we provide a performance guarantee). At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, there was $195.6

million $100.6 million of remaining contract value on unconsolidated and line item construction joint venture contracts of which $93.1 million $35.6 million represented our share and
the remaining $102.5 million $65.0 million represented our partners’ share. We are not able to estimate amounts that may be required beyond the current remaining forecasted cost
of the work to be performed. These forecasted costs could be offset by billings to the customer or by proceeds from our partners’ corporate and/or other guarantees. See Note 13 for
disclosure of the performance guarantee amounts recorded in the consolidated balance sheets and Note 1 for additional discussion regarding performance guarantees.

Consolidated Construction Joint Ventures

At December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we were engaged in ten nine active CCJV projects with total contract values ranging from $47.7 million to $426.5 million for a combined
total of $2.0 billion of which our share was $1.2 billion. As of December 31, 2023, our share of revenue remaining to be recognized on these CCJVs was $345.5 million and ranged
from $1.3 million to $133.1 million by project. projects. Our proportionate share of the equity in these joint ventures was between 50.0% and 70.0%. During the years ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022, total revenue from CCJVs was $307.2 million $349.5 million, $437.1 million $307.2 million and $405.1

million $437.1 million, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, CCJVs provided $69.8 million, and 2021, CCJVs used $38.1
million, and $5.7 million and $4.1 million of operating cash flows, respectively. As of December 31, 2024, our share of revenue remaining to be recognized on these CCJVs was
$337.7 million and ranged from $1.9 million to $132.9 million by project.

Unconsolidated Construction Joint Ventures

As discussed in Note 1, where we have determined we are not the primary beneficiary of a joint venture but do exercise significant influence, we account for our share of the
operations of unconsolidated construction joint ventures on a pro rata basis in revenue and cost of revenue in the consolidated statements of operations and in equity in construction
joint ventures or accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we were engaged in seven five active unconsolidated construction joint venture projects with total contract values ranging from $6.0
million to $3.7 billion for a combined total of $7.9 billion of which our share was $2.2 billion. projects. Our proportionate share of the equity in these unconsolidated construction joint
ventures ranged from 23.3% 30.0% to 50.0%. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, our share of the revenue remaining to be recognized on these unconsolidated
construction joint ventures was $55.7 million $26.1 million and ranged from $1.4 million $0.4 million to $32.3 million $21.3 million by project.

The following is summary financial information related to unconsolidated construction joint ventures:

(in thousands) (in thousands)  December 31,2023 December 31,2022 (in thousands) December 31,2024 December 31, 2023

Assets

Assets:
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities
Other current assets (1)
Noncurrent assets

Less: partners’ interest

Granite's interest (1),(2)

Liabilities

Liabilities:
Current liabilities
Current liabilities
Current liabilities

Less: partners’ interest and adjustments (3)

Granite’s interest

Equity in construction joint ventures (4)
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(1) Included in this balance and in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 was $57.8
million $55.5 million and $64.7 $57.8 million, respectively, related to performance guarantees (see Note 13).

(2) Included in this balance as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 was $66.6 million $66.9 million and $104.3 $66.6 million, respectively, related to Granite’s share of estimated
cost recovery of customer affirmative claims. In addition, this balance included $1.7 million and $2.7 million related to Granite’s share of estimated recovery of back charge claims as of December
31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, respectively. 2023.

(3) Partners’ interest and adjustments includes amounts to reconcile total net assets as reported by our partners to Granite’s interest adjusted to reflect our accounting policies and estimates primarily
related to contract forecast differences.

(4) Included in this balance and in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the our consolidated balance sheets was $14.9 million $3.7 million and $14.0 $14.9 million as of December 31,
2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, respectively, related to deficits in unconsolidated construction joint ventures which includes provisions for losses.
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Years Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021 Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022

(in thousands)
Revenue
Revenue
Revenue

Total

Total

Total

Less: partners’ interest and adjustments (1)

Granite’s interest

Cost of revenue
Total
Total
Total

Less: partners’ interest and adjustments (1)

Granite’s interest

Granite’s interest in gross loss

Net Loss
Total
Total
Total

Less: partners’ interest and adjustments (1)

Granite’s interest in net loss (2)

(1) Partners’ interest and adjustments includes amounts to reconcile total revenue and total cost of revenue as reported by our partners to Granite’s interest adjusted to reflect our accounting policies
and estimates primarily related to contract forecast and/or actual differences.

(2) These joint ventures' net loss amounts exclude our corporate overhead required to manage the joint ventures and include taxes only to the extent the applicable states have joint venture level taxes.
Line Item Joint Ventures

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we were engaged in four one active line item joint venture construction projects project with aan immaterial total contract value of
$334.9 million of which our portion was $212.0 million. As of December 31, 2023, our share of revenue remaining to be recognized on these line item joint ventures was $37.4
million. value. During the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022, our portion of revenue from line item joint ventures was $5.3 million $7.4
million, $5.3 million and $35.4 million, and $67.8 million, respectively.

10. Investments in Affiliates

Our investments in affiliates balance is related to our investments in unconsolidated non-construction entities that we account for using the equity method of accounting, including
investments in foreign affiliates, real estate entities ventures and an asphalt terminal entity.

The foreign affiliates in which we are invested are engaged in mineral drilling services and the manufacture and supply of drilling equipment, parts and supplies in Latin America.
The real estate entities ventures were formed to accomplish specific real estate development projects in which our wholly owned subsidiary, Granite Land Company, participates with
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third-party partners. The asphalt terminal entity is a 50% interest in a limited liability company which owns and operates an asphalt terminal and operates an emulsion plant in

Nevada.

We have determined that the real estate entities ventures are not consolidated because although they are VIEs, we are not the primary beneficiary. We have determined that the
foreign affiliates and the asphalt terminal entity are not consolidated because they are not VIEs and we do not hold the majority voting interest. As such, these entities are accounted

for using the equity method.

Our investments in affiliates balance consists of equity method investments in the following types of entities:

(in thousands) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Foreign $ 68,407 $ 58,579
Real estate 7,136 8,517
Asphalt terminal 17,367 13,629
Total investments in affiliates $ 92,910 $ 80,725
Table ofContents

(in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Foreign $ 72,075 $ 68,407
Real estate 4,552 7,136
Asphalt terminal 17,404 17,367
Total investments in affiliates $ 94,031 $ 92,910

The following table provides summarized balance sheet information for our affiliates accounted for under the equity method on a combined basis:

(in thousands) (in thousands) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Current assets

Noncurrent assets

Total assets
Current liabilities

Long-term liabilities (1)

Total liabilities

Net assets

Granite’s share of net assets

(in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

(1) This balance is primarily related to local bank debt for equipment purchases, working capital in our foreign affiliates and debt associated with our real estate investments.

Of the $364.6 million $335.7 million in total assets as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we had investments in two real estate entities ventures with total assets of $30.5
million $29.9 million and $25.8 million $5.3 million, our foreign affiliates had total assets of $265.0 million $258.3 million, and the asphalt terminal entity had total assets of $43.2
million $42.2 million. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, all of the equity method investments in real estate affiliates ventures were in residential real
estate in Texas. Texas and California. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, our percent ownership in the real estate entities ventures ranged from 10% to 25%. We have

direct and indirect investments in our foreign affiliates, and our percent ownership in foreign affiliates ranged from 25% to 50% as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024.

The following table provides summarized statements of operations information for our affiliates accounted for under the equity method on a combined basis (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022

(in thousands)
Revenue

Revenue

Revenue

Gross profit

Income before taxes
Net income

Granite's interest in affiliates’ net income

11. Property and Equipment, net

The following table presents the major classes of assets and total accumulated depreciation and depletion:
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(in thousands) (in thousands) December 31,2023 December 31, 2022 (in thousands) December 31,2024 December 31, 2023

Equipment and vehicles

Quarry property

Land and land improvements
Buildings and leasehold improvements

Office furniture and equipment

Property and equipment

Less: accumulated depreciation and depletion

Property and equipment, net

Depreciation and depletion expense primarily included in cost of revenue in our consolidated statements of operations was $89.2 million $110.6 million, $79.5 million $89.2 million
and $97.7 million $79.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively.

As discussed in Note 1, we have asset retirement obligations, which are liabilities associated with our legally required obligations to reclaim owned and leased quarry property and
related facilities. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, $6.6 million and $5.8 million and $1.8 million, respectively, of our asset retirement obligations were
included in accrued expenses and other
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current liabilities and $32.7 million $37.8 million and $27.4 million $32.7 million, respectively, were included in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. Of the
amount included in other long-term liabilities as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, $4.8 million $5.9 million is expected to be settled in 2025, $1.6 million in 2026, $6.3
million $8.2 million in 2027, $1.4 million $1.2 million in 2028, $3.4 million in 2029 and the remaining $18.6 million $19.1 million is expected to be settled thereafter.

The following table summarizes the asset retirement obligation balances for the periods presented (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023

Beginning balance
Acquisition additions
Revisions to estimates
Liabilities settled

Accretion

Ending balance

12. Intangible Assets
Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets

Indefinite-lived intangible assets primarily consist of goodwill. The following table presents the goodwill balance by reportable segment:

(in thousands) (in thousands) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 (in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Construction
Materials

Total goodwill
Wuringzom, total goodwill increased by approximately $67.9 million related to the acquisition of D&B. This increase was partially offset by a decrease of $8.1 million in
goodwill as a result of our finalization of the LRC/MSG acquisition purchase price allocation in the third quarter of 2024. See Note 2 for additional information.
Identifiable Intangible Assets

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, net amortized identifiable intangible assets were $117.2 million $127.9 million and $9.1 million $117.2 million,
respectively, net of accumulated amortization of $24.8 million $38.9 million and $24.1 million $24.8 million, respectively. The intangible assets balances in the consolidated balance
sheets as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 also included an immaterial amount of indefinite-lived intangible assets. The increase in the 2023

amortized 2024 identifiable intangible assets balance was primarily related to the LRC/MSG D&B acquisition (see Note 2) which contributed $110.7 million $27.9 million of
amortized identifiable intangible assets. Of this, $83.9 $18.2 million were customer relationship intangibles.

The net amortization expense related to amortized identifiable intangible assets for each of the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $14.1
million, $2.3 million and 2021 was $2.3 million, $2.0 million and $10.1 million, respectively, and was primarily included in cost of revenue in the consolidated statements of
operations. Amortization expense based on the amortized identifiable intangible assets balance at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 is expected to be $14.3 million $9.4
million in 2024, $7.1 2025, $9.0 million in 2025, $7.1 million in 2026, $6.7 million $8.6 million in 2027, $6.5 million $8.4 million in 2028, $8.4 million in 2029 and $75.4 million $84.1
million thereafter.
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13. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

(in thousands)

Accrued insurance

Deficits in unconsolidated construction joint ventures

Payroll and related employee benefits

Performance guarantees
Short-term lease liabilities
Other

Total

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 (in thousands) December 31,2024 December 31,2023

Other includes dividends payable, warranty reserves, asset retirement obligations, remediation reserves, the LRC/MSG tax make-whole liability (see Note 2) taxes payable and
other miscellaneous accruals, none of which are greater than 5% of total current liabilities. At December 31, 2023, the "other" balance above included the estimated LRC/MSG tax
make-whole liability (see Note 2) which was finalized and paid in June 2024.

14. Long-Term Debt

(in thousands)

December 31, 2023

December 31, 2022

3.75% Convertible Notes $ 373,750 $ —
2.75% Convertible Notes 31,338 230,000
Credit Agreement - Term Loan 150,000 =
Credit Agreement - Revolver 100,000 50,000
Debt issuance costs and other (375) 8,381

Total debt $ 654,713 $ 288,381
Less: current maturities 39,932 1,447

Total long-term debt $ 614,781 $ 286,934

The aggregate minimum principal maturities of long-term debt related to balances at December 31, 2023, excluding debt issuance costs, and including current maturities are as
follows: $40.3 million in 2024; $8.6 million in 2025; $14.3 million in 2026; $227.5 million in 2027 and $373.8 million in 2028.

(in thousands)

December 31, 2024

December 31, 2023

3.25% Convertible Notes due 2030 $ 373,750 $ =
3.75% Convertible Notes due 2028 373,750 373,750
2.75% Convertible Notes — 31,338
Credit Agreement - Term Loan — 150,000
Credit Agreement - Revolver — 100,000
Debt issuance costs and other (8,452) (375)

Total debt $ 739,048 $ 654,713
Less: current maturities 1,109 39,932

Total long-term debt $ 737,939 $ 614,781

Credit Agreement

During the first half of In June 2022, we prepaid 100% of our outstanding term loan and replaced entered into the Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated May 31,
2018 with the Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (as amended, the “Credit Agreement”) maturing which matures on June 2, 2027. The Credit Agreement consisted of
a $350.0 million senior secured, five-year revolving credit facility (the “Revolver”), including an accordion feature allowing us to increase borrowings up to the greater of (a) $200.0
million and (b) 100% of twelve-month trailing consolidated EBITDA, subject to lender approval. The Credit Agreement included includes a $150.0 million sublimit for letters of credit
($75.0 million for financial letters of credit) and a $20.0 million sublimit for swingline loans.

In May 2023, we entered into Amendment No. 1 to the Credit Agreement ("Amendment No. 1"). Amendment No. 1 amended the Credit Agreement to, among other things, permit us
to exchange our 2.75% Convertible Notes for cash and shares of our common stock and to clarify that (i) the issuance of the 3.75% Convertible Notes was permitted under the
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terms of the Credit Agreement and (i) that a Swap Contract (as defined in the Credit Agreement) does not include any Permitted Call Spread Transaction (as defined in the Credit
Agreement).

In November 2023, we entered into Amendment No. 2 to the Credit Agreement ("Amendment No. 2") which amended itthe Credit Agreement to, among other things, provide for a
$150 $150.0 million senior secured term loan (the “Term Loan”), which was fully drawn on closing to fund the LRC/MSG acquisition. Borrowings under the Term Loan bear interest at
term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) with an interest period of one, three or six months (at our option), or such other period that is twelve months or less and consented
to by all lenders subject to a credit spread adjustment of 0.1% for one-month and three-month daily simple SOFR and term SOFR and 0.25% for six-month term SOFR, or a base
rate (at our option), in each case, plus an applicable margin of between 1.25% and 2.25% for term SOFR loans and 0.25% and 1.25% for base rate loans, in each case, based on
the our Consolidated Leverage Ratio (as defined in our Credit Agreement). The Term Loan willwas scheduled to mature on June 2, 2027 and will amortize 5% per year, payable in
quarterly installments beginning in the first quarter of 2024.

Table ofContents

The Term Loan was fully repaid with the net proceeds from our 3.25% Convertible Notes in the second quarter of 2024.

We may borrow on the Revolver, at our option, at either (a) the SOFR Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) term rate plus a credit adjustment spread plus applicable margin
ranging from 1.0% to 2.0%, or (b) a base rate plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.0% zero to 1.0%. The applicable margin is based on our Consolidated Leverage Ratio (as
defined in our Credit Agreement), calculated quarterly. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the total unused availability under the Revolver Credit Agreement was $230.7
million $333.7 million, resulting from $19.3 million $16.3 million in issued and outstanding letters of credit and $100.0 million no amount drawn under the Revolver. The letters of
credit had expiration dates between March 2025 and November 2025.

3.25% Convertible Notes

On June 11, 2024, we issued $373.8 million aggregate principal amount of our 3.25% Convertible Notes. The 3.25% Convertible Notes bear interest at a rate of 3.25% per annum,
payable semi-annually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on December 15, 2024. The 3.25% Convertible Notes mature on June 15, 2030, unless
earlier converted, redeemed or repurchased. Prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding December 15, 2029, the 3.25% Convertible Notes will be
convertible at the option of the holders only upon the occurrence of certain events and during certain periods. Thereafter, the 3.25% Convertible Notes will be convertible at the
option of the holders at any time until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding their maturity date.

The 3.25% Convertible Notes have an initial conversion rate of 12.8398 shares of our common stock per $1,000 principal amount of the 3.25% Convertible Notes, which is
equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $77.88 per share of our common stock, subject to adjustment if certain events occur. Upon conversion, we will settle the
principal amount of the 3.25% Convertible Notes in cash, and any conversion premium in excess of the principal amount in cash, or a combination of cash and shares of common
stock, at our election.

In addition, upon the occurrence of a “fundamental change” as defined in the indenture governing the 3.25% Convertible Notes, holders may require us to repurchase for cash all or
any portion of their 3.25% Convertible Notes at a fundamental change repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 3.25% Convertible Notes to be repurchased
plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the fundamental change repurchase date. If certain corporate events that constitute a “make-whole fundamental change” as
set forth in the indenture governing the 3.25% Convertible Notes occur prior to the maturity date of the 3.25% Convertible Notes or if we deliver a notice of redemption, we will, in
certain circumstances, increase the conversion rate for a holder who elects to convert its 3.25% Convertible Notes in connection with such event or notice of redemption.

We will not be able to redeem the 3.25% Convertible Notes prior to June 21, 2027. On or after June 21, 2027, we will be able to redeem for cash all or any portion of the 3.25%
Convertible Notes, at our option, if the last reported sale price of Granite’s common stock is equal to or greater than 130% of the conversion price for a specified period of time at a
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 3.25% Convertible Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued but unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date.
The indenture governing the 3.25% Convertible Notes contains customary events of default. In the case of an event of default arising from certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency
or reorganization, with respect to us or our significant subsidiaries, all outstanding 3.25% Convertible Notes will become due and payable immediately without further action or
notice. If any other event of default occurs and is continuing, then the trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the 3.25% Convertible Notes then
outstanding may declare the 3.25% Convertible Notes due and payable immediately.

The net proceeds from the sale of the 3.25% Convertible Notes were approximately $365.0 million, after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount. We used approximately

$46.0 million of the net proceeds from the 3.25% Convertible Notes offering to pay the cost of entering into capped call transactions in connection with the 3.25% Convertible Notes.
In addition, we paid approximately $57.6 million of the net proceeds from the 3.25% Convertible Notes offering to repurchase approximately $30.2 million in aggregate principal
amount of our 2.75% Convertible Notes in separate and individually negotiated transactions entered into concurrently with the pricing of the offering; repaid amounts outstanding
under our Term Loan of $148.1 million; repurchased $13.3 million of shares under our authorized share repurchase program; with the remainder of the net proceeds available for
general corporate purposes, which may include acquisitions.

2024 Capped Call Transactions

In June 2024, and December 2027. we entered into privately negotiated capped call transactions in connection with the offering of the 3.25% Convertible Notes (the "2024 capped
call transactions"). The 2024 capped call transactions are expected generally to reduce the potential dilution to our common stock upon any conversion of the 3.25% Convertible
Notes and/or offset any cash payments we are required to make in excess of the principal amount of converted 3.25% Convertible Notes, as the case may be. If, however, the
market price per share of our common stock, as measured under the terms of the 2024 capped call transactions, exceeds the cap price of $119.82 of the 2024 capped call
transactions, there would nevertheless be dilution and/or there would not be an offset of such cash payments, in each case, to the extent that such market price exceeds the cap
price of the 2024 capped call transactions.

3.75% Convertible Notes

On May 11, 2023, we issued $373.8 million aggregate principal amount of our 3.75% Convertible Notes. The 3.75% Convertible Notes bear interest at a rate of 3.75% per annum
payable semiannually in arrears on May 15 and November 15 of each year, beginning on November 15, 2023 and mature on May 15, 2028, unless earlier converted, redeemed or
repurchased. Prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding November 15, 2027, the 3.75% Convertible Notes will be convertible at the option of the
holders only upon the occurrence of certain events and during certain periods. Thereafter, the 3.75% Convertible Notes will be convertible at the option of the holders at any time
until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date.

The initial conversion rate applicable to the 3.75% Convertible Notes is 21.6807 shares of Granite our common stock per $1,000 principal amount of the 3.75% Convertible Notes,
which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $46.12 per share of Granite our common stock, subject to adjustment if certain events occur. Upon conversion, we
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will pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of Granite our common stock or a combination of cash and shares of Granite our common stock, at our election. In addition,
upon the occurrence of a “fundamental change” as defined in the indenture governing the 3.75% Convertible Notes, holders may require us to repurchase for cash all or any portion
of their 3.75% Convertible Notes at a fundamental change repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 3.75% Convertible Notes to be repurchased plus any
accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the fundamental change repurchase date. If certain corporate events that constitute a “make-whole fundamental change” as set forth
in the indenture governing the 3.75% Convertible Notes occur prior to the maturity date of the 3.75% Convertible Notes or if we deliver a notice of redemption, we will, in certain
circumstances, increase the conversion rate for a holder who elects to convert its 3.75% Convertible Notes in connection with such event or notice of redemption.

We will not be able to redeem the 3.75% Convertible Notes prior to May 20, 2026. On or after May 20, 2026, we have the option to redeem for cash all or any portion of the 3.75%
Convertible Notes if the last reported sale price of our common stock is equal to or greater than 130% of the conversion price for a specified period of time at a redemption price
equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 3.75% Convertible Notes to be redeemed, plus any accrued but unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date. The indenture
governing the 3.75% Convertible Notes contains customary events of default. In the case of an event of default arising from certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or
reorganization, with respect to us or our significant subsidiaries, all outstanding 3.75% Convertible Notes will become due and payable immediately without further action or notice. If
any other event of default occurs and is continuing, then the trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the 3.75% Convertible Notes then outstanding
may declare the 3.75% Convertible Notes due and payable immediately.

The net proceeds from the sale of the 3.75% Convertible Notes were approximately $364.4 million after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount. We used approximately

$53.0 million of the net proceeds from the offering to pay the cost of the Capped Call Transactions 2023 capped call transactions (as described below). In addition, we used
approximately $198.8 million of the net proceeds and issued 1,390,500 shares of Granite common stock in exchange for approximately $198.7 million aggregate principal amount of
our 2.75% Convertible Notes concurrent with the offering in separate and individually negotiated transactions (the "Exchange Transaction"). In connection with the Exchange
Transaction, we entered into partial unwind agreements (the “Unwind Agreements”) with certain financial institutions to unwind a portion of the convertible note hedge and warrant
transactions entered into in connection with the offering of the 2.75% Convertible Notes (the “Unwind Transactions”). Notes. Pursuant to the Unwind Agreements, we received
1,390,516 shares of our common stock (and cash in lieu of any fractional shares) in respect of the unwind of the portion of the existing convertible note hedge transactions that
correspond to the 2.75% Convertible Notes that were exchanged in the Exchange Transaction described above and paid $13.2 million in cash in respect of the unwind of the portion
of the existing warrant transactions that correspond to the 2.75% Convertible Notes that were exchanged in the Exchange Transaction described above.

2023 Capped Call Transactions

In May 2023, we entered into capped call transactions (the "Capped Call Transactions" "2023 capped call transactions") in connection with the offering of the 3.75% Convertible
Notes. The Capped Call Transactions 2023 capped call transactions are expected generally to reduce the potential dilution to our common stock upon conversion of the 3.75%
Convertible Notes and/or offset any cash payments we are required to make in excess of the principal amount of converted 3.75% Convertible Notes, as the case may be. If,
however, the market price
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per share of our common stock, as measured under the terms of the Capped Call Transactions, 2023 capped call transactions, exceeds the cap price ($79.83) of $79.83 of the
Capped Call Transactions, 2023 capped call transactions, there would nevertheless be dilution and/or there would not be an offset of such cash payments, in each case, to the
extent that such market price exceeds the cap price of the Capped Call Transactions. 2023 capped call transactions.

2.75% Convertible Notes

The 2.75% Convertible Notes were issued in November 2019 in an aggregate principal amount of $230.0 million, with an interest rate of 2.75% and a maturity date of November 1,
2024, unless earlier converted, redeemed or repurchased. The 2.75% Convertible Notes are convertible at the option of the holders prior to the close of business on the business
day before May 1, 2024 only during certain periods and upon the occurrence of certain events. After May 1, 2024,

In June 2024, we called the 2.75% Convertible Notes will be convertible at the option for redemption. As of the holders at any time until the close of business on the second
scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date. The conversion rate applicable to the December 31, 2024, no 2.75% Convertible Notes is 31.7776 shares of Granite
common stock per $1,000 principal amount of 2.75% Convertible Notes, which is equivalent to a conversion price of approximately $31.47 per share of Granite common stock. Upon
conversion, we will pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of Granite common stock or a combination of cash and shares of Granite common stock, at our election. In
addition, upon the occurrence of a “make-whole fundamental change” as defined in the indenture governing the 2.75% Convertible Notes prior to the maturity date of the 2.75%
Convertible Notes or if we deliver a notice of redemption, we will, in certain circumstances, increase the conversion rate for a holder that elects to convert its 2.75% Convertible
Notes in connection with such a make-whole fundamental change or notice of redemption. remained outstanding.

We have the option to redeem for cash all or any portion of the 2.75% Convertible Notes if the last reported sale price of our common stock is equal to or greater than 130% of the
conversion price for a specified period of time at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2.75% Convertible Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid
interest to, but excluding, the redemption date. Upon the occurrence of a “fundamental change” as defined in the indenture governing the 2.75% Convertible Notes, holders may
require us to repurchase for cash all or any portion of their 2.75% Convertible Notes at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2.75% Convertible Notes to be
repurchased plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the fundamental change repurchase date. The indenture governing the 2.75% Convertible Notes contains
customary events of default. In the case of an event of default arising from certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization, with respect to us or our significant
subsidiaries, all outstanding 2.75% Convertible Notes will become due and payable immediately without further action or notice. If any other event of default occurs and is
continuing, then the trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the 2.75% Convertible Notes then outstanding may declare the notes due and payable
immediately.

Real Estate Indebtedness

Our unconsolidated investments in real estate entities ventures are subject to mortgage indebtedness. This indebtedness is non-recourse to Granite but is recourse to the real estate
entity. venture. The terms of this indebtedness are typically renegotiated to reflect the evolving nature of the real estate project as it progresses through acquisition, entitlement,
development and development. leasing. Modification of these terms may include changes in loan-to-value ratios requiring the real estate entity venture to repay portions of the debt.
The debt associated with our unconsolidated non-construction entities is disclosed in Note 10.

Covenants and Events of Default
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Our Credit Agreement requires us to comply with various affirmative, restrictive and financial covenants, including the financial covenants described below. Our failure to comply with
these covenants would constitute an event of default under the Credit Agreement. Additionally, the 2.75% 3.25% Convertible Notes and 3.75% Convertible Notes are governed by
the terms and conditions of their respective indentures. Our failure to pay principal, interest or other amounts when due or within the relevant grace period on our 2.75% 3.25%
Convertible Notes, our 3.75% Convertible Notes or our Credit Agreement would constitute an event of default under the 2.75% 3.25% Convertible Notes indenture, the 3.75%
Convertible Note Notes indenture or the Credit Agreement. A default under our Credit Agreement could result in (i) us no longer being entitled to borrow under such facility; (ii)
termination of such facility; (iii) the requirement that any letters of credit under such facility be cash collateralized; (iv) acceleration of amounts owed under the Credit Agreement;
and/or (v) foreclosure on any collateral securing the obligations under such facility. A default under the 2.75% 3.25% Convertible Notes indenture or the 3.75% Convertible Notes
indenture could result in acceleration of the maturity of the notes.

The most significant financial covenants under the terms of our Credit Agreement require the maintenance of a minimum Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio and a maximum
Consolidated Leverage Ratio. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we were in compliance with all covenants contained in the Credit Agreement. We are not aware of any
non-compliance by any of our unconsolidated real estate entities ventures with the covenants contained in their debt agreements.
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Debt Issuance Costs

During the year years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we capitalized $10.9 million $10.5 million and $10.9 million, respectively, in third party offering costs
related to the issuance of the 3.25% Convertible Notes, 3.75% Convertible Notes and the Term Loan. These debt Capitalized issuance costs will be are amortized over the expected
life of the 3.75% Convertible Notes and the Term Loan, respectively. related debt.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022, we recorded $3.5 million $3.9 million, $2.5 million $3.5 million and $3.2 million $2.5
million, respectively, of amortization related to debt issuance costs. The year years ended December 31, 2023 includes December 31, 2024 and 2023 included an immaterial amount
and $1.7 million, respectively, of accelerated amortization of debt issuance costs associated with the 2.75% Convertible Notes that were repaid and are included in the loss on debt
extinguishment.

15. Leases

We have leases for office and shop space, as well as for equipment primarily utilized in our construction projects. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, our lease contracts
were primarily classified as operating leases and had terms ranging from month-to-month to 31 years. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, right of use
assets and long term lease liabilities were separately presented and short term lease liabilities of $16.8 $20.2 million and $18.6 million $16.8 million, respectively, were included in
accrued expenses and other current liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we had no lease contracts that had not yet
commenced but created significant rights and obligations. Lease expense was $21.4 $24.5 million, $21.9 million $21.4 million, $22.9 million $21.9 million for the years ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively.

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 our weighted-average remaining lease term was 9.89 8.4 years and 4.28 9.4 years, respectively, and the weighted-
average discount rate was 4.92% 5.34% and 3.85% 4.92%, respectively.

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the lease liability is equal to the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate on
our secured debt, using one maturity discount rate that is updated quarterly, as it is not materially different than the discount rates applied to each of the leases in the portfolio.

The following table summarizes the maturities of our undiscounted lease liabilities outstanding as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 (in thousands):

2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029

Thereafter

Total future minimum lease payments

Less: imputed interest

Total

Royalties

Excluded from the table above are minimum royalty requirements under all contracts, primarily quarry property, in effect at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 which are
payable as follows: $2.3 million in 2025; $2.2 million in 2026; $2.0 million in 2027; $1.9 million in 2024; $1.32028; $1.8 million in 2025; $1.3 2029; and $25.1 million in 2026;
$0.9 million in 2027; $0.9 million in 2028; and $6.3 million thereafter.
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16. Employee Benefit Plans

Granite Construction Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan: The Granite ConstructionProfit Sharing and 401(k) Plan (the “401(k) Plan”) is a defined contribution plan covering all employees
except employees covered by collective bargaining agreements and certain employees of our CCJVs. CCJVs, LRC/MSG and D&B. Our 401(k) matching contributions can be up to
6% of an employee’s gross pay at the discretion of the Board of Directors. Our 401(k) matching contributions to the 401(k) Plan for the years ended December 31, 2023 December
31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 and 2021 were $18.6 $20.0 million, $17.7 million $18.6 million, and $19.1 million $17.7 million, respectively. Profit sharing contributions from us may be
made to the 401(k) Plan in an amount determined by the Board of Directors. We made no profit sharing contributions during the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31,
2024, 20222023 and 2021.2022.

Lehman-Roberts/Memphis Stone & Gravel 401(k) Retirement Plan: The Lehman-Roberts Company sponsors a defined contribution plan for the benefit of its employees. Matching
contributions to this plan were immaterial for the year ended December 31, 2024, as well as the period between our acquisition of LRC/MSG (see Note 2) and December 31, 2023.
This plan also covers the employees of D&B.

Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan: We offer a Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan (“NQDC Plan”) to a select group of our highly compensated employees and
non-employee directors. The NQDC Plan provides participants the opportunity to defer payment of certain compensation as defined in the NQDC Plan. Our NQDC Plan obligations
are funded through a Rabbi Trust which was fully funded as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024. The assets held by the Rabbi Trust at
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December 31, December 31, 2024 and 2023 and 2022 are substantially in the form of Company-owned life insurance and are included in other noncurrent assets in the
consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, there were 66 68 active participants in the NQDC Plan. NQDC Plan obligations were $25.2 $27.8 million
and $23.1 $25.2 million as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, respectively, and were primarily included in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheets. In addition, we had supplemental retirement benefits of $3.7 $3.4 million and $3.7 million in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, respectively. Our significant obligations related to the NQDC Plan are $3.1 $3.6 million in 2024, 2025, $2.5 million in 2026,
$2.3 million in 2027, $2.2 million in 2025, $1.9 2028, $1.3 million in 2026, $1.52029 and $15.9 million in 2027, $1.5 million in 2028 and $15.0 million thereafter.

Multi-employer Pension Plans: As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, three of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Granite Construction Company, Layne Christensen Company
and Granite Industrial, Inc. contribute to various multi-employer pension plans on behalf of union employees. The risks of participating in these multi-employer plans are different
from single-employer plans in the following aspects:

« Assets contributed to the multi-employer plan by one employer may be used to provide benefits to employees of other participating employers.
« If a participating employer stops contributing to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may be borne by the remaining participating employers.

« If we chose to stop participating in some of the multi-employer plans, we may be required to pay those plans an amount based on the underfunded status of the plan,
referred to as a withdrawal liability.

The following table presents our participation in these plans (dollars in thousands):

Pension Protection
Act (“PPA”) Certified
Zone Status (1)

Pension Trust Fund

Pension Trust Fund

Expiration
Pension FIP | RP Date of Pension FIP | RP
Plan Status Collective Plan Status
Employer Pending / Bargaining Employer Pending / |
Identification Implemented Surcharge Agreement Identification Implemented Surcharge .
Pension Trust Fund  Number 2023 2022 ) 2023 2022 2021 Imposed 3) Number 2024 2023 ) 2024 2023 2022 Imposed

Pension Trust Fund 94-6090764 Green Yellow Yes $10,972 $10,434 $9,783 No 3/31/2025

for Operating 3/31/2026
Engineers 6/30/2026
9/30/2026
1/31/2027
10/31/2027
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Locals 302 and 612 91-6028571 Green No 6,976 6,520 5,204 No 3/31/2026
IUOE-Employers 5/31/2028
Construction

Industry Retirement

Plan

Operating Operating 95-6032478 Green Yellow No $ 5357 $$ 4768 $ $5266 No No 6/30/2025 Operating 95- Green No 5,759 5,357 5,357 4,768 4,768
Engineers Engineers Engineers 6032478

Pension Pension Pension

Trust Trust Trust Fund

Fund Fund

Locals 302 and 612 91-6028571 Green No 6,520 5,204 4,744 No 5/31/2024

IUOE-Employers 5/31/2025

Construction 3/31/2026

Industry Retirement

Plan

Pension Trust Fund 94-6090764 Yellow Yes 10,434 9,783 10,095 No 6/30/2024

for Operating 10/31/2024

Engineers 3/31/2025
3/31/2026
6/30/2026
9/30/2026
3/31/2027

All other

funds (48

as of

December

31, 2023)

All other

funds (44

as of

December

31, 2024)

Total contributions:
Total contributions:
Total contributions:

(1) The most recent PPA zone status available in 2023 2024 and 2022 2023 is for the plan’s year-end during 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively. The zone status is based on information that we
received from the plan and is certified by the plan’s actuary. Among other factors, plans in the red zone are generally less than 65 percent funded, plans in the orange zone are less than 80 percent
funded and have an Accumulated Funding Deficiency in the current year or projected into the next six years, plans in the yellow zone are less than 80 percent funded, and plans in the green zone
are at least 80 percent funded.

(2) The “FIP/RP Status Pending/Implemented” column indicates plans for which a financial improvement plan (“FIP") or a rehabilitation plan (“RP”) is either pending or has been implemented.

(3) Lists the expiration date(s) of the collective-bargaining agreement(s) to which the plans are subject. Pension trust funds with a range of expiration dates have various collective bargaining
agreements.

Based upon the most recently available annual reports, our contribution to each of the individually significant plans listed in the table above was less than 5% of each plan’s total

contributions. We currently have no intention of withdrawing from any of the multi-employer pension plans in which we participate that would result in a significant withdrawal liability.

In addition, we do not have any significant future obligations or funding requirements related to these plans other than the ongoing contributions that are paid as hours are worked

by plan participants.
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17. Shareholders’ Equity

Stock-based Compensation: On June 2, 2021, our stockholders approved the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”), which replaced the Amended and Restated 2012 Equity
Incentive Plan (the “2012 Plan”) and no further awards may be granted under the 2012 Plan. The 2021 Plan provides for the issuance of restricted stock, RSUs and stock options to
eligible employees and to members of our Board of Directors. A total of 2,507,814 shares of our common stock were reserved for issuance under the 2021 Plan of which 1,940,149
remained available as of December 31, 2023. During the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022, we did not grant any stock options or
restricted stock awards and as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, there were no stock options or restricted stock awards outstanding.

On June 5, 2024, our stockholders approved the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2024 Plan"), which replaced the 2021 Plan and no further awards may be granted under the 2021
Plan. The 2024 Plan provides for the issuance of restricted stock, RSUs and stock options to eligible employees and to members of our Board of Directors. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, we did not grant any stock options or restricted stock awards and as of December 31, 2024, there were no stock options or restricted stock awards outstanding.
A total of 2,249,883 shares of our common stock were reserved for issuance under the 2024 Plan of which 2,211,325 remained available as of December 31, 2024.
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Restricted Stock Units: RSUs are issued for compensatory purposes. RSU stock compensation cost is measured at our common stock’s fair value based on the market price at the
date of grant. We recognize stock compensation cost only for RSUs that we estimate will ultimately vest. We estimate the number of shares that will ultimately vest at each grant
date based on our historical experience and adjust stock compensation cost based on changes in those estimates over time.

RSU stock compensation cost is recognized ratably over the shorter of the vesting period (generally ranging from immediate vesting to three years) or the period from grant date to
the first date after the holder reaches age 62 and has completed certain specified years of service, when all RSUs become fully vested. Vesting of RSUs is not subject to any market

or performance conditions and vesting provisions are at the discretion of the Compensation Committee. A recipient of RSUs may not sell or otherwise transfer unvested RSUs and,
in the event a recipient’'s employment or board service is terminated prior to the end of the vesting period, any unvested RSUs are surrendered to us, subject to limited exceptions.

A summary of the changes in our RSUs during the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021 2022 is as follows (shares in thousands):

Years Years
Years Ended Ended Ended
December December December
31, 31, 2023 2022 2021 31, 2024 2023 2022
Weighted-
Weighted- Weighted- Average
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted- Average Average Grant-
Average Grant- Average Grant- Average Grant- Grant-Date Grant-Date Date Fair
Date Fair Value Date Fair Value Date Fair Value Fair Value per Fair Value Value per
RSUs RSUs per RSU RSUs per RSU RSUs per RSU RSUs RSU RSUs perRSU RSUs RSU
Outstanding,
beginning
balance
Granted
Vested
Forfeited

Outstanding,
ending
balance

Compensation cost related to RSUs was $10.5 million $19.6 million ($14.5 million net of statutory tax rate), $10.5 million ($7.8 million net of statutory tax rate), and $7.5 million

($5.6 million net of statutory tax rate), and $6.6 million ($4.9 million net of statutory tax rate) for the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022,
respectively. The grant date fair value of RSUs vested during the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $18.3 million, $8.9 million and 2021 was
$8.9 million, $7.6 million and $6.8 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, there was $9.4 million $10.6 million of unrecognized compensation cost
related to RSUs which will be recognized over a remaining weighted-average period of 1.3 1.4 years.

401(k) Plan: As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, the 401(k) Plan owned 952,239 634,808 shares of our common stock. Dividends on shares held by the 401(k) Plan are
charged to retained earnings and all shares held by the 401(k) Plan are treated as outstanding in computing our earnings per share.

Share Repurchase Program: As announced on February 3, 2022, on February 1, 2022, the Board of Directors authorized us to purchase up to $300.0 million of our common stock
at management's discretion (the “2022 authorization”). discretion. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we repurchased 524,800 shares for $42.0 million under this
authorization. As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, $231.5 million $189.5 million of the 2022 authorization remained available with no purchases in 2023 and purchases of
2,298,353 shares for $68.5 million in 2022. available. The specific timing and amount of any future repurchases will vary based on market conditions, securities law limitations and
other factors.
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18. Weighted Average Shares Outstanding and Net Income Per Share

The following table presents a reconciliation of net income and the weighted average shares of common stock used in calculating basic and diluted net income per share as well as
the calculation of basic and diluted net income per share.

Years Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021 Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022

Numerator

Net income attributable to common shareholders for basic earnings per share
Net income attributable to common shareholders for basic earnings per share
Net income attributable to common shareholders for basic earnings per share
Add: Interest expense, net of tax, related to Convertible Notes (2) (1)

Net income attributable to common shareholders for diluted earnings per share

Denominator

Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic
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Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic
Add: Dilutive effect of RSUs

Add: Dilutive effect of Convertible Notes (3) (1)

Weighted average common shares outstanding, diluted

Net income per share, basic

Net income per share, diluted

(1) Beginning in 2022, with The dilutive effect of the adoption of ASU 2020-06, we have applied convertible notes was determined using the if-converted method for calculating method. As the 3.75%
Convertible Notes will be convertible into cash, shares of our common stock or a combination thereof at our election, the 3.75% Convertible Notes are assumed to be converted into common stock
at the beginning of the reporting period, and the resulting shares are included in the denominator of the calculation. In addition, interest charges, net of any income tax effects are added back to the
numerator of the calculation. For the 3.25% Convertible Notes, we are required to settle the principal amount in cash and any conversion premium in excess of the principal amount in cash, shares
of common stock, or a combination of cash and shares of common stock, at our election. As such, the 3.25% Convertible Notes only have an impact on diluted earnings per share.

(2) Interest expense, net share when the average share price of tax, related to our common stock exceeds the conversion price. The 2.75% Convertible Notes will be convertible into cash, shares of our
common stock or a combination thereof at our election. The shares associated with the 2.75% Convertible Notes were not included in our calculation of $2.5 million and the potential dilution from the
2.75% Convertible Notes converting into 995,847 shares of common stock diluted net income per share for the year ended December 31, 2023 have been excluded from the calculation of diluted
earnings per share, as because their inclusion effect would have been antidilutive. anti-dilutive. The number of shares used in calculating diluted net income per share for the year ended December
31, 2022 includes the dilutive effect of the 2.75% Convertible Notes.

(3) In connection with the issuance of the 3.25% Convertible Notes and 3.75% Convertible Notes, in May 2023, we entered into Capped Calls Transactions, the 2024 capped call transactions and 2023
capped call transactions, respectively, which were not included for purposes of calculating the number of diluted shares outstanding, at December 31, 2023, as their effect would have been anti-dilutive.

19. Income Taxes

The following is a summary of income before income taxes (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021 Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022

Domestic

Foreign

Total income before income taxes
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The following is a summary of the provision for income taxes (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021 Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022

Federal:
Current
Current
Current

Deferred

Total federal
State:
Current
Current
Current

Deferred

Total state
Foreign:
Current
Current
Current

Deferred

Total foreign

Total provision for income taxes
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The following is a reconciliation of our provision for income taxes based on the Federal statutory tax rate to our effective tax rate (dollars in thousands):

Years Years
Ended Ended
Years Ended December December
December 31, 31, 2023 2022 2021 31, 2024 2023 2022
Federal Federal
Federal statutory statutory
statutory tax  tax $12,569 21.0 21.0% $19,282 21.0 21.0% $ 4,647 21.0 21.0 % tax $41,200 21.0 21.0% $12,569 21.0 21.0 % $19,282 21.0 21.0 %
Non-deductible
debt
extinguishment
costs

State taxes,
net of federal
tax benefit

Foreign taxes

Non-controlling
interests
Equity in
income of
affiliates
Change in
valuation
allowance, net
Nondeductible
debt
extinguishment
costs
Nondeductible
executive
compensation
Nondeductible
meals and
entertainment
Percentage
depletion
deduction
Non-controlling
interests
Nondeductible
expenses
Company-
owned life
insurance
Stock-based
compensation
Changes in
uncertain tax
positions
Change in
valuation
allowance, net
Nondeductible
goodwill
Assets held for
sale
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Nondeductible
goodwill
Return to
provision
adjustments
Other

Other
nontaxable /
nondeductible
items

Total

Total

$30,267 50.6 50.6 % $12,960 14.1 14.1% $

19,713 89.1 89.1%

Total $55,749 28.4 28.4 % $30,267 50.6 50.6 % $12,960 14.1 14.1%

The variance from the U.S. federal statutory tax rate in 2023 2024 is due primarily to the tax expense associated with non-deductible nondeductible debt extinguishment costs and
state and local income taxes.
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The following is a summary of the deferred tax assets and liabilities:

(in thousands) (in thousands)  December 31, 2023

Long-term deferred tax assets:

Deferred tax assets:
Receivables
Receivables
Receivables
Insurance
Deferred compensation
Convertible debt - call option amortization
Convertible debt - capped call amortization
Accrued compensation
Other accrued liabilities
Contract income recognition
Lease liabilities
Net operating loss carryforwards
Valuation allowance

Other

Total long-term deferred tax assets

Long-term deferred tax liabilities:

Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment
Property and equipment
Property and equipment

Right of use assets

Total long-term deferred tax liabilities

Net long-term deferred tax assets

Total deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)

December 31, 2022 (in thousands)  December 31,2024 December 31, 2023

The following is a summary of the net operating loss carryforwards at December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024:

(in Gross
(in thousands)

Federal net operating loss carryforwards
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State net operating loss carryforwards

Foreign tax loss carryforwards

Total net operating loss carryforwards at
December 31, 2023

Total net operating loss carryforwards

The federal, state and foreign net operating loss carryforwards above included include unrecognized tax benefits taken in prior years and the net operating loss carryforward
deferred tax asset is presented net of these unrecognized tax benefits in accordance with ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes. The federal and state net operating losses acquired during
the Layne Christensen Company acquisition in 2018 are subject to Internal Revenue Code Section 382 limitations and may be limited in future periods and a portion may expire
unused. As we expect to use the federal net operating loss carryforwards prior to expiration we believe that it is more likely than not that these deferred tax assets will be realized
and no valuation allowance was deemed necessary. We have provided a valuation allowance on the net operating loss deferred tax asset or the net deferred tax assets for certain
foreign, state and local jurisdictions because we do not believe it is more likely than not that they will be realized.

The following is a summary of the change in valuation allowance:

(in thousands) (in thousands) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022  (in thousands) December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Beginning balance

Additions (deductions), net

Ending balance

The change in the valuation allowance in 2023 2024 is mainly due to the increase reversal of valuation allowances related to the utilization of state and local net operating loss
carryforwards and a decrease in losses and other net deferred tax assets associated with our foreign operations which we do not believe are more likely than not to be used in
future years.

We intend to indefinitely reinvest certain earnings of our foreign subsidiaries and affiliates. There are generally no federal income taxes on dividends from foreign subsidiaries
therefore we would only be subject to other taxes, such as withholding
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and local taxes, upon distribution of these earnings. We have $51.6 million $54.4 million of accumulated undistributed earnings that we consider indefinitely reinvested as of
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024. It is not practicable to determine the amount of taxes that would be payable upon remittance of these earnings. Deferred foreign
withholding taxes have been provided on undistributed earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries and foreign affiliates where the earnings are not considered to be invested indefinitely.

Uncertain tax positions: We file income tax returns in the U.S. and various state and local jurisdictions. We are currently under examination by various state taxing authorities for
various tax years. We do not anticipate that any of these audits will result in a material change in our financial position. We are no longer subject to U.S. federal examinations by tax
authorities for years before 2017.2021 except for the 2018 tax year. With few exceptions, as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, we are no longer subject to state
examinations by taxing authorities for years before 2017.2018.

We file income tax returns in foreign jurisdictions where we operate. The returns are subject to examination which may be ongoing at any point in time and tax liabilities are recorded
based on estimates of additional taxes which will be due upon settlement of those examinations. The tax years subject to examination by foreign tax authorities vary by jurisdiction,
but generally we are no longer subject to examinations by taxing authorities for years before 2016.

We had approximately $22.6 million $22.4 million and $22.8 million $22.6 million of total gross unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and
2022,2023, respectively. There were approximately $5.2 million and $5.5 million of unrecognized tax benefits that would affect the effective tax rate in any future period at both
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022. 2023, respectively. It is reasonably possible that our unrecognized tax benefit could decrease by approximately $1.5 million $1.2
million in 2024, of 2025, which $1.3 million would impact our effective tax rate in 2024. 2025. The decrease relates to anticipated statute expirations and anticipated resolution of
outstanding unrecognized tax benefits.

The following is a tabular reconciliation of unrecognized tax benefits (in thousands). The balances in the reconciliation are the gross amounts before considering reductions related
to available net operating losses. The balance of unrecognized tax benefits net of available net operating losses is included in other long-term liabilities and accrued expenses and
other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets:

December 31, December 31, 2023 2022 2021 December 31, 2024 2023 2022

Beginning balance

Gross increases — current period tax positions
Gross decreases — current period tax positions
Gross increases — prior period tax positions

Gross decreases — prior period tax positions
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Settlements with taxing authorities/lapse of statute of limitations
Reclassification of balances from (to) held for sale

Reclassification of balances from held for sale

Ending balance

20. Contingencies - Legal Proceedings

Liabilities relating to legal proceedings and government inquiries, to the extent that we have concluded such liabilities are probable and the amounts of such liabilities are reasonably
estimable, are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets. It is possible that future developments in our legal proceedings and inquiries could require us to (i) adjust or reverse
existing accruals, or (i) record new accruals that we did not originally believe to be probable or that could not be reasonably estimated. Such changes could be material to our
financial condition, results of operations and/or cash flows in any particular reporting period. In addition, disclosure is required when a material loss is probable but not reasonably
estimable, a material loss is reasonably possible but not probable, or when it is reasonably possible that the amount of a loss will exceed the amount recorded.

The total liabilities for legal proceedings were immaterial as of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 and 2022. 2023. The total range of possible loss related to (i) matters
considered reasonably possible, and (ii) reasonably possible amounts in excess of accrued losses recorded for probable loss contingencies, including those related to liquidated
damages, could have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements if they become probable and the reasonably estimable amount is determined.

Ordinary Course Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, we and our affiliates are involved in various legal proceedings alleging, among other things, liability issues or breach of contract or tortious
conduct in connection with the performance of services and/or

Table ofContents

materials provided, the various outcomes of which often cannot be predicted with certainty. For information on our accounting policies regarding affirmative claims and back charges
that we are party to in the ordinary course of business, see Note 1. We and our affiliates are also subject to government inquiries in the ordinary course of business seeking
information concerning our compliance with government construction contracting requirements and various laws and regulations, the outcomes which often cannot be predicted with
certainty.

Some of the matters in which we or our joint ventures and affiliates are involved may involve compensatory, punitive, or other claims or sanctions that, if granted, could require us to
pay damages or make other expenditures in amounts that are not probable to be incurred or cannot currently be reasonably estimated. In addition, in some circumstances our
government contracts could be terminated, we could be suspended, debarred or incur other administrative penalties or sanctions, or payment of our costs could be disallowed.
While any of our pending legal proceedings may be subject to early resolution as a result of our ongoing efforts to resolve the proceedings, whether or when any legal proceeding
will be resolved is neither predictable nor guaranteed.

Salesforce Tower Matter

Our wholly-owned subsidiary, Layne Christensen Company (“Layne"), was a subcontractor on the foundation for the Salesforce Tower office building in San Francisco in 2013 and
2014. Certain anomalies were discovered in March 2014 in the foundation’s structural concrete, which were remediated by the general contractor during 2015. Layne assigned any
insurance claims it may have had under the project’s builder’s risk insurance policy to the general contractor. During 2014, the project owner and the general contractor submitted a
claim to the project’s builder’s risk insurers to cover the cost of remedial work and related damages. The claim was denied by the builder’s risk insurers. The project owner and the
general contractor subsequently filed a legal proceeding against the insurers seeking coverage under the builder’s risk insurance policy, which proceeding was then transferred by
agreement to arbitration. On July 20, 2021, we were informed of an arbitration award denying insurance coverage for claims related to the remedial measures undertaken by the
general contractor of the Salesforce Tower and related damages.

OnFebruary 3, 2022, a lawsuit titled Steadfast Insurance Company (“Steadfast”), a subrogee of Clark/Hathaway Dinwiddie, a Joint Venture (“CHDJV") v. Layne Christensen
Company (“Layne”), was filed in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of San Francisco, seeking damages of approximately $70.0 million for costs incurred by
Steadfast on behalf of CHDJV to cure Layne’s allegedly defective work on the foundation of the Salesforce Tower. On February 4, 2022, CHDJV submitted an arbitration demand
with the American Arbitration Association against Granite Construction Incorporated seeking to recover approximately $30.0 million for costs incurred by CHDJV to cure Layne’s
allegedly defective work on the foundation of the Salesforce Tower. CHDJV subsequently dismissed Granite and added Layne as a respondent to the arbitration. On May 6, 2022,
CHDJV consolidated its claims with those of Steadfast and joined as a plaintiff in the Steadfast lawsuit, and on May 16, 2022, the arbitration was stayed.

The parties attended mediation on August 4, 2023, and, on October 11, 2023, entered into a settlement agreement to resolve the matters in the Steadfast lawsuit and arbitration.
Pursuant to the terms of the settlement agreement, Steadfast and CHDJV agreed to release the Company and Layne from any and all claims, rights, causes of action, liabilities,
actions, suits, damages or demands of any kind whatsoever, that arose out of or are based upon or related to the facts alleged in the Steadfast lawsuit and arbitration. The
settlement agreement contained no admission of liability, wrongdoing or responsibility by any of the parties. The settlement amount was paid on December 8, 2023 and on
December 19, 2023 the Steadfast lawsuit and arbitration were dismissed with prejudice. We recorded a pre-tax charge of $20.0 million, net of insurance recovery, which is reflected
in other costs on the condensed consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2023.

21. Reportable Segment Information

We manage our operations under two reportable segments, Construction and Materials, which are distinguished by differences in business activities. Our reportable segments are
the same as our operating segments and correspond with how our CODM chief operating decision maker, or decision-making group (our “CODM”) regularly reviews financial
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information to allocate resources and assess performance. Our reportable segments are: Construction We identified our CODM as our Chief Executive Officer and Materials. our
Chief Operating Officer.

The Construction segment focuses on construction and rehabilitation of roads, pavement preservation, bridges, rail lines, airports, marine ports, dams, reservoirs, aqueducts,
infrastructure and site development for use by the general public and water-related construction for municipal agencies, commercial water suppliers, industrial facilities and energy
companies. It also provides construction of various complex projects including infrastructure / site development, mining, public safety, tunnel, solar, battery storage and other power-

related projects. The Materials segment focuses on production of aggregates, asphalt concrete, liquid asphalt and recycled materials production for internal use in our construction
projects and for sale to third parties.

Table ofContents

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (see Note 1). We evaluate In connection with our
adoption of ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting—Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (see Note 1), we have enhanced our segment disclosures about significant
segment expenses. Our CODM evaluates segment performance and makes business decisions based on gross profit, and do not include selling, general and administrative

expenses or operating income, which excludes non-operating income or expense. Segment assets include property and equipment, intangibles, goodwill, inventory and equity in
construction joint ventures.

Summarized segment information is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31, Construction Materials Total Years Ended December 31, Construction Materials Total
2024

Total revenue from reportable segments
Total revenue from reportable segments
Total revenue from reportable segments

Elimination of intersegment revenue

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue

Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses

Gain on sales of property and equipment, net

Operating income from reportable segments

Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Segment assets as of period end

2023

2023

2023

Total revenue from reportable segments
Total revenue from reportable segments
Total revenue from reportable segments

Elimination of intersegment revenue

Revenue from external customers

Revenue

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue
Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Gain on sales of property and equipment, net
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Operating income from reportable segments
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Segment assets as of period end

2022

2022

2022
Total revenue from reportable segments
Total revenue from reportable segments
Total revenue from reportable segments

Elimination of intersegment revenue

Revenue from external customers

Revenue

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue
Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Gain on sales of property and equipment, net

Operating income from reportable segments
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Segment assets as of period end

2021
Total revenue from reportable segments
Total revenue from reportable segments
Total revenue from reportable segments

Elimination of intersegment revenue

Revenue from external customers
Gross profit

Depreciation, depletion and amortization

As of December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021 2022 segment assets included $25.1 million $18.8 million, $4.7 million $25.1 million and $10.3 million $4.7
million, respectively, of property and equipment located in foreign countries (primarily Canada and Mexico) Canada). During the years ended December 31, 2023 December 31,

2024, 20222023 and 2021 2022 less than 5% of our revenue was derived from foreign operations.

A reconciliation of segment gross profit operating income from reportable segments to consolidated income before income taxes is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31, 2023

2022 2021
Total gross profit from reportable segments $ 396,399 $ 369,494 $ 362,645
Selling, general and administrative expenses 294,466 272,610 303,015
Other costs, net 50,217 24,120 101,351
Gain on sales of property and equipment, net (28,346) (12,617) (66,439)
Total other (income) expense, net 20,208 (6,436) 2,591
Income before income taxes $ 59,854 $ 91,817 $ 22,127
Table ofContents
Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022
Total operating income from reportable segments $ 364,455 $ 234,816 $ 193,960
Corporate selling, general and administrative expenses 115,879 104,696 83,330
Corporate (gain) loss on sales of property and equipment, net 1,277 (159) 1,129
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Other costs, net 39,936 50,217 24,120

Total operating income 207,363 80,062 85,381
Total other (income) expense, net 11,171 20,208 (6,436)
Income before income taxes $ 196,192 $ 59,854 $ 91,817

A reconciliation of segment assets to consolidated total assets is as follows:

(in thousands) (in thousands) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 (in thousands) December 31,2024 December 31, 2023

Total assets for reportable segments
Assets not allocated to segments:
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, net
Other current assets, excluding segment assets
Property and equipment, net, excluding segment assets
Short-term and long-term marketable securities
Short-term marketable securities
Investments in affiliates
Right of use assets
Deferred income taxes, net

Other noncurrent assets

Consolidated total assets

F-44 F-47
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Plan is to provide deferred compensation to a select group| executive employees and non-employee directors}
recognition of their contributions to the Company and its affiliates. This document constitutes the written instrument under which the Plan is maintained. (b) This Plan is the successor plan to]
Key Management Deferred Compensation las amended through December 31, 2004 and the Key Management Deferred Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended through December 31, 2004

collectively, the “Prior Plans’ [Effective December 31, 2004 Prior Plans are frozen and no new deferrals or Company contributions will be made}

Prior Plans before January 1, 2005 shall continue to be governed|
Any deferrals and Company contributions made under the Prior Plans after December 31, 2004 are deemed to have been made under this Plan and all such deferrals and Company contributions shall be governed|
by the terms and conditions of this Plan as it may be amended from time to time; provided, however, that deferrals and Company contributions made in 2005 through 2007 are governed by the terms and conditions of this Plan along with|
that is maintained by Granite Construction Incorporated primarily for the purpose of p ing deferred p
management or highly compensated employees within the meaning Employee Retirement Income Security Act and for]

his Plan effective January 1, 2010. 2. Definitions. (a) “Account” means as
her interest in the Plan. Each Participant's Account or Accounts will reflect (i) allocations and eamings}
fand (i) amounts payable at different times and in different forms. (b) “Beneficiary” means|

icipan]

= AlidAn
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the event of the Participant's death. (c) “Board” means the Board o

Plan under Section 7(g) to receive payment of the Participant’s Account|

“Bonus” means any cash bonus earn but not limited to, (i) the cash bonus payabl

(i) P articipant’s usual and customary annual cash incentive, if any.
ontrol” means| effective date of any one

lextent that such change in control transaction is a change in the ownership or effective control

Directors of Granite Construction |

Profit Sharing Cash Bonus|
following events but only tg

or a change in|
the regulation:

the Company as defined

romulgated under Section 409A of the Code: (i

majority of the beneficial interest in the voting stock of the surviving or acquiring corporation or corporations; or (i) the sale, exchange, or transfer of all or substantiall
r i r i) a tr: i i ri ions in which stock of the Company representing more than thirty percent (30%) of the ou

ration or partnership controlled by the Company or the stockholders of the Company; or (iii) a transaction or series of related transactions in tandin
exact date on which
1986, as amended. (g) *Committee” means the Compensation Committee
E h

C
[a particular Participant, “Compan

affiliated entity that is designated from time to time]
Secti s only to Granite Construction Incorporated. (i) “Disabili ns that an individual is (i) unable to engage in any substantial gainful activi
Imedically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous
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eriod of not less than 12 months or (ii) by reason of any medically determinable physical o mental impairment that can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than three mont
n accident and health i Al ity Incentive Pl ans the Granite Construction Incorporated Amended and Restated 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time. (K

cember 31. (m mplo ns a Participant who, on an Identification Date, is: (i) An officer o
the Code, provided that no more than fifty officers of the Company shall be determined to be Key Employees|

las set forth]
Key M:

ment and as hereafter amended n ans the calendar year. (I r P ans the Granite Construction Incorporated Key Management Deferred Compensation Plan and the Granite Construction Incorporate:
M. “Restricted Stock Units” means an award granted pursuant to a Restricted Stock Units Agreement under the Equity Incentive Plan. (t) “Retirement” means an employee-|

Participant's Separation from Service af
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enefician roperty due to casualty (including the need to rebuild a home following damage to a home not otherwise covered by insurance); or (i) Other similar extraordinary and unforeseeable circumstances arising as a result of
levents beyond the control of the Participant or Beneficiary. Hardship shall not constitute an Unforeseeable Emergency under the Plan to the extent that it is, or may}

[Such assets shall include but not be limited to stock options, Company stock, and 401(k) plan balances; or (iii) Cessation of deferrals under the Plan. An Unforeseeable Emergency under the Plan does not include (among other events): (i

Sending a child to college; or]
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5 (i) Purchasing a home. 3. Eligibility to Participate. The Committee will, from time to time, designate Company employees to be Participants. Each employee-Participant selected by the Committee must belong to a select group off
management or highly compensated employees of the Company. In addition, non-employee directors of the Company will become Participants upon notification of eligibility from the Committee. Non-employee directors are not eligible for]
In- Service Distributions described in Section 7(c) or the survivor benefit under Section 8. 4. Vesting. Each Participant will always be 100% vested in his or her Account; provided, however, that if a Participant is Separated from Service fol

“Cause” (as such term is defined in Section 2.1 d of the Equity Incentive Plan), the Particiam will forfeit all amounts other than his or her own Bonus, Performance Units and Restncled Stock Units deferrals, if any. 5. Additions to]

]
payroll schedule, each employee-Participant's Account with an amount equal to six percent} irst $100,000 a Participant defers under Section 5(a) or Section 5(c) of the Plan in the applicable Plan Year. (e) Deemed|
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an: obligation to purchase actual securities as a result of a Participant's investment allocation. A Participant’s investment allocation shall be used solel
Participant’s Account. A Participant shall specify an investment allocation for his Account, or components thereof, in accordance with procedures established by the Committee. Allocation among the investment options must be designated

in increments of 1%. The Participant's investment allocation will become effective in accordance with procedures established by the Committee. A Participant may change an investment allocation, both with respect to future credits to the

Performance Units and Restricted Stock Units.

ditional deferred common
deferred awards by dividing (1) the aggregate amount or valug]

incentive Plan) per share of Compan
deferred and
any}

split, reversd]

2]

ate}

Inumber and class of share equivalents subject to the deferred Performance Units|

[Committee pursuant to this Section 5(e)(v) shall be final, binding and conclusive|
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7 (f) Non-Employee Director Deferrals. Each Participant who is|
non- employee director may annually elect to defer| receipt of a whole percentage (up to 100%9
Board) of his or her annual retainel
or after January 1, 2010, each Participant}

such other percentage as may be determined|
i e (U] i
each such deferral form must satisfy the following rules: (a) Content and Form Requirements. The deferral election form must be signed and]
erral election is irrevocable o
i i istribution on account of an Unforeseeable Emergenc r

Participant’s Account. A Participant's def
i i i ion

r d, however, that a Participant's election shall be suspended for the remainder of any Plan Year in which the such Participant receives a distributi
be:
i

which it is made; provide
Participant must submit a new deferral election to resume participanty

he date the Participant Separates from Service. (b) Timing of Deferral Elections.
ICommittee before] [beginning] the Plan Yea hich the amount}

i}
Performance Units are no longer subject to a substantial risq
jii) of the Code and the regulations promulgated

Performance Units are substantially certain to be paid of
he date on which the employee is notified of his or her eligibility to participate}
To the extent permitted by the Committee, a Participant's deferral election pursuant to l erformance-based compensation” as defined in Section 409A(a)(4)(b’
jor before December 31,

thereunder, may]
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Inewly elected distribution date (and|
revmus\ schedu\ed distribution date, if an and the election|

Restricted Stock Unlts may make a searate distribution e\ectlon ay Ilcable onl to the deferred Restricted Stock Units. Distribution e\ectlons made wnh resect to d\SlI’IbulIOﬂS made on account of Retlrement are |rrevocable when made

accordan
installment distribution and if it is in pay status, then such in-service distribution installments shall be paid in accordance; Participant's in-service distribution election and nct in accmdance with Section 7(a) or Section 7(b)
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9 (i) A Participant who elects an in-service distribution may make a re- deferral election with respect to the in-service distribution election if the following conditions are met: (1) the re-deferral election does not take effect until twelve]
months after the date the re- deferral election is made, (2) the new in-service distribution date is at least five years after the scheduled distribution date in effect on the date the re-deferral election is made, and (3) the re- deferral election is

made not less than twelve months prior to the scheduled distribution date in effect on the date the re-deferral election is made. (d) Rules for Installment Distributions. If, at any time after installment distributi begun, the amount o

lany installment would be less than $1,000, the remainder of the Participant's Account will be distributed in a lump sum. For purposes of the Plan, installment payments shall be treated as a single distribution under Section 409A of the

rovision of Section 7 to the contran
ation from Service. The determination of which Participants are Key Employees shall be made by the Committee in its sole discretion in accordance with Section 2(m) of the Plan and Sections an
s promulgated thereunder. (h) Beneficiary Designation. Each Participant must designate a Beneficiary to receive a distribution of his or her Account if the Participant dies before it is distributed to him ol

he Plan to the contrary, that portion of the Participant's Account consisting of Performance Units or Restricted Stock Units deferrals shall be distributed in shares of the Company’s Common Stock. (j) Hardship Distributions. In the event of
an Unforeseeable Emergency, a Participant may apply to the Committee for a distribution of part or all of his or her Account prior to the date that it would otherwise be distributed under this Section 7. If the Committee;
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in the year of death. Such p de in a single lump sum within ninet

days of the employee-Partici ath. 9. Withholding. The Company will withhold from any Plan distribution all required federal, state, local and other taxes and any other payroll deductions required. Each Participant agrees as al
condition of participati from his or her salary such amounts as are necessary to satisfy all applicable taxes. 10. Administration. The Plan is administered and interpreted by the Committee. The|

Board may terminate the Plan at any time and in the Board's discretion the Accounts of Participants may be distributed within the period beginning twelve]
shall terminate
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ear in which the Plan terminates or (ii) the first calendar year in which payment of the Accounts is administratively practicable. 12. Claims and Review Procedure. (a) Informal Resolution of Questions. Any Participant or]

Beneficiary who has questions or concerns about his or her benefits under the Plan is encouraged to communicate with the Committee. If this discussion does not give the Participant or Beneficiary satisfactory results, a formal claim fol
benefits may be made within one year of the event giving rise to the claim in accordance with the procedures of this Section 11. (b) Formal Benefits Claim — Review by Committee. A Participant or Beneficiary may make a written request

for review of any matter concerning his or her benefits under this Plan. The claim must be addressed to the Committee, Key Management Deferred Compensation Plan Il, Granite Construction Incorporated, 585 West Beach Street, PO}

Box 50085, Watsonville, California 95077. The Committee shall decide the action to be taken with respect to any such request and may require additional information if necessary to process the request. The Committee shall review the
request and shall issue its decision, in writing, no later than 90 days after the date the request is received, unless the circumstances require an extension of time. If such an extension is required, written notice of the extension shall be]
urnished to the person making the request within the initial 90-day period, and the notice shall state the circumstances requiring the extension and the date by which the Committee expects to reach a decision on the reguest. In no event
Ishall the extension exceed a period of 90 days from the end of the initial period. (c) Notice of Denied Request. If the Committee denies a reguest in whole or in part, it shall provide the person making the reguest with written notice of the]
information necessary to perfect the request, an explanation of why such information is required, and an explanation of the Plan’s ap rocedures and the time limits applicable to such procedures, including a statement of the
laimant's right to bring a civil action under Section 502(a) of ERISA following an adverse benefit determination on review. (d) Appeal to Committee. (i) A person whose request has been denied in whole or in

lauthorized representative) may file an appeal of the decision in writing with the]
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12 Committee within 60 days of receipt of the notification of denial. The appeal must be addressed to: Committee, Key Management Deferred Compensation Plan I, Granite Construction Incorporated, 585 West Beach Street, PO Box|

ritten decision within a reasonable period of time but not later than lays after receipt of the appeal, unless special circumstances require an extension of time for processing, in which case the written decision sh:
|ssued as soon as 055|ble but not later than 120 days aﬁer receipt of an appeal. If such an extension is required, wmten notice shall be fulmshed to the appellant wnhm the |n|t|al 60- da eriod. This notice shall state the circumstances]

Plan shall be brought unless and until the claimant has submitted a written|

hall be given the maximum possible deference allowe: aw. (e emedies. No legal or equitable action for benefits]
iclaim for benefits in accordance with Section 11(b) above, has been notified that the claim is denied in accordance with Section 11(c) above, has filed a written request for a review of the claim in accordance with Section 11(d) above, and
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lhas been notified in writing that the Committee has affirmed the denial of the claim in accordance with Section 11(d) above; provided, however, that an action for benefits may be brought after the Committee has failed to act on the claim|

ithin the time prescribed in Section 11(b) and Section 11(d), i . 13. Source of Pay
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the Plan is subject to Title | of ERISA, but is exempt from Parts 2, 3 and 4 of such Title|

slidel5

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 114/181

©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

114 19. Execution. IN WITNESS WHERE!

Granite Construction Incorporated, by its duly authorized officers, has executed the Plan on the date(s) indicated below. GRANITE CONSTRUCTION INCORPORATED By /s/ William G. Dorey]

Its President & CEO Dated 2-18-10 By /s/ Michael Futch Its Vice President & General Counsel Dated 2/18/10|
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1 APPENDIX Deferrals and Company contributions made in Plan Years 2005 through 2007 are governed by the terms and conditions of the Plan along with the terms and conditions set forth in this Appendix. Defined terms not defined in

ve Compensation Account will be credited quarterly with hypothetical earnings
Account had been invested in shares of Company common stock for such period]
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2 3. Deferral Elections. (a) Content and Form Requirements. Effective for Plan Years 2005 through 2007, each annual Bonus deferral must be for a minimum amount of at least $1,000 and must be for a period of at least five years. Also
effecnve for Plan Years 2005 throuh 2007 a Pammam may extend (but not reduce the length of his or her deferra\ period for five-year periods, so Ion as such extenswns are made at least twelve months prior to an otherwise schedule

in Section 7(b) of the Plan, at least six months (but not more than seven months) following the date he or she Separates from Service; provided, however, that a Participant may elect, in accordance with Section 6 of the Plan, to receive ol
begin receiving his or her Account balance 13 months, 25 months, 37 months, 49 months or 61 months following the date he or she Separates from Service. (b) Delayed Distribution of Excess Cash Incentive Account. Effective fol
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3 Plan Years 2005 through 2007, notwithstanding any other provision of Section 7 of the Plan to the contrary, a Participant's Excess Cash Incentive Account must be deferred for a minimum of five years and distribution of this account
lshall be delayed until such minimum deferral period has been satisfied regardless of the Participant's distribution election. If distribution of the Excess Cash Incentive Account is delayed in accordance with this Section 4(b),

payment that otherwise would have been made during such five-year deferral period, shall be made in one lump sum payment within thirty days following the date that is at least five years following the date that the Excess Cash Incentive

jwas deferred|

slide19

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 119/181

©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

follows: “6. Deferral Elections. Except as provided in Section 6(a) below, each Participant’s deferral election shall remain in effect until revoked.” Except as amended hereb the terms of the Plan remain in full force and effect. |
WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment is executed this 4th day of January, 2011. GRANITE CONSTRUCTION INCORPORATED _/s/ James H. Roberts James H. Roberts President and Chief Executive Officer]
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RANITE CONSTRUCTION INCORPORATED KEY MANAGEMENT DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN Il (Amended and Restated Effective January 1, 2010) Amendment No. 2 Section 11(a) of the Granite Construction Incorporated
Key Management Deferred Compensation Plan I, as amended and restated effe January 1, 2010 (the “Plan”) authorizes amendments to the Plan by action of the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors.
the Company before payroll deductions.’]

2011. GRANITE CONSTRUCTION INCORPORATED /s/ James H. Roberts James H. Roberts President and Chief Executive Officel
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Iservice distribution account, as applicable.” 4. The last sentence of Section 6(b) is replaced in its entirety as follows: “Any such deferral election must be accom) ed by an election as to the time and form of payment of the Participant's]
JAccount, which may include a Primary Retirement Account, effective January 1, 2015, a Secondary Retirement Account, and any in-service distribution account, as applicable.’}
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ccount of Retirement, Disability or death. Such election shall establish the Participant’s “Primary Retirement Account”. Notwiths:andin the foregoing,

[Accounts in the form specified in the Participant's election form, which may be a lump sum payment and/or annual installments of substantial eual amounts payable over a period of years certain not to exceed ten. Any such in-service]
distribution may be scheduled for any month and year prior to the Participant's Separation from Service (as described below) and must be scheduled at least two
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ears from the ear in whlch the deferred amount is earned Any in-service dlstrlbunon will commence on the first day of the month followm the month designated b the Participant as the dlstnbutlon month. Notwnhstandm the}

ursuant to the Participant's distribution election made in accordance with Sectlon 7(b)(i); provided, however, that if an in-service dlstnbutlon is an installment distribution and if it is in pay status, then such in-service distribution|
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installments shall be paid in accordance with the Participant's in-service distribution election and not in accordance with Section 7(a) or Section 7(b)()).” Except as amended hereby, the terms of the Plan remain in full force and effect. IN]

WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment is executed this 5th day of June 2014. GRANITE CONSTRUCTION INCORPORATED /s/ James H. Roberts James H. Roberts President and Chief Executive]
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Construction Incorporats
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IGRANITE CONSTRUCTION INCORPORATED KEY MANAGEMENT DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN Il (As Amendi

nd Restated by the Board of Directors Effective January 1, 2010) Amendmel Section 11(a) of the Key]

, is less than the Code Section 402(g imit." Except as amended hereby, the terms of the Plan remain in full force and effect. IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment is executed this 22nd day of September|
2017. GRANITE CONSTRUCTION INCORPORATED __/s/ James H. Roberts James H. Roberts President and Chief Executive Officer _/s/ Richard A. Watts Richard A. Watt
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uch other p be deters db ofhs r her Bonus. Alternativ ach Participant may annually elec todfr or her Bonus above a specified dollar
he terms of the Plan remain in full force and effect. IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment is effective thls 71h day of December 2022. GRANITE CONSTRUCTION INCORPORATED /s/ Kyle Larkm
Kyle Larkin President and Chief Executive Office
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19830823.1 GRANITE CONSTRUCTION INCORPORATED KEY MANAGEMENT DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN 1l (As Amended and Restated by the Board of Dlrectors Effecuve January 1, 2010, Amendme NO 7 Section 11(a)

Execution is renumbered as Section 20. Except as amended hereby, the terms of the Plan remain in full force and effect. IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment is executed this 16th day of October 2023. GRANITE CONSTRUCTION|
INCORPORATED ___/s/ Kyle Larkin Kyle Larkin President and Chief Executive Officer]
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1 16123680.8 GRANITE CONSTRUCTION INCORPORATED EXECUTIVE RETENTION AND SEVERANCE PLAN Il 1. ESTABLISHMENT AND PURPOSE 1.1. Establishment. The Granite Construction Incorporated Executive Retentior

eligible to ammate in the Prior Plans shall discontinue participation in the Prior Plans and shall instead participant in this Plan. This P\an is effective for officers and key employees of the Company emplo ed hired, or appointed to ar
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eligible position, on or after January 1, 2020. 1.4. Amendment and Restatement. The Plan is amended and restated effective March 31, 2021. 2. DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION 2.1. Definitions. Whenever used in this Plan, thej

under the terms of the programs, plans or agreements providing for such bonuses for the three (3) fiscal years of the Company immediately preceding the fiscal year of the Change in Control (or the portion of such three fiscal years during
hich the Participant was employed by the Company). For this purpose, annual incentive bonuses shall not include signing bonuses or other nonrecurring cash incentive awards|
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iconsolidation;
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16123680.8 (ii) a result of the Participant's death or Disability, or (iii) a result of the Participant's voluntary termination of employment other than for Good Reason. 2.2. Construction. Captions and titles contained herein are fol
convenience only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of any provision of the Plan. Except when otherwise indicated by the context, the singular shall include the plural and the plural shall include the singular. Use of the term|
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[Company's Incentive Compensation Plan Summary shall receive a cash payment equal to his or her long- term incentive paid at target for the performance period in which the Participant's Termination upon a Change in Control occurs |

5.3. Indemnification; Insurance|
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entered into between the Company and such Participant (a “Prior indemnity Agreement”), from and after the date of the}

Code. The Company and the Participant shall furmsh to the Accountants such mformatlon and documents as the Accountants may reasonably request in order to make their required determinations. Thej
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laccordance with Secnon 5 or 6 1, as applicable. All such amounts that would, but for this Section 6.2(b), become payable prior to the Delayed Payment Date shall be accumulated and paid on the Delayed Payment Date.
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mpany. shall not exceed the amount of payments and benefits provide t pon such events ts and benefits provided pursuant to an agreement evidencing a Prior Indemnity Agreement), and the aggregat
mounts payable under this Plan shall [ reduced to the extent of any excess but not below zero). 8. EXCLUSIVE REMEDY The pa ments and benefits provided by Section 5 and Section 6 (plus any payments and benefits provided|

INONSOLICITATION AND NONDISPARAGEMEN
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Participant's claims were totally without merit orfnvolous then the Participant shall be responsible for the Participant's own attorneys’ fees and costs.
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enforceable by Participant’s personal or legal representatives,|
heirs, distributees, devises, legateeq other beneficiaries. If]

Participant should die while]

lamount would still be payable
s otherwise provi
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13 16123680.8 detalil the facts}

consent of any Participant, amend the Plan or any Participation Agreement|

resent or future law relating to

the Committee] its sole and absolute discretion and without the]

ted thereunder. 16. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 1
Plan are unfunded obligations. The]
0 segregate any monies from its general funds, or to create any trusts, or establish any special accounts] pbligations. The Compan

benefit contemplated by this Plan by seeking employment with a new em er or otherwise, nor shall any such payment or bel any compensation or benefits that the Partici receive from employment byj
lanother employer. Except as otherwise provided by this Plan, the obligations [ilithe Company to make payments to the Participant to make the arrangements provided for herein are absolute and unconditional and may not}

shall be considered a
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, interpretation, construction and performance of this Plan shall be governed by the substantive laws of the State of California, without regard to its conflict of law provisions. 16.6. Validity,|
idi ili 16.7. Benefits Not Assignable. Except as otherwise]
hole or in part, either directly or by operatiol

leffective. No right or interest]
ursuant to this Plan will be subject to withholding off

14 16123680.8 16.5. Choice of Law. The validit

law or otherwise, including, without limitation, by execution, levy, garnishment, attachment, pledge or in an
lapplicable income and employment taxes. 16.9. Consultation with Legal and Financial Advisors. By executing a Participation Agreement, the Participant acknowledges that this Plan confers significant legal rights, and may also involve the]
jwaiver of rights under other agreements; that the Company has encouraged the Participant to consult with the Participant's personal legal and financial advisors; and that the Participant has had adequate time to consult with the}

the Participation Agreement. 16.10. Further Assurances. From time to time, at the Company’s request and without further consideration, the Participant shall execute and deliver such additionall
requested by the Company to be necessary or desirable to make effective, in the most expeditious manner possible, the terms of the Plan, the Participant’s Participation|
to provide adeguate assurance of the Participant's due performance thereunder,

of this Plan and has read, understands and is}
undersigned Secretary of the Company certifies thaf]

Participant's advisors before executing
[documents and take all such further action as reasonabl

17. AGREEMENT By executing a Participation Agreement, the Participant acknowledges that the Participant has received a co
Participant executing a Participation Agreement. IN WITNESS WHEREOF|

Plan. This Plan shall constitute an agreement between the Compan
he foregoing Plan was duly ado the Compensation Committee on March 31, 2021. M. Craig Hall
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16123680.8 EXHIBIT A FORM OF AGREEMENT TO PARTICIPATE IN THE GRANITE CONSTRUCTION INCORPORATED EXECUTIVE RETENTION AND SEVERANCE PLAN Il
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its provisions. All references to a “Participant” in Plan shall be deemed to]
rights under other agreements with the Company: that the Company hag

lagreement. To the]

g

[Granite Construction Incorporated Executive Retention Severance Plan II. The undersigned employee further agrees and acknowledges that hel
lany provision of Section 15} [Granite Construction Incorporated Executive Retention) ranite Constructiol
Incorporated Executive Retention| erance Plan Il th d i he adopti P rad d effective date for the Plan. Tt dersigned I knowledges that t ed

rovision set forth in Section 12 of the Plan,
Imember of the Company Group| undersigned, the employment relationship between the undersigned and his or her employer is an “at-will” relationship. Executed on PARTICIPANT Signature Name Printed Addres:
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16123680.8]
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6123680.8 EXHIBIT B FORM

ENERAL RELEASE

LAIMS [Age 40 and over]
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ge nd over] This Agreement is by and between [Employee Name] (Emplo! and [Granite Con: jon Incorporated or successor that agrees to assume the Executive Retention and Sever:
Plan Il following a Change in Control] (the “Company”). This Agreement will become effective on the eighth (8th) day after it is signed by Employee (the “Effective Date”), provided that the Company has signed this Agreement an

origin, race, age, sex, sexual orientation, disability or other dlscnmmatlon or harassment under the C|V|I Rights Act of 1964, the Age Dlscnmmatlon In Employment Act of 1967 the Amerlcans wnh Disabilities Act, the Fair Emlo ment and
Housing Act or any other]
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, this release shall not apply to any right of the Employee pursuant to Section 5.3 of the Plan or pursuant to a Prior Indemnity Agreement (as such term is defined by the Plan
and this release shall not apply to any right or claim that cannot be waived as a matter of law, such as claims within the exclusive jurisdiction of the Workers' Compensation Appeals Board or claims under California Labor Code sections]

that the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release and that, if known by him or her, would have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or released]
. Employee waives any rights that Employee has or may have under Section 1542 and comparable or similar provisions of the laws of other states in the United States to the full extent that he or she may lawfully waive such rights|
pertaining to this general release of claims, and affirms that Employee is releasing all known and unknown claims that he or she has or may have against the parties listed above. 5. Employee and the Company acknowledge and agree

hat they shall continue to be bound by and comply with the terms and obligations under the following agreements: (i) any proprietary rights or confidentiality agreements between the Company or its subsidiary and Employee, (i) the Plan.

iii) any Prior Indemnif

Agreement (as such term is defined by the Plan) to which Employee is a party, and (iv) any agreement between the Company or its subsidiary and Employee evidencing an Equity Award (as such term is defined by

disputes that both (i) arise out of the Plan, the interpretation, validity or enforceability of the Plan or the alleged breach thereof and (ii) relate to the enforceability of this Agreement or the interpretation of the terms of this Agreement shall be]

subject to binding arbitration pursuant to Section 12 of the Plan. 8. The parties agree that any and all disputes that (i) do not arise out of the Plan, the interpretation, validity or enforceability of the Plan or the alleged breach thereof and (i
i i i i r in T i ibed shall be subject to binding arbitration, to the extent permitted by law, in Santa Clara,

raph. The parties agree to and hereby waive their rights to jury trial as to such matters tof

relate to the enforceability of this Agreement, the interpretation of the terms of this Agreement or any of the matters herein released or herein descri
[California or any other site mutually agreed to by the Company and Employee, before the American Arbitration Association, as provided in this para
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g g egal
ay be affected. EMPLOYEE UNDERSTANDS THAT EMPLOYEE SHOULD CONSULT WITH AN ATTORNEY PRIOR TO SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT AND THAT EMPLOYEE IS GIVING UP ANY LEGAL CLAIMS EMPLOYEE HAY
AGAINST THE PARTIES RELEASED ABOVE BY SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT. EMPLOYEE FURTHER UNDERSTANDS THAT EMPLOYEE MAY HAVE UP TO 45 DAYS TO CONSIDER THIS AGREEMENT, THAT EMPLOYEE MA
REVOKE IT AT ANY TIME DURING THE 7 DAYS AFTER EMPLOYEE SIGNS IT, AND THAT IT SHALL NOT BECOME EFFECTIVE UNTIL THAT 7-DAY PERIOD HAS PASSED. EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT EMPLOYEE IS]
SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT KNOWINGLY, WILLINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY IN EXCHANGE FOR THE COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS DESCRIBED IN PARAGRAPH 1. Dated: [Employee Name] [Company] Dated: By:

= . |
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16123680.8 EXHIBIT C FORM OF GENERAL RELEASE OF CLAIMS [Under age 40’
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16123680.8 GENERAL RELEASE OF CLAIMS [Under age 40] This Agreement is by and between [Employee Name] (“Employee”) and [Granite Construction Incorporated or successor that agrees to assume the Executive Retention and|

ment is being terminated a:
oyee’s last day of work and termination are effective as of o the “Termination Date”). Employee desires to receive the payments and benefits provide: &
he parties agree as follows: 1. Commencing on the Effective Date, the Company shall provide Employee with the applicable payments and benefits set forth in the Plan in accordance
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e Company acknowledge and agree that they shall continue to be boun and comply wi obligations under the following agreements: (i) any proprietary rights or confidentiality agreements between the Compan
its subsidiary and Employee, (i) the Plam iii) any Prior Indemnity Agreement (as such 1erm is defined by the Plan to which Employee is a party, and (iv) any agreement between the Com any or its sub$|d|ar and Emlo ee evidencing}

nding h e extent permitte law, in Santa Clara, California or any other site mutually agreed to by the Company and Employee, before the American iation, as pro aragraj e parties]
agree to and hereby waive their rights to jury trial as to such matters to the extent permitted by law; provided however, that (a) the arbitrator shall have no authority to make any ruling or judgment that would confer any ri hts with respect

0 trade secrets
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[Company and Employee. If any provision of this Agreement is deemed invalid, illegal or unenforceable, such provision shall be modified so as to make it valid, legal and enforceable, and the validity, leg
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Insider Trading Granite Management System (GMS) The printed version of this document is uncontrolled. The current version is stored in electronic format. Policy #: L-P-002 Effective] 04/05/23 Approved: Compliance

lconsultants of the Corr entities ts, limited partnerships al orations’ hich su uals have voting or investment control. This Policy also applies to any other person: wo\t Compan
[Securities Tradin Com ||ance Offlcer “Compliance Officer”) may designate because the have access to materlal non| ubllc mformatlon concerning the Company, as well as any person who receives materlal nonpublic mformatlon from|

Company securities), are subject to the prohibitions and restrictions of this Policy]
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laddition and departure of Inside Employees. Margin Accounts Brokerage or similar accounts in which securities may be sold by the broker, or originator of the account, without the customer's consent if the customer fails to meet a margin|
call. A margin call occurs when an account needs to be brought up to a minimum maintenance value. Market-Maker A firm that stands ready to buy and sell a particular stock on a regular and continuous basis at a publicl
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Insider Trading Granite Management System (GMS) The printed version of this document is uncontrolled. The current version is stored in electronic format. Policy #: L-P-002 Effective Date: 04/05/23 Approved: Compliance]
IMgr.-Counsel; General Counsel; Exec. Team; Board Page 3 of 9 Version No.: 4 Material Nonpublic Information Information about the Company that would be expected to affect the investment decisions of a reasonable shareholder ol
investor, or if the disclosure of the information would be expected to significantly alter the total mix of the information in the marketplace about the Company. In simple terms, material information includes any information which could|

provisions and trading restrictions of Section 16 of the Exchange Act and the underlying rules and regulations thereunder promulgated by the SEC. Sectlon 16 employees are listed by name in Description Document L-DD-001. Securities]

land Exchange Commission or SEC The federal agency responsible for overseeing the United States’ securities markets,
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1fonmat|on that would make trades b erson or persons inappropriate in light of the risk tha
IAdvising Insider Employees and Section 16 Insiders when the Trading Window opens and closes]
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Mgr.- Counsel General Counsel; Exec. Team; Board Page 5 of 9 Version No.: 4 « Rewewm at Ieast annually,

Possession of Material Nonpublic Information 1.1. No Director, Officer, employee or consultant of the Compan WhO IS aware Df materlal nonpublic information relatlnc to the Com any may, directly or through family members or othe

or other derivative securities): 4.1.3. Hedging Transactions; 4.1.4. Margin Accounts and Pledges}
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ecution of the trade |
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information for the broker who executed the transaction. 5.5.4. Company Facilitation of the Reporting of Transaction Details 5.5.4.1. All transaction details must be reported to the Compliance Officer. 5.5.4.2. The Compliance Officer will
prepare and file the Section 16 Insider's Form 3, 4 or 5 as applicable on behalf of the Section 16 Insider. 5.5.4.2.1. However, in order for the Compliance Officer to do the above, the Section 16 Insider must sign, date and return to the]

Section 16 Insiders mclude the following regardless of how she or he obtained them: 5.6.1.1. Section 16 Insiders may sell Company securities into the public markets only through a broker or a market-maker. 5.6.1.1.1. Section 16 In5|ders
lare required to file, concurrently with the placement of a sell order with the broker or executing a trade with a market-maker,
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Exhibit 21
List of Subsidiaries of Granite Construction Incorporated

Subsidiary State of Incorporation Name Under Which Subsidiary Does Business

Granite Construction Company California Granite Construction Company
California Granite Company
California Granite Construction Company
Concrete Products Company
Granite
Granite Construction Company, Inc.
Granite Construction Company (of California)
Granite Construction Company of California
Granite Construction Company of California (Granite Construction Company)
Granite Construction Company of Connecticut
Granite Construction Company of Nebraska
Granite Construction Supply
Kenny Construction

Kenny Construction Company

Granite Southeast Company California Granite Southeast Company
Layne Christensen Company Delaware Layne Christensen Company
Layne

Layne, A Granite Company

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-279998, 333-256719, 333-181642, and 333-170488) of Granite
Construction Incorporated of our report dated February 22, 2024 February 13, 2025 relating to the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.
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/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Houston, Texas
February 22, 2024 13, 2025

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

1, Kyle T. Larkin, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Granite Construction Incorporated,;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Dated: February 22, 2024 13, 2025 /sl Kyle T. Larkin
Kyle T. Larkin
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
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1, Elizabeth L. Curtis, Staci M. Woolsey, certify that:

1.

2.

Dated:

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Granite Construction Incorporated,;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.
February 22, 2024 13, 2025 /sl Elizabeth L. Curtis Staci M. Woolsey

Elizabeth L. Curtis Staci M. Woolsey

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, each of the undersigned officers of Granite Construction Incorporated
(the “Company”) does hereby certify that, to such officers’ knowledge:

0]

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 of the Company fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d)

of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and (ii) the information contained in the Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company as of and for the periods expressed in the Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Dated: February 22, 2024 13, 2025

Dated: February 22, 2024 13, 2025

Is/ Kyle T. Larkin

Kyle T. Larkin

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Is/ Elizabeth L. Curtis Staci M. Woolsey

Elizabeth L. Curtis Staci M. Woolsey

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signatures that appears in typed
form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to Granite Construction Incorporated and will be retained by Granite
Construction Incorporated and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Exhibit 95

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

We operate surface mines in the western United States to produce construction aggregates. The operation of our mines is subject to regulation by the Federal Mine Safety and
Health Administration (“MSHA”) under the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977 (the “Mine Act”).

The chart below contains information regarding certain reportable and non-reportable mining safety and health citations or orders that MSHA issued during the year ended

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 associated with our mining operations:

Name of  Name of MSHA Number of

Section Section Citations Section Section

Received Received

Notice of Notice of

Pattern Potential Pending
Total of to have Legal

Total Dollar Number Violation Pattern Actions Instituted Resolved
Value of of Under under asof Legal Legal

MSHA Mining- Section Section Last Actions Actions

Proposed related 104(e) 104(e) Dayof During During Nameof MSHA N

Mine Mine ID Inspections Citations Orders Orders Violations Orders Assessments Fatalities (yes/no) (yes/no) Period Period Period Mine ID In
Alaska Alaska Alaska
Portable Portable 50- Portable 50-
#1(3) #1(3) 01459 1 — No 1 —  #1(3) 01459
Alaska
Alaska Portable 50- Alaska 50-
Portable #2 #2 01534 1 No — Portable #2 01534
Alaska
Alaska Portable 50- Alaska 50-
Portable #3 #3 01534 1 No — Portable #3 01534
04- 04-
Arvin Pit Arvin Pit 04360 No — Arvin Pit 04360
B2413 - 20 B2413 - B2413 - 20
Mile(1) 20 Mile(1) B2413 No — Mile(1) B2413
Bee Rock Bee Rock 04- Bee Rock 04-
Quarry Quarry 04704 2 552 = No = Quarry 04704
04- 04-
Big Rock  Big Rock 05946 3 562 — No — Big Rock 05946
04- 04-
Bishop Bishop 01869 No = Bishop 01869
04- 04-
Bradshaw Bradshaw 03107 6 266 — No — Bradshaw 03107
Brookhaven Brookhaven
Gravel Gravel 22-
Pit(2) Pit(2) 00700
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26-
Brunswick Brunswick 02007

22-
Bulldog Bulldog 00813
Capay Capay
Plant Plant 04-
Facility Facility 05338
Circle T Circle T 45-
Ranch Pit Ranch Pit 01882
Coalinga Coalinga 04-
Pit Pit 01879

50-

01282

Conrock

22-
Desoto Desoto 00068
D&B Sand D&B Sand
and Gravel and Gravel 22-
Pit(2) Pit(2) 00467

Name of MSH
Mine ID
Felton 04-
Quarry 001(
Freeman 04-
Quarry 054«
04-
Gardner Pit Gardner Pit  016¢
Handley
Ranch 04-
Quarry 056:
04
Highway 175 Highway 175 053¢
04-
Indio Indio 018t
02:
Kerley Pit Kerley Pit 033}
04-
Lee Vining Lee Vining 052!
04
Littlerock Littlerock 049:
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Lockwood
Quarry

22
Love Love 003¢
50-
Lucas Pit 018:
45

Mission

Promontory 025¢
40-

North Plant North Plant 016

N50 Alaska - N50 Alaska -

Fort Knox(1) Fort Knox(1) N5(

N50 Nevada N50 Nevada
- Couer
Rochester(1)
N50 Utah -
KuccC
BMP(1)
N50 Utah -
East Waste East Waste
Rock
Project(1)
N50 Utah -
KucCC
N50(1)

N50
Washington
Granite
Falls(1)

N5(

N5(

N5(

22.
Perry Perry 007¢
PU3
Freeport
McMoRan -
Bagdad(1) PU:
PU3 -
Asarco(1) PU:
PU3 -
Chino(1) PU:
PU3 - Layne
Capstone(1) PU:
PU3 - Layne

Chandler(1)
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Received Received
Notice of Notice of
Pattern Potential Pending

Total of tohave Legal
Section Total Dollar Number Violation Pattern Actions Instituted Resolved
104(d) Value of of Under under asof Legal Legal

Section Section Citations Section Section MSHA Mining- Section Section Last Actions Actions
Name of Name of MSHA Numberof 104 104(b) and 110(b) 107(a) Proposed related 104(e) 104(e) Dayof During During Name of MSHA |

Mine Mine ID Inspections Citations Orders Orders Violations Orders Assessments Fatalities (yes/no) (yes/no) Period Period Period Mine ID |
PU3 - PU3 -
Layne Layne
Cortez(1) Cortez(1) PU3
PU3 - PU3 - PU3 -
Layne - Layne - Layne -
FMI (1) FMI (1) PU3 2 — No — FMI (1) PU3
PU3 - PU3 - PU3 -
Layne - Layne - Layne -
Silver Silver Silver
Bell(1) Bell(1) PU3 1 = No = Bell(1) PU3
PU3 - PU3 - PU3 -
Layne - Layne - Layne -
Morenci(1) Morenci(l) PU3 1 — No — Morenci(1) PU3
PU3 - PU3 - PU3 -
Safford(l) Safford(l) PU3 5 — No — Safford(l) PU3
PU3 - PU3 - PU3 -
Tintric(1)  Tintric(1) PU3 — No — Tintric(1) PU3
PU3 - PU3 - PU3 -
Trixie(1) Trixie(1) PU3 — No — Trixie(1) PU3
PU3 - PU3 - PU3 -
Tyrone(1l) Tyrone(1) PU3 — No — Tyrone(1) PU3
PU3 - PU3 - PU3 -
Lonestar(1) Lonestar(1) PU3 4 — No — Lonestar(1) PU3
04- 04-
Solari Solari 05947 2 — No — Solari 05947
02-
Swan Pit 02647 4 2 — 858 — No —
02-
Swan Pit(4) Swan Pit(4) 02647
Tangerine Tangerine 02- Tangerine 02-
Road Pit Road Pit 00649 4 — No — Road Pit 00649
22-
Tiger(2) 00828 — No —
22-
Tiger Tiger 00828
Utah Utah 42- Utah 42-
Portable #4 Portable #4 01761 — No — Portable #4 01761
04- 04-
Vernalis Vernalis 05783 133 No Vernalis 05783
Wade Sand Wade Sand  26- Wade Sand  26-
Pit Pit 02404 No Pit 02404
Washington Washington 45- Washington ~ 45-
Portable #1 Portable #1 03717 No Portable #1 03717
Washington Washington ~ 45- Washington ~ 45-
Portable #2 Portable #2 03724 No Portable #2 03724
42- 42-
Walker Pit Walker Pit 01014 533 No Walker Pit 01014
42- 42-
Wells Pit ~ Wells Pit 02250 266 No Wells Pit 02250
Whatcom Whatcom Whatcom
Portable  Portable 45- Portable 45-
Mill Mill 00975 — No — Mill 00975
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50- 50-
Wolfe Pit Wolfe Pit 01816 — No — Wolfe Pit 01816

Total Total 71 7 — 1 $5,591 — 1 — Total

(1) Denotes where we are working as an "independent contractor" at another operator's mine.

(2) Denotes mines acquired on November 30, 2023 August 9, 2024 in connection with the acquisition of Memphis Stone and Gravel. Dickerson & Bowen, Inc. For these mines, the
chart includes information for the period between the acquisition date and December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024.

(3) The instituted resolved legal action for our Alaska Portable #1 plant was related to a contest of citations and orders referenced in Subpart B of 29 CFR Part 2700.

(4) The instituted and resolved legal action for our Swan Pit plant was related to a contest of citations and orders referenced in Subpart B of 29 CFR Part 2700.
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DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES DELTA REPORT™ IS A COMPARISON OF TWO
FINANCIALS PERIODIC REPORTS. THERE MAY BE MATERIAL ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR INACCURACIES IN THE REPORT INCLUDING
THE TEXT AND THE COMPARISON DATA AND TABLES. IN NO WAY DOES REFINITIV OR THE APPLICABLE COMPANY ASSUME ANY
RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS MADE BASED UPON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS
REPORT. USERS ARE ADVISED TO REVIEW THE APPLICABLE COMPANY'S ACTUAL SEC FILINGS BEFORE MAKING ANY INVESTMENT
OR OTHER DECISIONS.

©2025, Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Patents Pending.
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